UNIVERSITÉ DU QUÉBEC À TROIS-RIVIÈRES

ÉTUDE DE L'IMPACT DE DIFFÉRENTES CARACTÉRISTIQUES DE LA LUMIÈRE SUR *PHAEODACTYLUM TRICORNUTUM*

INVESTIGATING DIFFERENT LIGHT CHARACTERISTICS IMPACT ON *PHAEODACTYLUM TRICORNUTUM*

THÉSE PRÉSENTÉE COMME EXIGENCE PARTIELLE DU DOCTORAT EN BIOLOGIE CELLULAIRE ET MOLÉCULAIRE

PAR NIKUNJ SHARMA

AOÛT 2023

Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières

Service de la bibliothèque

<u>Avertissement</u>

L'auteur de ce mémoire, de cette thèse ou de cet essai a autorisé l'Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières à diffuser, à des fins non lucratives, une copie de son mémoire, de sa thèse ou de son essai.

Cette diffusion n'entraîne pas une renonciation de la part de l'auteur à ses droits de propriété intellectuelle, incluant le droit d'auteur, sur ce mémoire, cette thèse ou cet essai. Notamment, la reproduction ou la publication de la totalité ou d'une partie importante de ce mémoire, de cette thèse et de son essai requiert son autorisation.

UNIVERSITÉ DU QUÉBEC À TROIS-RIVIÈRES

DOCTORAT EN BIOLOGIE CELLULAIRE ET MOLÉCULAIRE (PH. D.)

Direction de recherche :

Directrice de recherche Isabel Desgagné-Penix Hugo Germain Codirecteur de recherche Jury d'évaluation de la thèse : Isabel Desgagné-Penix Directrice de recherche Hugo Germain Codirecteur de recherche Simon Barnabé Président de jury Guy Samson Évaluateur interne Évaluatrice externe Marina Cvetkovska

Thèse soutenue le 11 juillet 2023

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisors for their consistent guidance and encouragement throughout the journey of completing my Ph.D. thesis. Isabel, you are an incredible teacher and leader. You provided me an incredible platform to express myself as a student which was a phenomenal experience. Thank you for giving me this platform where I could experiment, play, and improve myself as scientist, communicator, writer, and researcher. Thank you for inviting me to be a part of your lab and for your support. Hugo, thank you for the supervision, the insightful conversations and giving me opportunity to part of the expedition in Himalayas which was the utmost important experience of my life. I would like to express my gratitude to Isabel and Hugo to allow me to be part of your organisation and incredible team where I have learned and grew a lot in many ways. Your invaluable guidance and contributions have made this achievement possible and I cannot thank you enough.

I would also like to acknowledge your expertise and knowledge in the field which has been instrumental in shaping my research process. The rigorous training and insightful conversations and presentations have pushed me further to challenge myself and strive for excellence in my work.

I would like to acknowledge the contribution of my collegues and friends who have supported me thoughout the course of my research. Their encouragement and advices have been instrumental in helping me navigate the challenges. Thanks again to all my friends and collegues Fatima, Elisa, Sarah, Ariane, Arghavan, Manel, Daris, Bharat, Andrew, Arun, Nicolas, Remy, Gabriel, Sameera, Serge, Anis, Manoj, Oscar, Basanta, Theo, Claire, Snehi, Valeria.

Thank you Fatma and Natacha for guiding me through troubleshooting my experiment, correcting my research articles and for being a calm listener to all those weird ideas. Natacha thank you very much for introducing me to Tae kwon do classes which was an important part of my Ph.D. journey. Thank you very much Melodie for mentoring

in the laboratory and guiding me for my experiments. A big thank you to Dr. Leila for receiving me in your lab, so 1 could expand my knowledge base in bioinformatics.

A huge thanks to my family, my mother, father and sister and cousins for talking and joking around and sharing the important moments of life specially during all the PhD and specially COVID time.

Once again, thank you for everything you have done for me. I am deeply grateful for your support and mentorship and I will always cherish the lessons and experience that I have gained at UQTR, Trois Rivieres.

PREFACE

This Ph.D. has taught me many things but some of the important things that I have adopted in my life are:

- 1 Research is all about Isolation-Integration- Improvisation which one should use in their Ph.D. project but also for oneself.
- 2 Playfulness is an important element for research which one include in daily life can replace a lot of procrastination.

The thesis content and analysis resulting in this document are primarily the product of the intellectual efforts of Nikunj Sharma. But multiple co-authors participated in contributing towards the final publications for the following chapters and their contribution are explained in detail.

RÉSUMÉ

La disponibilité de la lumière et son impact sur la diatomée Phaeodactylum tricornutum est un facteur limitant et un thème essentiel à explorer. Un accès limité à la lumière et une dynamique de culture inefficace rendent les applications à base de diatomées et de microalgues infructueuses sur le plan commercial. Les différentes caractéristiques physiques de la lumière ont un impact régulateur sur les voies moléculaires; la perception de la lumière par P. tricornutum modifie la croissance globale et l'accumulation de biomolécules importantes pour l'industrie telles que les lipides, les acides gras, les pigments, etc. Une compréhension approfondie de ces processus moléculaires nécessite de comprendre comment la lumière modifie la machinerie cellulaire des diatomées et affecte la croissance et l'accumulation de différentes molécules de P. tricornutum. Par conséquent, l'objectif de cette thèse était d'analyser les caractéristiques fondamentales de la lumière (intensité lumineuse, qualité spectrale ou système lumineux biphasé/changement de la lumière) sur le type sauvage de la diatomée. Pour cela, nous avons effectué plusieurs réglages de lumière et paramètres de culture pour optimiser les conditions d'éclairage précises. L'objectif principal était de tester la qualité spectrale (jaune, rouge et blanc) de la lumière sur la croissance la quantité et le profil des lipides totaux chez le type sauvage dans des conditions autotrophes et mixotrophes. Deux sources de carbone différentes (glucose et glycine) ont été testées et il s'avère que les conditions mixotrophes sont meilleures pour la croissance et l'accumulation de lipides dans toutes les conditions d'éclairage par rapport aux conditions autotrophes. Les conditions de croissance en lumière rouge et dans deux conditions autotrophes et mixotrophes ont montré une plus importante accumulation de lipides par rapport aux deux lumières testées à savoir jaune et blanche. Ensuite une analyse de l'impact de la lumière rouge sur différentes phases de croissance telles que la phase d'acclimatation, la phase exponentielle, et la phase stationnaire a été effectuée. Les résultats ont montré que la substitution de la lumière rouge (RL) par la lumière blanche (WL) dans des conditions autotrophes, une condition de changement vers le rouge (RS), augmentait la biomasse et la teneur en lipides par rapport aux niveaux trouvés sous une exposition continue WL ou RL seule. Les résultats ont montré également une augmentation de la biomasse de l'ordre de 2 fois et de la teneur en lipides de 2,3 fois dans la condition RS par rapport à WL. Aucune différence significative n'a été observée concernant la taille ou la morphologie des gouttelettes lipidiques, mais une modification de la composition en acides gras (AG) a été observée. Plus précisément, les AG polyinsaturés ont augmenté, tandis que les AG monoinsaturés ont diminué chez *P. tricornutum* cultivé en RS par rapport à WL.

De plus, il était important de caractériser la composition spectrale précise et l'impact de l'intensité lumineuse sur la croissance de l'algue et la production des lipides. Pour cela, deux compositions différentes de spectres de lumière rouge ont été testées, à savoir rouge 1 (R1) 34 % > 600 nm > 66 % et rouge 2 (R2) 8 % > 600 nm > 92 % et deux intensités lumineuses; 65 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹, correspondant à une faible luminosité (LL) et 145 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹, correspondant à une lumière moyenne (ML). Les résultats ont indiqué que *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* utilisait la qualité spectrale R1 plus efficacement que

celle R2 pour la production de la biomasse et les lipides totaux. Ainsi les résultats ont montré que ML améliorait la croissance et l'accumulation de lipides par rapport à LL, lorsque la densité de flux de photons a augmenté dans R1 de 65 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ à 145 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹, l'accumulation de lipides a augmenté de 2,8 fois. Après optimisation des caractéristiques lumineuses à la qualité R1 et intensité lumineuse 145 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹, les conditions d'éclairage continue en lumière rouge et le changement de la lumière rouge à 145 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ à une lumière blanche ont été appliqués comme preuve de concept de l'utilisation de conditions d'éclairage variables et étudier l'effet sur la croissance et l'accumulation des lipides dans l'algue *P. tricornutum* hébergeant, le vecteur vide pPtGE30 (Ptev), et le transformant pPtGE30 contenant YFP la protéine fluorescente jaune (PtYFP). Nous avons remarqué que les algues (Ptev) dans les conditions de croissance RS avaient une augmentation significative de la croissance et de l'acide eicosapentaénoïque (EPA) par rapport aux autres cultures.

L'étude fournit une approche globale de l'utilisation de différentes caractéristiques lumineuses pour optimiser la croissance et la production de lipides. En comprenant comment ces facteurs affectent la croissance des diatomées, le métabolisme des lipides et des acides gras, des conditions de culture expérimentales pourraient être établies pour une culture à grande échelle pour obtenir un profil élevé de la biomasse, des lipides et des acides gras spécifiques pour les applications industrielles. En outre, cela démontre également l'importance des protéines fluorescentes qui peut être utilisé pour manipuler la croissance et le profil des acides gras chez *P. tricornutum*.

Mots-clés : Phaeodactylum tricornutum, lumière, acides gras, lipides, diatomées

ABSTRACT

Light availability and its impact on *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* is a limiting factor which makes it an essential theme to be explored. Ineffective light conditions and culture dynamics make diatoms and microalgae-based application commercially unsuccessful. Different light settings have a regulatory impact on molecular pathways, light sensing of P. tricornutum which changes the overall growth and accumulation of important biomolecules such as lipids, fatty acids etc. for industrial benefit. An understanding of these molecular processes requires understanding of how light changes the *P. tricornutum* growth and accumulation of different molecules by affecting the cellular machinery. Therefore, the objective of this study was to analyse the light settings (light intensity, spectral quality, or two-phase light system/light shift) on model organism *P.tricornutum*. For this we performed multiple culture and light settings to optimize the light conditions. The objective of the primary set of experiments was to test spectral quality (Yellow, Red, and White) on growth and total lipid on wild type in both autotrophic and mixotrophic conditions. We tested two different carbon sources (glucose and glycine) and found out mixotrophic conditions are slightly better for growth and lipid accumulation in all light conditions as compared to autotrophic conditions. The most suitable wavelength was red in both autotrophic and mixotrophic conditions as compared to yellow and white. We further analysed the impact of red light (RL) on different growth phases such as log, lag and stationary. Thus, results showed that substituting red (RL) for white light (WL) in autotrophic conditions, a condition called red to white shift (RS), increased biomass and lipid content compared to levels found under continuous WL or RL exposure alone. Results showed an increase by 2-fold biomass and 2.3-fold lipid content in RS as compared to WL. There was no concrete evidence obtained related to lipid droplet size or morphology, but the fatty acid (FA) composition was altered. Specifically, polyunsaturated FAs were increased, whereas monounsaturated FAs decreased in P. tricornutum grown in RS compared to WL.

Furthermore, we continued our investigation to find the appropriate spectral composition, and light intensity impact on growth and lipid on *P. tricornutum* harboring pPtGE30 empty vector (*Ptev*). For that we used two different composition of red light spectra i.e., Red 1 (R1) 34% > 600 nm > 66% and Red 2 (R2) 8% > 600 > 92% and two light intensity; 65 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ Low light (LL) and 145 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ Medium light (ML). Results indicated that *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* grown in Red 1 (R1) which was more enriched in spectra over 600 nm showed higher growth and biomass as compared to Red 2 (R2). ML was improving growth and lipid accumulation as compared to LL. Furthermore, as the photon flux density was increased in R1 from 65 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ to 145 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹, the lipid accumulation increased by 2.8-fold times. From the studied light conditions, light settings with spectral quality R1 and light intensity 145 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹. was used further on microalgae *P. tricornutum* harboring pPtGE30 empty vector (*Ptev*) and yellow fluorescent protein YFP transformant (*Pt*YFP) to modify growth and lipid. We noticed that

microalgae (*Ptev*) in Rs culture condition had a significant increase in growth and fatty acid eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) as compared to other cultures.

The study provides an approach of using different light settings to optimize growth and lipid production. By understanding how these factors affects the diatoms growth, lipid and fatty acids, experimental culture conditions could be established for large scale cultivation for high biomass, lipid and specific fatty acid profile for industrial applications Furthermore, there is a small possibility that the use of episomal vectors and fluorescent proteins might interfere with the growth rate and fatty acid profile of *P.tricornutum*.

Keywords: Phaeodactylum tricornutum, light, fatty acids, lipids, diatoms

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKN	OWLEDGEMENTS (iii-iv)			
PREFA	ACE(v)			
RESU	ME(vi-vii)			
ABSTI	RACT(viii)			
LIST OF TABLES(xiii-xv)				
CHAPTER I				
1.1	What are diatoms?16-17			
1.2	Exploitation of natural products from diatoms18			
1.3	Lipids and fatty acids18-19			
1.4	Fatty acid synthesis in diatoms20-23			
1.5	Lightning systems			
1.6	Impact of light on diatoms25-27			
1.7	Impact of spectral quality on diatoms			
1.8	Impact of light intensity on diatoms			
1.9	Project Aim and Research objectives			
1.10	References			
Chapte	r II			
Red lig	ght variations an effective alternative to regulate biomass and lipid profiles in			

Phaeodactylum tricornutum. (Published Article)

2.1 Author contributions	
Full article in English	
2.2 Abstract	40
2.3 Introduction	41-42
2.4 Materials and methods	43-47
2.4.1 Microalgae strain and culture conditions	43
2.4.2 Experimental set up	43-45
2.4.3 Cell growth and biomass analysis	45
2.4.4 Visualization of lipid bodies	46
2.4.5 Quantification of total lipids	46
2.4.6 Nile Red screening	46

	2.4.7 Fatty acid profiling	47		
	2.4.8 Statistical Analysis	47		
3. Rest	Ilts and discussion	48		
	3.1 Effect of light colors on biomass and lipid yield in mixotroph	nic and	l autot	rophic
	conditions	48-	-50	
	3.2 Growth curve analysis of <i>P.tricornutum</i> during	red	to	white
	shift	51	-53	
	3.3 Analysis of total biomass and lipid content under re-	ed to	white	shift
	treatment	55	-57	
	3.4 Visual analysis of P.tricornutum cell morpho	logy	and	lipid
	droplets	57-	-62	
	3.5 Fatty acid Methyl esters analysis (FAME)	57	-62	
	4. Conclusions	62	-63	
	5. References.	64	-70	

Chapter III

Impact of different light characteristics on the growth and lipid content of diatoms *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* Transconjugant strains. (Published Article)

3.1 Author contributions	72
Full article in English	
3.2 Abstract	73-74
3.3 Introductions	
3.4 Methodology	77-83
3.4.1 Growth and culture conditions	77
3.4.2 Transconjugant strain generation and selection	
3.4.3 Flow cytometry and fluorescence activated cell sorting	g
3.4.4 Light settings	79-80
3.5 Lipid Analysis	
3.6 Neutral lipid detection by flow cytometery	82
3.7 GC-MS analysis of fatty acids	82-83
3.8 Statistics	

4. Results

4.1 Effect of light characteristics on cell growth and lipid accumulation of			
P.tricornutum transconjugant cells			
4.2 Effect of red and red to white shift on cell growth, lipid analysis in different			
P.tricornutum transconjugants			
4.3 Fatty acid composition of Ptev and PtYFP in Red light and Red to white			
shift91-93			
5. Discussion93-96			
6. Conclusions			
7. References			
Chapter IV			
Conclusions103-108			
References108-109			
Appendix A			
Supplementary Data for Chapter II110-112			
Appendix B			
Published Review : Diatoms Biotechnology : Various industrial applications for a greener			
tomorrow115-160			

List of Figures

Chapter 1

Figure 1: Figure 1- Schematic representation of fatty acid synthesis, very long chain fatty acid synthesis and Triacylglycerol formation

Chapter 2

Figure 1. Analysis of *P. tricornutum* biomass (A) and lipid yield (B) in mixotrophic and autotrophic conditions under different colors of light.

Figure 2. Growth curve of *P. tricornutum* in continuous white light (W), red light (R), and in red to white shift (RS) (i.e., red light during the exponential phase and then white light during the stationary phase).

Figure 3. Analysis of *P. tricornutum* biomass (A) and lipid accumulation (B) in autotrophic conditions under continuous white (W) light, red (R) light, and red with light shift (RS), which is red light during the exponential phase and then a shift to white light.

Figure 4. Microscopic fluorescent images (top) and transmitted with fluorescent overlay (bottom). Visualization of lipid droplets in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* using Nile red staining. Each panel represents Nile red staining of lipid droplets in white light conditions (**a**,**c**) and in red light (**b**,**d**). Scale represents 100 nm.

Chapter 3

Fig 1. Analysis of *P. tricornutum* biomass (a) and spectral transmittance used (b) under different colors of light. Abbreviations for the conditions are C: white, B: blue, Bs: blue shift, Y: yellow, Ys: yellow shift, R: red R2, Rs: red R2 shift, r: red R1, and rs: red R1 shift

Fig. 2. Effect of different light characteristics on *P. tricornutum* cells growth and lipid accumulation. The effect on (a) biomass - dry weight (mg/L) and on (b) lipids accumulation as measured by the Bligh and Dyer method was determined.

Fig. 3. Analysis of the growth of *P. tricornutum* transconjugant cells containing an empty episomal vector (*Ptev*) following (a) the effect of two different spectra quality where R1 (34% > 600 nm > 66%) and R2 (8% > 600 nm > 92%) and (b) the exposure to two different light intensities of 65 and 145 µmol.m⁻².s⁻¹

Fig.4. Analysis of lipid content for *Pt*ev under two red light intensity 65 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ and 145 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ on day 5 and day 8

Fig.5. FACS analysis of *P. tricornutum* transconjugant cells containing an empty episomal vector (Ptev) and an episomal vector expressing the reporter gene YFP (PtYFP) and cell sorting.

Fig.6. Effect of two different light conditions Red light (R) and Red to white shift (Rs) on *P. tricornutum* transconjugant cells containing an empty episomal vector (*Ptev*) and an episomal vector harboring the Yellow fluorescent protein reporter gene (*Pt*YFP). (a) Growth curve over 15 days of *P. tricornutum* transconjugant cells *Ptev* and *Pt*YFP. (b) Lipid estimation by Nile Red staining and measured by flow cytometer (Mean fluorescence intensity; MFI). (c) Dry weight lipid estimation using gravimetric method on day 8. (d) Ratio of the fluorescence YFP over the number of cells for *Pt*YFP growth in R and Rs conditions.

Fig.7. Mean intensity of cell granulosity calculated using FACS for *Pt*ev in R1 and R2. * $p \le 0.05$.

Supplementary Figures

Chapter 2

Figure A1. Analysis of *P. tricornutum* growth determined using optical density at 680 nm in different light conditions: red light during the exponential phase and then shifting in the stationary phase (RS), red light exposure during the lag phase (RT1), red light during the exponential phase (RT2), and red light during the stationary phase (RT3).

Figure A2. Light microscope images of Phaeodactylum tricornutum in different light conditions (A) in white light and (B) in red light

List of Tables

Chapter 2

Table 1. Summary of *P. tricornutum* culture conditions and experiment identifications.

 P. tricornutum was cultured in L1 media, and all experiments were done in triplicate.

Table 2. Overall experimental plan of four culture conditions (red light treatment 1 to 3 and RS).

Table 3. Fatty acid (FA) composition (mass% of total FA identified) analyzed by GC with Flame-Ionization Detection (GC-FID) of *P. tricornutum* culture under different conditions (white light (W), red light (R), or red to white shift (RS).

Table 4. Fatty acid composition of total lipid in *P. tricornutum* cultured in different conditions such as full spectrum of white light (W), red light (R), or red to white shift (RS).

Table 5. Values of physical properties of biodiesel related to the fatty acid compositions in each culture conditions (W, R, and RS) compared to the International Standard ASTM and EN14214.

Chapter 3

Table 1. Fatty acid (FA) composition (mass % of total FA identified) analysed by gas chromatography (GC) with Flame-Ionization Detection (GC-FID) from *Pt*ev and *Pt*YFP biomass under two light conditions (R and Rs) on Day 9. (n=3).

Table 2. Major fatty acid composition of total lipid in *Pt*ev and *Pt*YFP Red light (R) and Red to white shift (Rs). Data are the mean \pm standard deviation (SD) of three replicates (n=3)

Supplementary Tables

Chapter 3

Table A1. GC analysis of fatty acid compositions in each culture condition (W, R, and RS). Results (mass% of identified fatty acids) are expressed as mean \pm SD of three replicates for each culture conditions. Highlighted means \pm SD are most abundant FAs

Appendix B

Table 1. Lipid content and productivities of different microalgae diatom species (- : no data).

Table 2. Biomedical applications of diatom silica-based materials using different diatom species.

Table 3. Different industries producing variety of products from microalgae and diatoms around the world

Table 4. Sequence Database of different diatoms species.

Table 5. Diatoms Genetic Engineering

Figure 1: Approximate number of research articles indexed in Scopus database (September 14th, 2020) in the area of industrial application of different microbes (bacteria, yeast, algae and diatoms).

Figure 2: Scheme of the different uses of diatoms for green industry.

List of Abbreviations

- NPQ- Non photochemical quenching
- CCM- Carbon concentration mechanism
- EPA Eicosapentaenoic acid
- DHA Docosahexaenoic acid
- PDC- Pyruvate dehydrogenase complex enzyme
- PUFA- Polyunsaturated fatty acids
- ACCase- Acetyl CoA carboxylase
- TAG-Triacylglycerol
- PC- Phosphatidylcholine
- FCP- Fucoxanthin-chlorophyll a/c-binding proteins
- HL- High light
- LL-Low light
- ML-Medium light
- R1- 34% > 600 nm > 66%
- R2- 8% > 600 nm > 92%
- RS- Red to white light shift
- RT1- Red light treatment 1
- RT2- Red light treatment 2
- RT3- Red light treatment 3

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION TO DIATOMS AND IMPACT OF LIGHT ON DIATOMS GROWTH AND LIPID

1.1 What are Diatoms?

Diatoms (Bacillariophyceae) are single cell microscopic organisms comprising approximately 100,000 species known for 20-40% of global carbon fixation (1, 2). It is also being estimated that diatoms alone produce 40% of the 45 to 50 billion metric tons of organic carbon in sea which is equivalent to all terrestrial rain forests combined (3, 4). They are key drivers of maintaining the aquatic system and various biogeochemical cycles in oceans (5). Diatoms are part of heterokontophyte, known as stramenopiles that are adaptable to wide range of environmental conditions ranging from tropical to polar ecosystems (1, 6, 7). Even though, there are common features between diatoms and green algae or plants they come along with distinct differences as well. The cellular features that makes them distinctive from green algae and plants are hydrated cell wall made of silicon dioxide, a chloroplasts surrounded by four layers instead of two and fucoxanthin chlorophyll proteins (8,9,10). Evolutionary lineage of diatoms is quite distinct from plants, green algae and red algae and some reports have suggested the possible evolutionary route through secondary endosymbiosis between a red alga and a heterotrophic flagellate (11, 12). Therefore, it led to accumulation of new set of genes and complex plastid that has four membranes instead of two. In the past 2-3 decades, the progress at the genomic and genetic level for the model systems in green algae Chlamydomonas reinhardtii and diatoms such as Thalassiosira pseudonana and Phaeodactylum tricornutum to study photosynthesis, chloroplast biology, flagellar motility, and micronutrient homeostasis (13-16). Moreover, the ability of diatoms to do photosynthesis and produce high-valued carbohydrates, proteins, and fats, under varied conditions, is an interesting attribute for industrial applications. *P.tricornutum* is a good model organism to be used for industrial applications as its genome has been published and various genetic tools are available. The transformation techniques have been developed for ten diatom strains but the most studied and successful strains are *P. tricornutum* and *T. pseudonana*. It is known to accumulate high amount of omega fatty acids like EPA or very long chain fatty acids like arachidonic acid which are key ingredients in pharmaceutical and nutraceutical industries (17). Furthermore, it can be

used as biofertilizer or bio-stimulant to enhance crop productivity (18, 19). Diatoms are also beneficial for ecological monitoring which has potential to be more cost effective than the traditional methods (20).

The world population is constantly increasing so is the need for alternative energy and food source. As discussed above and in supplementary data (Appendix B), diatoms and microalga could have the potential to contribute in addressing the global challenges such as energy, climate change,food security, ecology, nutrition, etc. (21).

1.2 Exploitation of natural products from diatoms

Diatoms are of particular interest for the production of omega fatty acids such as eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA). These fatty acids are essential for human health as we are not capable of *de novo* synthesis of omega fatty acids which are the necessary compounds that aids in prevention of cardiovascular and inflammatory diseases (22). Presently, most of the demands of EPA are met through consumption of wild fish or fish oil capsules which have raised economic, ethical and environmental concerns. Large scale cultivation of microalgae have the potential to provide the supply of sustainable source of omega fatty acids for human and animal nutrition. But there are still some economic challenges for large scale production of omega fatty acids from microalgae which requires optimization of cost-effective production. And there are some advantages of diatoms and microalgae over land plants as it needs no agricultural land which have it own sets of challenges such as reducing soil organic content worldwide (23). Therefore, we need alternative renewable source of raw material that can provide critical nutrients like omega fatty acids for human health or biofertilizer blend from microalgae that can nourish the soil.

The above mentioned commercial benefits have attracted the attention of both researchers, industries, and government agencies due to potential industrial applications and develop sustainable products to reduce the consistent damage to our environment along with sustainable economic upliftment (24). Furthermore, I added a detailed supplementary chapter on possible industrial applications of diatoms entitled "Diatoms Biotechnology:Various industrial applications for greener tomorrow" (Appendix B).

1.3 Lipids and fatty acids

Lipids is the name given to the heterogenous set of fat soluble compounds containing fats, oils, steroids, waxes and related compounds. Lipids and their derivatives have a chain of hydrocarbons containing carboxylic group which is hydrophilic in nature and aliphatic tail which is hydrophobic. These compounds are relatively insoluble in water and soluble in polar solvents. Lipids can be broadly divided into four groups; triglycerides, phospholipids, steroids, and waxes whose general functions are energy storage, making biological membranes, insulation, protection and acting as precursors for metabolic activities.

Fatty acids are the integral building blocks for lipids which are either saturated or unsaturated. The characterization of fatty acids is usually done in terms of carbon chain length and number of bonds which determines their properties in the cell. Thus, a fatty acid with 16 carbons and 1 double bond would be abbreviated as C16:1 known as palmitoleic acid. Fatty acids are broadly categorized into three kinds based on the number of bonds, fatty acid with no double bonds are saturated fatty acids, fatty acid with single double bond is monounsaturated fatty acid and more than one double bond is termed as polyunsaturated fatty acids.

Lipids and biomass composition in microalgae are affected by culture, light and stress conditions which has been reported by many studies (25-27). Nutrient starvation such as nitrogen and phosphorus can trigger the production of lipids in microalgae cells as reported in the following articles (28-31). The other important limiting factor is light which has been shown to have variable impacts on growth, total lipid content and accumulation of important fatty acid like EPA which is given high value in human nutrition (32-34).

Microalgae are one of the best organism for high production of omega fatty acid such as EPA. *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* is one of the ideal source for the production of omega fatty acids which exhibits potential value to investors and industries. At the present moment, they are being use for aquafeed whose demand has doubled in last decade and might become economically unstable (35). It has been reported that the fish meal supplemented with freeze dried biomass of *P. tricornutum* was effective to improve fish immune status or immunostimulating effects (36, 37). Therefore, it is possible to say that diatoms can be a potential sustainable source of omega fatty acids for humans, animal feed additives or can be used as biodiesel blend (38).

1.4 Fatty acid synthesis pathway in diatoms

In general diatoms have similar classes of lipids as plants and green algae, but there are few differences, diatoms contains the combination of medium chain and very long chain fatty acids like EPA and DHA which are usually absent in plants (11,39-41). Another lipid that is present in diatoms and absent in plants thylakoid membrane is phospholipid phosphatidylcholine (PC). One of the important difference that is relevant for industrial and human consumption is the presence of high amount of EPA and DHA in aquatic life such as phytoplanktons and fishes as compared to terrestrial plants (42). Considering the potential benefits and need of sustainable supply of omega fatty acids, we have given more attention towards the growth, total lipid and EPA in the thesis in general.

Centric T. pseudonana and the pennate P. tricornutum are the two most studied diatoms species that have been exploited for industrial uses considering the availability of omics and physiochemical data for these species. But our knowledge of lipid metabolism is still limited as compared to plants, animals and green microalgae (39). Thus, the present knowledge on diatoms lipid metabolism is derived from green microalgae, plants and genome predictions. Lipid metabolism in diatoms could be understood in two sections, a prokaryotic pathway found in membranes of plastids and a eukaryotic pathway found in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (43-45). Plastids are the primary site of fatty acid synthesis where acetyl-CoA is the precursor which is also found in mitochondria and peroxisomes. So, the pool of acetyl-CoA from mitochondria and peroxisomes needs to be transported to plastids (46, 47). Acetyl-CoA could be synthesized from different routes either through synthesis from free acetate or decarboxylation of pyruvate catalysed by pyruvate dehydrogenase complex (48). Based on homology with flowering plants, one can manipulate the total lipid accumulation in diatoms by regulating pyruvate dehydrogenase complex enzyme (PDC, Figure 1). The FA synthesis is multistep enzyme process that has been used to modify the lipid metabolism (46). Conversion of acetyl-CoA to malonyl-CoA is the initiation of FA synthesis catalysed by acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase, Figure 1). The next steps of FA synthesis in plastids consist of a sequential condensation of two-carbon units, which is catalyzed by the enzymes of the FA synthase (FAS) complex. From here on, chain reactions sets up where each cycle results in the addition of 2 carbon units to the growing acyl chain, with malonyl-ACP as substrate for the condensation reactions. This step leads to the synthesis of C16:0 ACP which is synthesized by KAS (keto-acyl synthesis). The terminal step of the fatty acid synthesis is the hydrolysis of acyl-acp protein to create the pool of free fatty acids in the endoplasmic reticulum which is considered to be the substrate of very long chain fatty acyl-Coa synthetases. There are missing loops about how these free fatty acids are transported to the membrane for the synthesis of long chain fatty acids. The mechanism is unknown for the transport of fatty acids from plastids to endoplasmic reticulum (46). Further fatty acids can be stored in form of triacylglycerol (TAGs) which is stored energy and can be formed by two pathways: an acyl-CoA dependent pathway and an acyl-CoA independent pathway (49-51). In acyl-coA dependent pathway, it is proposed that initiation happens with acylation of G-3-P which further goes through series of acylation steps to form lysophosphatidic acid. Phosphattidic acid may be de-phosphorylated by phosphatidic acid phosphatase (PAP) to produce DAG. In the final acylation step, acyl-CoA (49, 50). In the acyl-CoA independent TAG biosynthesis pathway, the acyltransferase enzyme PDAT uses phosphatidylcholine (PC) as an acyl donor for the formation of TAG from DAG (52, 53). The overall pictorial representation of fatty acid synthesis is given in Figure 1.



Figure 1- Schematic representation of fatty acid synthesis, very long chain fatty acid synthesis and Triacylglycerol formation (46). ACCase, acetyl-CoA carboxylase; ACP, acyl carrier ATS1, protein; plastidic glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase; ATS2, plastidic lysophosphatidic acid acyltransferase; BL, betaine lipids; CoA, coenzyme A; DGAT, acyl-CoA:diacylglycerol transferase; DAG, diacylglycerol; acyl DGDG; digalactosyldiacylglycerol; DGK, diacylglycerol kinase; FAT, fatty acyl-ACP thioesterase; FFAs, free fatty acids; KAS, 3-ketoacyl-ACP synthase; G3P, glycerol 3 phosphate; GPAT, acyl-CoA:glycerol-3-phosphate acyl transferase; LACS, long chain acyl-CoA synthetase; Lyso-PA, lysophosphatidic acid; LPAAT, acyl-CoA:lysophosphatidic acid acyl transferase; LPCAT, acyl-CoA:lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase; MGDG; monogalactosyldiacylglycerol; PA, phosphatidic acid; PAP, phosphatidic acid phosphatase; PC, phosphatidylcholine; PDC, dehydrogenase complex; pyruvate PG, phosphatidylglycerol; PGPS, phosphatidylglycerol phosphate synthase; PLA₂,

phospholipase A₂, PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acid; SQDG, sulfoquinovosyldiacylglycerol; StLDP, stramenopile-type lipid droplet protein; TAG, triacylglycerol; TCA, tricarboxylic acid. Good number of research articles have explored the use of genetic transformation to overexpress different genes throughout the pathway. As such, overexpressing the malic acid enzyme can increase total lipid content 2.5 fold (54) and diacylglycerol acyltransferase (DGAT2) in *P. tricornutum* can stimulate more lipid bodies (55). Heterologous expressions of two thioesterases (a myristic acid biased thioesterase (C14-TE) from *Cinnamomum camphora* and a lauric acid biased thioesterase (C12-TE) from *Umbellularia californica*, causes increased accumulation of shorter chain length fatty acids in *P. tricornutum* (56).

Changes in the environmental parameters such as light and nutrient conditions impacts the accumulation and synthesis of fatty acids. Further, we discussed about few important genes like the overexpression of malic enzyme, DGAT2 that could impact the accumulation of more lipid. With more interest towards the production of single end product- EPA supplement, *P. tricornutum* is a suitable system as it contains few intermediates in the EPA biosynthetic pathway.

Diatoms require right physiological conditions for the effective accumulation of lipids, synthesis of membrane lipid as well as partitioning of different fatty acids into various lipids (44, 57). All the conditions such as pH, salinity, temperature, nutrition and light have an impact on the growth, lipid accumulation and even fatty acid composition (44). For instance, it is known that fatty acid like EPA and DHA are deposited in TAGs under genetic modification or stress conditions during stationary phase of diatom culture (57, 58). Research is still under progress for the impact of different carbon sources, nutrient deprivation on diatoms growth and lipid accumulation. The other side that requires attention is the impact of light on growth and lipid accumulation considering that \sim 5% of light is converted to biomass and should be explored using the available tools.

1.5 Lighting systems

Light is the main element for the process of photosynthesis and is also a limiting factor for photosynthetic organism growth. It is known that only a fraction of solar spectrum mostly blue (420-470 nm) and red wavelength (650-680); is used for the process of photosynthesis and the rest is either reflected or dissipated through heat (59, 60). All photosynthetic organisms use

different wavelength with distinct efficiency owing to the differences in pigments such as chlorophyll a, b, c, d and e, bacteriochlorophylls, pheophytin a and b and other kinds of pigment molecules such as carotenoid α and β , xanthophyll (61). Spectral quality, light intensity and light distribution are considered some of the important variables to increase the light to biomass conversion efficiency. And these are some of the common challenges observed in both open and closed scale cultivation system.

So far, the most common and effective reported light modes used for algae and diatoms cultivation are LED (light emitting diodes) and fluorescent bulbs and have provided good amount of data for the base reference (32, 62-64) and will be discussed more in detail in the following sections. The use of artificial light sources in large scale photobioreactors adds to the total cost of production which is not sustainable for commercial projects. The advantages of using artificial lightning system in photobioreactor system such as controllable culture environment and ability to easily manipulate the conditions is still not affordable to be applied at commercial scale successfully. There are multiple challenges of using photobioreactor such as coupling of light, hydrodynamics, mass transfer, and cell growth in efficient reactor. Initial capital requirement and the overall cost of operations are challenges (65, 66).

The alternative method is to use the available outdoor culture which is also not easy conditions for microalgae, considering the seasonal variations in lights and solar spectrum also contain other wavelength such as infrared and near infrared light that is not suitable for microalgae growth (66, 67). Therefore, cost effective distribution of light to large scale cultivation is still the missing link for algae biotechnology (67).

Another way to modulate the light environment is the use of light filters which can be used to transmit the needed spectra required for microalgae cultivation. There are few studies that have used light filters made out of cellophane, nanomaterials or tar colour additives to improve growth and biomass (65, 67, 68) and have reported the possible potential use in large scale open cultivation. A study analysed the use of light filters and observed no changes in the flask as compared to filters used in flat panel reactors, and rotating algal biofilm considering the possible reflection of light coming from the walls of flasks (67). Another route that has been adopted to optimize the spectral composition is the use of fluorescent proteins such as GFP and YFP which can capture the excess light in the cell for expanding the spectral coverage and photosynthetic efficiency (69).

There are more publications that have shown the impact of light intensity and spectral qualityimpactonmicroalgaegrowthandlipidcontent

(25-27, 32-34). It can be cautiously said that, optimizing the light settings can have an impact on diatoms industrial growth.

1.6 Impact of light on diatoms

Considering the wide range of light conditions that diatoms can survive; it is important to identify the needed light conditions to be applied for industrial applications. And we know that diatoms can harvest the photons from visible light in the range of 400–700 nm spectra, which is initiated by the antennae pigments and forming the complex network of signalling between pigments to reach the reaction center. Published literature reviews and research articles have provided the data on the different light set ups such as light intensity, spectral quality, two phase light system impact on biomass and bioactive molecule accumulation and using genetic engineering tools to study the impact of light on P. tricornutum physiology (70-73). Broadly, diatoms can respond to light in following two ways: 1) under low light conditions, diatoms try to capture the sufficient number of photons for the basic physiological activities 2) under high light conditions, diatoms try to avoid the excess number of photons and if not, it leads to photodamage (74). Although, there is ample data about the impact of light on plants and green algae, it is not transferable to diatoms considering the difference in the structure of chloroplast and composition of pigments where the research is still in development phase and is a debatable area (75). Land plants and green algae use LHCII containing chlorophyll a and b whereas diatoms use FCP protein complex containing chlorophyll a and c to harvest light (76). Diatom chloroplast is quite distinct from the plants and green algae, it consists of an envelope with four membrane, the thylakoids are arranged in stacks of three, there is no spatial segregation of the photosystems, and have peculiar protein and pigment organization (77, 78).

To obtain the best growth conditions, phototrophs have developed multiple processes such as thermal dissipation of excess light energy using non photochemical quenching, photoharvesting, short term physiological response which involves the regulation of three kinds of light harvesting proteins i) a set of lhcr protein ii) stress related lhcx proteins iii) large group of lhcf proteins (79-81). And these light harvesting proteins have variable response towards difference spectral quality for e.g. : Blue light has been majorly shown to activate the stress related pigments and it has been observed the *PtLhcx3 may* participate in photoprotection by elevating the non photochemical quenching which is more activated under blue light as compared to red and white light (82). On the other side, cultures grown in red light usually have to modulate the process of light harvesting by adjusting the light antenne size or by change in thylakoid number which was higher in red light culture as compared to white light (83). Another study showed the red shifted form of FCP protein complex which is present in red light culture and absent in white light culture might enhance its light harvesting ability (81). This allows the cells to have enhanced absorption spectra in longer wavelength which might alter the energy transfer process between photosystem based reactions. The same study also suggested the possible quenching of PSII process in blue light cultures whereas absent in red light culture suggesting that energy was transferred to red shifted FCP form which is energetically bound to PSII reaction center.

There are multiple studies attempting to optimize the light conditions to have better light to biomass conversion efficiency to produce high biomass, lipids, etc., which includes studying microalgae and diatoms in variable light intensity, spectral quality, short term light acclimation as discussed in the text so far (59, 84-87).

A study reported comparable growth and photosynthesis rate under blue and red light acclimation but observed rapid changes during light shift after initial acclimation. There were severe changes in metabolic organisation during red to blue light shift such as increase in amino acid pool, protein synthesis, TCA cycle, inhibition of growth whereas there was a decrease in amino acid pool, accumulation of carbohydrates and no changes in growth during blue to red light shift. It was further noticed that there was increase in parts of carbohydrates at the cost of proteins during blue to red to white light shift whereas an increase in ratio of protein/carbohydrates during red to blue light shift. This can be explained with increase in carbon/nitrogen ratio (C/N) under red light culture as compared to blue light (88). The change in C/N ratio also leads to more accumulation of pyruvate in red to blue light shift as compared to blue to red to white light shift. Pyruvate is an important mediating molecule for *de novo* fatty acid synthesis, amino acid synthesis and glycolysis. More studies have reported the increase in biomass, total lipid or specific lipid fraction such as EPA under red light or combination of red and blue in *P. tricornutum* and other microalgae species (89-91). Therefore, it can be cautiously said that light profile can change growth patterns, lipid accumulation or specific fatty acid profile.

In addition to photosystems and light harvesting protein complexes, diatoms possess photoreceptors that are essentially light responsive such as crytochromes, phytochromes and aureochromes allowing the sensing of light intensity and wavelength. It is known that aureochrome are involved in various physiological processes such as detection of blue light, high light acclimation and cell cycle. Mann et al. (2020) observed an upregulation of genes related to light reaction, glycolysis and fatty acid metabolism during red to blue light exposure (71). Furthermore, they observed this response was inhibited or downregulated when aureochromes was absent. Another study investigated cryptochrome-like proteins which are involved in DNA repair, Calvin cycle, the photosynthetic light reaction, the tetrapyrrole biosynthesis, and the carbohydrate metabolism which are more upregulated in blue light (70). The study reports the dynamic response of different photoreceptors like aureochromes, cryoptchromes in wild type and mutants in different wavelength. The literature on the impact of different wavelengths and light intensity demonstrates rapid and reversible changes, coordination between growth and lipid production and metabolic flexibility. Reviewing these events have opened many questions for the future such as the possible sensing of different spectral light quality or intensity by either of light harvesting complex/photoreceptors to have wide range of adaptive states which requires more research.

These reports have provided a broad idea that specific combination of light spectra is more effective as compared to broad light spectrum. Therefore, increasing the light utilization efficiency can improve the overall diatom cell machinery for carbon fixation, photosynthesis, etc. Hence, optimizing the light conditions for specific application such as high biomass, lipid or omega fatty acid production could ensure a consistent output. We can use light intensity, spectral filtering, genetic engineering of light harvesting and photosynthetic related components and two-phase light system for increasing biomass and lipid productivity.

1.7 Impact of Spectral quality on Diatoms

Few studies have reported the impact of spectral quality on gene expression, pigments, fatty acid profile which are noticeable and should be explored extensively. Diatoms respond to different spectral quality in highly discriminatory way using variations in pigment profile or photoreceptors. The main pigments in diatoms are chl a, c which absorbs light in red (600-700 nm) and blue (400-500 nm) wavelength and fucoxanthin which absorbs light in green (500-570 nm) wavelength. Furthermore, there are conformations in fucoxanthin with specific absorption maxima which are developed in different spectral profiles such as 505 and 510 nm-Fuco_{red}), (488-492nm-Fuco_{green}) and (445-463nm -Fuco_{blue}). The differences in absorption properties reflects that it might affect the overall protein environment impacting the overall light harvesting process. For example, a study has reported the development of red shifted FCP

under red light, with prolonged fluorescence time under red light as compared to blue light. They further noticed the formation of large structural domains containing PSI-lhcr supercomplexes that are present in red light culture and absent in day light culture (81). Photoprotection and repair of PSII are the other side of the coin that are related to non photochemical quenching process which might leads to slow growth and inhibition of bioactive molecules. Studies have reported that non-photochemical quenching or photoprotections are activated or dependent on blue lights (73, 81).

Considering from the application point of view, a study observed the 8 different variations of red and blue monochromatic LED on growth and lipid profile of *P. tricornutum* and observed that highest biomass was obtained under white light. It was further observed that light settings enriched with red light spectra was conducive for total lipid production and light settings enriched with blue light was suitable for EPA production (89). Another study reported, that high proportions of red light might be useful for high lipid production and high EPA production whereas blue light will be more conducive to saturated fatty acid production (90). Similar patterns for high biomass and growth trend was observed in Red :blue ratio (6 :1) in batch cultures compared to white light and other ratios of R :B (0 :1,6 :1,1 :1,1 :2,1 :0) (92).

Light shift is a cultivation process where culture is grown in one light condition with an intent to increase the biomass and then shifted to another light conditions to accumulate more lipids (84, 88, 93). Jungandreas et al. (2014) have reported the accumulation of proteins and lipids in red to blue light shift and accumulation of carbohydrate in blue light to red to white shift (88). And it was observed that acclimation to specific spectral quality could change the accumulation of metabolite profile such as TCA cycle intermediates, amino acids and intermediates of glycolysis (88). Yang et al. (2020) observed the light shift from the ratio of R:B (6:1) to (5:1) to be most suitable for biomass and fucoxanthin production in *P. tricornutum* (92). Another study observed that the ratio of 50:50 was better for effective biomass and lipid accumulation in *P. tricornutum* (94). Light shift is an effective method to be applied in large scale cultivation in photobioreactors. In addition to high lipid content in red light, another study reported the low level of non photochemical quenching in red light that means less energy dissipation which indicates the higher light use efficiency/photon or low energy loss (82). The results are non conclusive regarding the use of spectral quality and its impact on total lipid, increasing the fraction of specific fatty acid like EPA considering the different light setting and different composition of light spectra used in reported studies.

Another way to approach this is to look into the functions of the photoreceptors such as aureochromes and cryptochromes that senses the different spectral quality light and can modulate the processes related to the photosynthesis, lipid and carbohydrate metabolism where they used light shift based experiments (70, 71).

1.8 Impact of light intensity on diatoms

There is ample literature on the impact of light on various physiochemical parameters in different microalgae species along with diatom *P. tricornutum*. Light intensity can affect the diatoms physiology and genetics at multiple levels. For example, diatoms have evolved to have defense mechanism under high light stress conditions such as non photochemical quenching (NPQ) where there are major changes in xanthophyll pigment pool or changes in transcript abundance of lhcx (stress related proteins) under high radiance or shift from low to high light (28, 29,95, 96). The defense mechanism also represents an energy loss to the cell. Furthermore, few studies have reported the degradation of D1 protein of PSII which is known as function of light intensity (79, 96, 97). The rate of NPQ is usually high under blue light as compared to red light.

It has been shown that light intensity can regulate the carbon reorientation which allows the storage of energy dense molecules like lipids. Heyderizadeh et al., (2017) showed that carbon limited environment and variable light intensity impacts the use of pyruvate/phophoenolpyruvate to produce organic acids in low light and lipids and proteins in high light. They reported low rate of mitosis, progressive enlargement in light harvesting complex which might require deriving the energy from nonphotosynthetic processes making it an energy expensive process for the culture under low light (30 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹). Another way to understand the low growth rate in low light is the requirement of more energy for light capture to meet the energy allocation needed for carbon concentration mechanism (CCMs). Further comparing the ML (300 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) and HL (1000 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹), they reported the maximum growth at ML and low growth in HL considering the stress generated by the excess photons at HL leads to energy dissipation. The same study noticed the most lipid in ML, proteins and carbohydrates in HL and LL respectively (98). Another study analysed the changes in gene expression and pigment accumulation at 150 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ (LL) and 750 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ (HL). They reported that HL inhibits the synthesis of pigments which impacts the absorption of excess excitation and activation of non-photochemical quenching. They also reported the low EPA at high irradiance (750 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) as compared low irradiance (150 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) (87). Few studies have confirmed the light variations can affect the lipid synthesis specially

EPA production needed for membrane synthesis and thylakoid structure maintenance (34, 40, 99).

1.9 Project Aim and Research Objectives

The overall aim of the project was to investigate the different light settings on the growth and biomass, lipid and fatty acid profile of wild type and transconjugant strains in *P. tricornutum.* The research objectives for the following PhD thesis were to design a way to add value in industrial application while keeping in mind to derive new knowledge that could be used for future PhD projects for both fundamental as well as industrial output. The objectives of the project broadly covers different light settings on wild type and transconjugant *P. tricornutum.*

Chapter II: The objective was to identify the suitable light conditions that enhances the total biomass, lipid and the general fatty acid composition. This chapter provides some insights on the importance of spectral wavelength. We tested how different light spectra in autotrophic and mixotrophic conditions affects the growth and lipid in *P. tricornutum*. Further we tested the light shift strategy which could also be called as two phase light system to enhance total biomass and lipid. Hence, the obtained data might provide us the tools to establish some cost-cutting ideas to be utilised in commercial applications.

Chapter III: The objective was to find the best light settings in terms of spectral quality, light intensity and light shift on transconjugant strains of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. We looked at the impact of different light conditions on transconjugant strains containing an episomal vector and reporter gene which has never been studied on model organism *P. tricornutum*. There are still many gaps between the academic research and its application for microalgae based commercial applications therefore investigating the possible strategies using genetic tools like episomal vectors and reporter genes for heterologous protein could provide some clues for further advancements.

REFERENCES

1. Falciatore A, Jaubert M, Bouly J-P, Bailleul B, Mock T. Diatom Molecular Research Comes of Age: Model Species for Studying Phytoplankton Biology and Diversity. The Plant Cell. 2020;32(3):547-72.

2. Malviya S, Scalco E, Audic S, Vincent F, Veluchamy A, Poulain J, et al. Insights into global diatom distribution and diversity in the world's ocean. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2016;113(11):E1516-E25.

3. Nelson DM, Tréguer P, Brzezinski MA, Leynaert A, Quéguiner B. Production and dissolution of biogenic silica in the ocean: Revised global estimates, comparison with regional data and relationship to biogenic sedimentation. Global Biogeochemical Cycles. 1995;9(3):359-72.

4. Field CB, Behrenfeld MJ, Randerson JT, Falkowski P. Primary Production of the Biosphere: Integrating Terrestrial and Oceanic Components. Science. 1998;281(5374):237-40.

5. Benoiston AS, Ibarbalz FM, Bittner L, Guidi L, Jahn O, Dutkiewicz S, et al. The evolution of diatoms and their biogeochemical functions. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B. 2017;372(1728).

6. Stiller J, Schreiber J, Yue J, Guo H, Ding Q, Huang J. The evolution of photosynthesis in chromist algae through serial endosymbiosis. Nature Communications. 5, 5764. 2014.

7. Karlusich JJP, Ibarbalz FM, Bowler C. Phytoplankton in the Tara Ocean. Annual Review of Marine Science. 2020;12(1):233-65.

8. Round FE, Crawford RM, Mann DG, Press CU. Diatoms: Biology and Morphology of the Genera: Cambridge University Press; 1990.

9. Gruber A, Kroth PG. Intracellular metabolic pathway distribution in diatoms and tools for genome-enabled experimental diatom research. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. 2017;372(1728):20160402.

10. Büchel C. Fucoxanthin-Chlorophyll-Proteins and Non-Photochemical Fluorescence Quenching of Diatoms. In: Demmig-Adams B, Garab G, Adams Iii W, Govindjee, editors. Non-Photochemical Quenching and Energy Dissipation in Plants, Algae and Cyanobacteria. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands; 2014. p. 259-75.

11. Prihoda J, Tanaka A, de Paula WBM, Allen JF, Tirichine L, Bowler C. Chloroplastmitochondria cross-talk in diatoms. Journal of Experimental Botany. 2012;63(4):1543-57.

12. Morozov AA, Galachyants YP. Diatom genes originating from red and green algae: Implications for the secondary endosymbiosis models. Marine Genomics. 2019;45:72-8.

13. Merchant SS, Prochnik SE, Vallon O, Harris EH, Karpowicz SJ, Witman GB, et al. The *Chlamydomonas* genome reveals the evolution of key animal and plant functions. Science. 2007;318(5848):245-50.

14. Salomé PA, Merchant SS. A series of fortunate events: Introducing *Chlamydomonas* as a reference organism. The Plant Cell. 2019;31(8):1682-707.

15. Armbrust EV, Berges JA, Bowler C, Green BR, Martinez D, Putnam NH, et al. The genome of the diatom *Thalassiosira pseudonana*: ecology, evolution, and metabolism. Science. 2004;306(5693):79-86.

16. Bowler C, Allen AE, Badger JH, Grimwood J, Jabbari K, Kuo A, et al. The *Phaeodactylum* genome reveals the evolutionary history of diatom genomes. Nature. 2008;456(7219):239-44.

17. Hamilton ML, Warwick J, Terry A, Allen MJ, Napier JA, Sayanova O. Towards the Industrial Production of Omega-3 Long Chain Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids from a Genetically Modified Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. PLOS ONE. 2015;10(12):e0144054.

18. Savio S, Farrotti S, Paris D, Arnaìz E, Díaz I, Bolado S, et al. Value-added co-products from biomass of the diatoms *Staurosirella pinnata* and *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Algal Research. 2020;47:101830.

19. Schreiber C, Schiedung H, Harrison L, Briese C, Ackermann B, Kant J, et al. Evaluating potential of green alga *Chlorella vulgaris* to accumulate phosphorus and to fertilize nutrient-poor soil substrates for crop plants. Journal of Applied Phycology. 2018;30(5):2827-36.

20. B-Béres V, Stenger-Kovács C, Buczkó K, Padisák J, Selmeczy GB, Lengyel E, et al. Ecosystem services provided by freshwater and marine diatoms. Hydrobiologia. 2022.

21. Wichuk K, Brynjólfsson S, Fu W. Biotechnological production of value-added carotenoids from microalgae: Emerging technology and prospects. Bioengineered. 2014;5(3):204-8.

22. Ameur A, Enroth S, Johansson A, Zaboli G, Igl W, Johansson AC, et al. Genetic adaptation of fatty-acid metabolism: a human-specific haplotype increasing the biosynthesis of long-chain omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids. American Journal of Human Genetics. 2012;90(5):809-20.

23. Zhao F, Wu Y, Hui J, Sivakumar B, Meng X, Liu S. Projected soil organic carbon loss in response to climate warming and soil water content in a loess watershed. Carbon Balance and Management. 2021;16(1):24.

24. Stonik V, Stonik I. Low-Molecular-Weight Metabolites from Diatoms: Structures, Biological Roles and Biosynthesis. Marine Drugs. 2015;13(6):3672-709.

25. Cheirsilp B, Torpee S. Enhanced growth and lipid production of microalgae under mixotrophic culture condition: Effect of light intensity, glucose concentration and fed-batch cultivation. Bioresource Technology. 2012;110:510-6.

26. Nzayisenga JC, Farge X, Groll SL, Sellstedt A. Effects of light intensity on growth and lipid production in microalgae grown in wastewater. Biotechnology for Biofuels. 2020;13(1):4.

27. Zhu Z, Sun J, Fa Y, Liu X, Lindblad P. Enhancing microalgal lipid accumulation for biofuel production. Frontiers in Microbiology. 2022;13.

28. Wang X, Fosse HK, Li K, Chauton MS, Vadstein O, Reitan KI. Influence of Nitrogen Limitation on Lipid Accumulation and EPA and DHA Content in Four Marine Microalgae for Possible Use in Aquafeed. Frontiers in Marine Science. 2019;6.

29. Fakhry EM, El Maghraby DM. Lipid accumulation in response to nitrogen limitation and variation of temperature in *Nannochloropsis salina*. Botanical Studies. 2015;56(1):6.

30. Shrestha N, Dandinpet KK, Schneegurt MA. Effects of Nitrogen and Phosphorus Limitation on Lipid Accumulation by *Chlorella kessleri* str. UTEX 263 Grown in Darkness. Journal of Applied Phycology. 2020;32(5):2795-805.

31. Yaakob MA, Mohamed R, Al-Gheethi A, Aswathnarayana Gokare R, Ambati RR. Influence of Nitrogen and Phosphorus on Microalgal Growth, Biomass, Lipid, and Fatty Acid Production: An Overview. Cells. 2021;10(2).

32. Maltsev Y, Maltseva K, Kulikovskiy M, Maltseva S. Influence of Light Conditions on Microalgae Growth and Content of Lipids, Carotenoids, and Fatty Acid Composition. Biology (Basel). 2021;10(10).

33. Steinrücken P, Mjøs SA, Prestegard SK, Erga SR. Enhancing EPA Content in an Arctic Diatom: A Factorial Design Study to Evaluate Interactive Effects of Growth Factors. Frontiers in Plant Science. 2018;9.

34. Remmers IM, Martens DE, Wijffels RH, Lamers PP. Dynamics of triacylglycerol and EPA production in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* under nitrogen starvation at different light intensities. PLOS ONE. 2017;12(4):e0175630.

35. Pudney A, Gandini C, Economou CK, Smith R, Goddard P, Napier JA, et al. Multifunctionalizing the marine diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* for sustainable co-production of omega-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids and recombinant phytase. Scientific Reports. 2019;9(1):11444.

36. Reis B, Ramos-Pinto L, Martos-Sitcha JA, Machado M, Azeredo R, Fernández-Boo S, et al. Health status in gilthead seabream (Sparus aurata) juveniles fed diets devoid of fishmeal and supplemented with *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Journal of Applied Phycology. 2021;33(2):979-96.

37. Sørensen M, Berge GM, Reitan KI, Ruyter B. Microalga *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* in feed for Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) -Effect on nutrient digestibility, growth and utilization of feed. Aquaculture. 2016;460:116-23.

38. Gu W, Kavanagh JM, McClure DD. Towards a sustainable supply of omega-3 fatty acids: Screening microalgae for scalable production of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA). Algal Research. 2022;61:102564.

39. Guschina IA, Harwood JL. Lipids and lipid metabolism in eukaryotic algae. Progress in Lipid Research. 2006;45(2):160-86.

40. Li H-Y, Lu Y, Zheng J-W, Yang W-D, Liu J-S. Biochemical and Genetic Engineering of Diatoms for Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid Biosynthesis. Marine Drugs. 2014;12(1):153-66.

41. Martins DA, Custódio L, Barreira L, Pereira H, Ben-Hamadou R, Varela J, et al. Alternative sources of n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in marine microalgae. Marine Drugs. 2013;11(7):2259-81.

42. Hixson SM, Sharma B, Kainz MJ, Wacker A, Arts MT. Production, distribution, and abundance of long-chain omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids: a fundamental dichotomy between freshwater and terrestrial ecosystems. Environmental Reviews. 2015;23(4):414-24.

43. Ohlrogge J, Browse J. Lipid biosynthesis. Plant Cell. 1995;7(7):957-70.

44. Hu Q, Sommerfeld M, Jarvis E, Ghirardi M, Posewitz M, Seibert M, et al. Microalgal triacylglycerols as feedstocks for biofuel production: perspectives and advances. The plant journal. 2008;54(4):621-39.

45. Tanaka T, Maeda Y, Veluchamy A, Tanaka M, Abida H, Maréchal E, et al. Oil accumulation by the oleaginous diatom Fistulifera solaris as revealed by the genome and transcriptome. Plant Cell. 2015;27(1):162-76.

46. Zulu NN, Zienkiewicz K, Vollheyde K, Feussner I. Current trends to comprehend lipid metabolism in diatoms. Progress in Lipid Research. 2018;70:1-16.

47. Leonardi R, Zhang YM, Rock CO, Jackowski S. Coenzyme A: back in action. Progress in Lipid Research. 2005;44(2-3):125-53.

48. Behal RH, Lin M, Back S, Oliver DJ. Role of acetyl-coenzyme A synthetase in leaves of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics. 2002;402(2):259-67.

49. Du Z-Y, Benning C. Triacylglycerol Accumulation in Photosynthetic Cells in Plants and Algae. In: Nakamura Y, Li-Beisson Y, editors. Lipids in Plant and Algae Development. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2016. p. 179-205.

50. Xu C, Andre C, Fan J, Shanklin J. Cellular Organization of Triacylglycerol Biosynthesis in Microalgae. In: Nakamura Y, Li-Beisson Y, editors. Lipids in Plant and Algae Development. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2016. p. 207-21.

51. Cagliari A, Margis R, dos Santos Maraschin F, Turchetto-Zolet AC, Loss G, Margis-Pinheiro M. Biosynthesis of Triacylglycerols (TAGs) in Plants and algae. International Journal of Plant Biology. 2011;2(1):e10.

52. Li-Beisson Y, Nakamura Y, Harwood J. Lipids: From Chemical Structures, Biosynthesis, and Analyses to Industrial Applications. In: Nakamura Y, Li-Beisson Y, editors. Lipids in Plant and Algae Development. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2016. p. 1-18.

53. Yu W-L, Ansari W, Schoepp NG, Hannon MJ, Mayfield SP, Burkart MD. Modifications of the metabolic pathways of lipid and triacylglycerol production in microalgae. Microbial Cell Factories. 2011;10(1):91.

54. Xue J, Niu Y-F, Huang T, Yang W-D, Liu J-S, Li H-Y. Genetic improvement of the microalga *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* for boosting neutral lipid accumulation. Metabolic Engineering. 2015;27:1-9.

55. Niu Y-F, Zhang M-H, Li D-W, Yang W-D, Liu J-S, Bai W-B, et al. Improvement of Neutral Lipid and Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid Biosynthesis by Overexpressing a Type 2 Diacylglycerol Acyltransferase in Marine Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Marine Drugs.2013; 11(11):[4558-69 pp.

56. Radakovits R, Eduafo PM, Posewitz MC. Genetic engineering of fatty acid chain length in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Metabolic Engineering. 2011;13(1):89-95.

57. Tonon T, Harvey D, Larson TR, Graham IA. Long chain polyunsaturated fatty acid production and partitioning to triacylglycerols in four microalgae. Phytochemistry. 2002;61(1):15-24.

58. Haslam RP, Hamilton ML, Economou CK, Smith R, Hassall KL, Napier JA, et al. Overexpression of an endogenous type 2 diacylglycerol acyltransferase in the marine diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* enhances lipid production and omega-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid content. Biotechnology for Biofuels. 2020;13(1):87.

59. Parlevliet D, Moheimani NR. Efficient conversion of solar energy to biomass and electricity. Aquatic Biosystems. 2014;10(1):4.

60. Schulze PSC, Barreira LA, Pereira HGC, Perales JA, Varela JCS. Light emitting diodes (LEDs) applied to microalgal production. Trends in Biotechnology. 2014;32(8):422-30.

61. Agustí S, Enríquez S, Frost-Christensen H, Sand-Jensen K, Duarte CM. Light Harvesting Among Photosynthetic Organisms. Functional Ecology. 1994;8(2):273-9.

62. Satthong S, Saego K, Kitrungloadjanaporn P, Nuttavut N, Amornsamankul S, Triampo W. Modeling the effects of light sources on the growth of algae. Advances in Difference Equations. 2019;2019(1):170.

63. Baidya A, Akter T, Islam MR, Shah AKMA, Hossain MA, Salam MA, et al. Effect of different wavelengths of LED light on the growth, chlorophyll, β -carotene content and proximate composition of *Chlorella ellipsoidea*. Heliyon. 2021;7(12):e08525.

64. Okamoto A, Imamura M, Tani K, Matsumoto T. The effect of using light emitting diodes and fluorescent lamps as different light sources in growth inhibition tests of green alga, diatom, and cyanobacteria. PLoS One. 2021;16(2):e0247426.

65. Sero ET, Siziba N, Bunhu T, Shoko R. Light filtration technology for sustainable microalgal biomass production. Biotechnology & Biotechnological Equipment. 2022;36(1):914-24.

66. Huang Q, Jiang F, Wang L, Yang C. Design of Photobioreactors for Mass Cultivation of Photosynthetic Organisms. Engineering. 2017;3(3):318-29.

67. Michael C, del Ninno M, Gross M, Wen Z. Use of wavelength-selective optical light filters for enhanced microalgal growth in different algal cultivation systems. Bioresource Technology. 2015;179:473-82.

68. Shin W-S, Jung SM, Cho C-H, Woo D-W, Kim W, Kwon J-H. Use of tar color additives as a light filter to enhance growth and lipid production by the microalga *Nannochloropsis gaditana*. Environmental Engineering Research. 2018;23(2):205-9.

69. Fu W, Chaiboonchoe A, Khraiwesh B, Sultana M, Jaiswal A, Jijakli K, et al. Intracellular spectral recompositioning of light enhances algal photosynthetic efficiency. Science Advances. 2017;3(9):e1603096-e.

70. König S, Eisenhut M, Bräutigam A, Kurz S, Weber APM, Büchel C. The Influence of a Cryptochrome on the Gene Expression Profile in the Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* under Blue Light and in Darkness. Plant and Cell Physiology. 2017;58(11):1914-23.

71. Mann M, Serif M, Wrobel T, Eisenhut M, Madhuri S, Flachbart S, et al. The Aureochrome Photoreceptor PtAUREO1a Is a Highly Effective Blue Light Switch in Diatoms. iScience. 2020;23(11):101730-.

72. Villanova V, Singh D, Pagliardini J, Fell D, Le Monnier A, Finazzi G, et al. Boosting Biomass Quantity and Quality by Improved Mixotrophic Culture of the Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Frontiers in Plant Science. 2021;12.

73. Valle KC, Nymark M, Aamot I, Hancke K, Winge P, Andresen K, et al. System Responses to Equal Doses of Photosynthetically Usable Radiation of Blue, Green, and Red Light in the Marine Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. PLOS ONE. 2014;9(12):e114211.

74. Depauw FA, Rogato A, Ribera d'Alcalá M, Falciatore A. Exploring the molecular basis of responses to light in marine diatoms. Journal of Experimental Botany. 2012;63(4):1575-91.

75. Nonoyama T, Kazamia E, Nawaly H, Gao X, Tsuji Y, Matsuda Y, et al. Metabolic Innovations Underpinning the Origin and Diversification of the Diatom Chloroplast. Biomolecules. 2019;9(8):322.

76. Wang W, Yu L-J, Xu C, Tomizaki T, Zhao S, Umena Y, et al. Structural basis for bluegreen light harvesting and energy dissipation in diatoms. Science. 2019;363(6427).

77. Wilhelm C, Büchel C, Fisahn J, Goss R, Jakob T, Laroche J, et al. The regulation of carbon and nutrient assimilation in diatoms is significantly different from green algae. Protist. 2006;157(2):91-124.

78. Lepetit B, Goss R, Jakob T, Wilhelm C. Molecular dynamics of the diatom thylakoid membrane under different light conditions. Photosynthesis Research. 2012;111(1):245-57.

79. Domingues N, Matos AR, Marques da Silva J, Cartaxana P. Response of the Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* to Photooxidative Stress Resulting from High Light Exposure. PLOS ONE. 2012;7(6).

80. Herbstová M, Bína D, Koník P, Gardian Z, Vácha F, Litvín R. Molecular basis of chromatic adaptation in pennate diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Bioenergetics. 2015;1847(6):534-43.

81. Oka K, Ueno Y, Yokono M, Shen J-R, Nagao R, Akimoto S. Adaptation of lightharvesting and energy-transfer processes of a diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* to different light qualities. Photosynthesis Research. 2020;146(1):227-34.

82. Hao TB, Jiang T, Dong HP, Ou LJ, He X, Yang YF. Light-harvesting protein Lhcx3 is essential for high light acclimation of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. AMB Express. 2018;8(1):174.

83. Bína D, Herbstová M, Gardian Z, Vácha F, Litvín R. Novel structural aspect of the diatom thylakoid membrane: lateral segregation of photosystem I under red-enhanced illumination. Scientific Reports. 2016;6(1):25583.

84. Sung M-G, Han J-I, Lee B, Chang YK. Wavelength shift strategy to enhance lipid productivity of *Nannochloropsis gaditana*. Biotechnology for Biofuels. 2018;11(1):70.

85. Severes A, Hegde S, D'Souza L, Hegde S. Use of light emitting diodes (LEDs) for enhanced lipid production in micro-algae based biofuels. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology. 2017;170:235-40.

86. Yang R, Wei D. Improving Fucoxanthin Production in Mixotrophic Culture of Marine Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* by LED Light Shift and Nitrogen Supplementation. Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology. 2020;8.

87. Conceição D, Lopes RG, Derner RB, Cella H, do Carmo APB, Montes D'Oca MG, et al. The effect of light intensity on the production and accumulation of pigments and fatty acids in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Journal of Applied Phycology. 2020;32(2):1017-25.

88. Jungandreas A, Schellenberger Costa B, Jakob T, von Bergen M, Baumann S, Wilhelm C. The Acclimation of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* to Blue and Red Light Does Not Influence the Photosynthetic Light Reaction but Strongly Disturbs the Carbon Allocation Pattern. PLOS ONE. 2014;9(8).

89. Dong M, Zhang Y, Yu Q, Liu Q, Zhou X, Jin C. Regulation of light quality on lipid production, biodiesel quality, and nutritional quality of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Aquaculture International. 2022.

90. Duarte B, Feijão E, Goessling JW, Caçador I, Matos AR. Pigment and Fatty Acid Production under Different Light Qualities in the Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Applied Sciences. 2021;11(6):2550.
91. Yu B, Qian S, Liu Q, Jin C, Zhou X. The Response of Bio-Component Production of *Nannochloris oculata* to the Combinations of Monochromatic Light. Journal of Ocean University of China. 2022;21(1):243-51.

92. Yang R, Wei D. Improving Fucoxanthin Production in Mixotrophic Culture of Marine Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* by LED Light Shift and Nitrogen Supplementation. Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology. 2020;8(820).

93. Sharma N, Fleurent G, Awwad F, Cheng M, Meddeb-Mouelhi F, Budge SM, et al. Red Light Variation an Effective Alternative to Regulate Biomass and Lipid Profiles in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Applied Sciences. 2020;10(7):2531.

94. Sirisuk P, Ra C-H, Jeong G-T, Kim S-K. Effects of wavelength mixing ratio and photoperiod on microalgal biomass and lipid production in a two-phase culture system using LED illumination. Bioresource Technology. 2018;253:175-81.

95. Lavaud J, Rousseau B, van Gorkom HJ, Etienne A-L. Influence of the Diadinoxanthin Pool Size on Photoprotection in the Marine Planktonic Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* Plant Physiology. 2002;129(3):1398-406.

96. Olaizola M, La Roche J, Kolber Z, Falkowski PG. Non-photochemical fluorescence quenching and the diadinoxanthin cycle in a marine diatom. Photosynthesis Research. 1994;41(2):357-70.

97. Lavaud J, Six C, Campbell DA. Photosystem II repair in marine diatoms with contrasting photophysiologies. Photosynthesis Research. 2016;127(2):189-99.

98. Heydarizadeh P, Veidl B, Huang B, Lukomska E, Wielgosz-Collin G, Couzinet-Mossion A, et al. Carbon Orientation in the Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*: The Effects of Carbon Limitation and Photon Flux Density. Frontiers in Plant Science. 2019;10(471).

99. Abida H, Dolch L-J, Meï C, Villanova V, Conte M, Block MA, et al. Membrane Glycerolipid Remodeling Triggered by Nitrogen and Phosphorus Starvation in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Plant Physiology. 2014;167(1):118-36.

CHAPTER II

RED LIGHT VARIATION AN EFFECTIVE ALTERNATIVE TO REGULATE BIOMASS AND LIPID PROFILES IN *PHAEODACTYLUM TRICORNUTUM*

Nikunj Sharma¹, Gabriel Fleurent¹, Fatima Awwad¹, Michael Cheng², Fatma Meddeb-Mouelhi^{1,3}, Suzanne M. Budge², Hugo Germain^{1,3} and Isabel Desgagné-Penix^{1,3,*}

¹ Department of Chemistry, Biochemistry and Physics, Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières, 3351, boul. des Forges, C.P. 500, Trois-Rivières,QC G9A 5H7, Canada; Nikunj.Sharma@uqtr.ca (N.S.); Gabriel.Fleurent@uqtr.ca (G.F.); Fatima.Awwad2@uqtr.ca (F.A.); Fatma.Meddeb@uqtr.ca (F.M.-M.); hugo.germain@uqtr.ca (H.G.)

- ² Department of Process Engineering and Applied Science, Dalhousie University, P.O. Box 15000, Halifax, NS H1N 1C1, Canada; mc763832@dal.ca (M.C.); Suzanne.Budge@dal.ca (S.B.)
- ³ Groupe de Recherche en Biologie Végétale, Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières,
 3351, boul. des Forges, C.P. 500, Trois-Rivières, QC G9A 5H7, Canada

*Correspondence: <u>Isabel.Desgagne-Penix@uqtr.ca</u>

Received: 5 March 2020; Accepted: 2 April 2020; Published: 7 April 2020

2.1 Author Contribution

The major and initial creation of conceptualization and methodology was done by N.S and I.D.-P. All the Co-Authors have contributed in the following sections.

Conceptualization, N.S.; F.M.-M.; H.G., and I.D.-P.

Methodology, N.S.; F.A.; F.M.-M.; H.G. and I.D.-P.

Validation, N.S.; G.F.; F.A.; M.C.; S.M.B.; F.M.-M.; H.G., and I.D.-P.

Formal analysis, N.S.; F.A.; F.M.-M. and I.D.-P.

Investigation, N.S.; G.F.; and F.A.

Writing-original draft preparation, N.S.; F.A.; F.M.-M. and I.D.-P.

Writing-review and editing, N.S.; G.F.; F.A.; M.C.; F.M.-M.; S.M.B.; H.G. and I.D.-P.

Supervision, H.G. and I.D.-P.

Project administration, I.D.-P.; funding acquisition, I.D.-P.

All authors have read and agreed to the published.

2.2 Full article in English: Red Light Variation an Effective Alternative to increase Biomass and Lipid Profiles in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*

Abstract

Marine water diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* is a photosynthetic organism that is known to respond to the changing light environment and adapt to different temperatures to prevent photoinhibition and maintain its metabolic functions. The objective of the present study was to test whether light shift in different growth phases changes the growth and lipid metabolism of *P. tricornutum*. Thus, we investigated red light (R) exposure in different growth phases to find the better light shift condition. The results showed that substituting red light by white light under autotrophic conditions, a condition called red to white shift (RS), increased biomass and lipid content compared to levels found under continuous W or R exposure alone. We observed an increase by 2-fold biomass and 2.3-fold lipid content in RS as compared to W. No significant change was observed in the morphology of lipid droplets, but the fatty acid (FA) composition was slightly altered. Specifically, polyunsaturated FAs were increased, whereas monounsaturated FAs decreased in *P. tricornutum* grown in RS compared to W control. Therefore, we propose that a light shift during the beginning of the stationary phase is a low-cost cultivation strategy to boost the total biomass and lipids in *P. tricornutum*.

Keywords: light shift; *Phaeodactylum tricornutum; biomass; microalgae; lipids; autotrophy; metabolites*

2.3 Introduction

Diatoms *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* have an important industrial potential for the production of biofuels, nutraceuticals, cosmetics, valuable lipids, and bioactive molecules. However, the commercial use of diatom biomass is dependent on input energy and nutrient cost. The large-scale cultivation for a single cell organism at the industrial scale is a challenge considering the variables involved (e.g., energy, nutrients, and contamination

issues). Diatoms are known to grow in both benthic and planktonic environment, making them capable of adapting in wide range of light spectra (1-3).

Light is the regulating parameter that controls the photosynthetic machinery of diatoms and regulates the range of light-induced physiological responses (3). The variation in light settings affects the growth rate, photosynthesis, lipid metabolism, which is crucial to enhance the quantity and quality of diatom biomass for the high production of desired bioactive molecules. Therefore, light should be provided with specific spectral components, intensity, and duration. Multiple ecophysiological studies have been published reporting on the distinct behaviors of different diatoms and algae in response to variations in light (4,5). It has been shown that light quality has an impact on chloroplast migration and on the light acclimation reactions of photosynthesis (6,7). Red light has been linked to stimulating growth, ethylene production, lipid accumulation, and increasing thylakoid stacking (6,7,8). López-Figueroa et al.(1991) have suggested the involvement of phytochromes in increasing the intracellular nitrate content on exposure to red light for short periods altering the overall cellular nitrate content (9). Recent discoveries in genomics have revealed exciting information on phytochromes, blue-light sensing cryptochromes, and aureochromes (10). In a study by Jungandreas et al.(2014) it has been reported that P. tricornutum cells acclimated to both red and blue light have comparable profiles, but drastic changes in metabolites like pyruvate, malate and citrate which might be involved reorganisation of intrernal carbon flux during light shift experiments (11). In addition, various interdisciplinary studies have shown that light perceived by the red-light receptor (phytochromes) can regulate nutrient metabolism, cellular events, and signaling cascades (12). These discoveries are still in progress and much remains unknown, but these studies can be explored for application-based diatom experiments such as developing low-cost cultivation technology or efficient bioreactors.

In both culture medium and natural water bodies, light (intensity, distribution, photoperiod) may vary and will not behave similar to the dissolved salts or nutrients in culture medium. Therefore, the light intensity and color will have different impacts based on the volume of culture, geometrical shape of the reactor, shaker speed, aeration, types

of culture media like mixotrophic or heterotrophic conditions (13). Even though mixotrophic conditions have received attention from various researchers to increase biomass and total lipid but it also adds to cost and possible contamination challenges. Considering all these factors and the available literature on the photosensory abilities of *P. tricornutum*, it is of paramount importance to create an effective light distribution system that can be used for commercial applications while reducing cost of input energy. Some studies have investigated the production of mutants of different antenna size to create an effective strain for efficient light utilization, but this process resulted in a reduced fitness of strains (14,15).

In this study, we aimed to assess if specific shifts in light color enhance the biomass and total lipid content. Thus, we conducted the prescreening of different light colors on *P. tricornutum* in autotrophic and mixotrophic. We have used glucose and glycine as carbon source for our mixotrophic conditions considering the ease of availability. Furthermore, we expanded our investigation on timing of red-light exposure and light shift impact on wild-type *P. tricornutum* growth by analyzing its biomass, lipid, and fatty acid composition. Our research has shown the importance of light color, light availability, and timing of different red light (R) exposures, which can be explored as a strategy to enhance the industrial production of wild-type *P. tricornutum* biomass and lipid content. This study provides an alternative strategy that can be useful for lab and large-scale cultivation.

2.4 Materials and Methods

2.4.1 Microalgae Strain and Culture Conditions

The inoculum culture for all experiments was prepared the same: all the experiments were conducted into 250 mL Erlenmeyer flasks containing 50 mL of liquid media with and an initial inoculum size of 0.2 OD. Axenic cultures of *P. tricornutum* (Culture Collection of Algae and Protozoa CCAP 1055/1) were obtained from Western University, Canada. *P. tricornutum* cells were grown and maintained in L1 media without silica pH 8 (Artificial Sea Water) as described in (16) in 250 mL Erlenmeyer flasks (50 mL of culture)

at 18 ± 1 °C. The experiments were conducted in the growth Chamber CMP6050 with light intensity 75 µE m⁻² s⁻¹ and a photoperiod of 16:8 h light/dark cycles. The light source was cool white light F54T5/841, which was kept 60 cm above the bottom of the culture flask. The light conditions were variable by $\pm 1-2$ µE m⁻² s⁻¹ in different corners of the rotational shaker. The humidity of the chamber was 50% with no additional air supply, and the rotary shaker speed was fixed at 130 rpm.

For experiments, the transmittance spectrum of studied light wavelengths has been measured and reported in Chapter 3, Figure 1. The light intensity was decreased by 10 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹ using the red sheet. The growth of microalgae was measured by optical density at 680 nm every 48 h. The growth curve represented optical density, an indirect measurement of cell number plotted as a function of time and could be divided into four phases according to the slope representing the four stages lag, exponential, stationary, and death.

2.4.2 Experimental Setup for Autotrophic and Mixotrophic Culture under Different Light Colors

The study was divided into two series of experiments. The first set of preliminary experiments studied the impact of three light colors: Red (R), Yellow (Y), and White (W) in both mixotrophic and autotrophic conditions under the growth conditions explained above. All the experiments were conducted into 250 mL Erlenmeyer flasks containing 50 mL of liquid media with and an initial inoculum size of 0.2 OD. For mixotrophic cultivation, glucose or glycine was added to the L1 media at a concentration of 1%, which were labeled as 1 and 2, respectively. The experiment identifications are shown in Table 1. In this experiment, all the cultures were exposed to the conditions for the complete culture duration (i.e., from day 1 to day 10). We harvested the cultures at day 10 during the stationary phase.

I iah4	Autotuonhio	Mixotrophic		
Light	Autotrophic	1% Glucose	1% Glycine	
White (Control)	W	W1	W2	
Red	R	R1	R2	
Yellow	Y	Y1	Y2	

Table 1. Summary of *P. tricornutum* culture conditions and experiment identifications.

 P. tricornutum was cultured in L1 media, and all experiments were done in triplicate.

In the second series of experiments, the microalgae culture in autotrophic growth conditions was exposed to a light shift from red light to white light in different growth phases (Table 2). For this, *P. tricornutum* culture was submitted to red light treatment during the specific growth phase i.e., lag, exponential, stationary, and then cultures were exposed to white light labeled as RT1, RT2, RT3, and RS (Table 2). All experiments were done in triplicate. All the inoculum for these experiments were grown in control white light.

Table 2. Overall experimental plan of four culture conditions (red light treatment 1 to 3 and RS). After the R exposure using cellophane sheets during the treatment time period as mentioned for (RT1–RT3, RS), the sheets were removed, and *P. tricornutum* culture was exposed to the full spectrum of white light. In RT1, the culture was exposed to red light for first 4 days and then exposed to white light. In RT2, the culture was exposed to white light during first 3 days; then, it was exposed to red light by wrapping the flask from the fourth to seventh day and then again exposing the flask to white light. In RT3, the culture was exposed to white light until the seventh day and after was given red light treatment. Similarly, in RS, the red light was given from the first to seventh day and then exposed to white light for 72 h before harvesting. Below, the graphical representation of the setup aligned with the growth curve.

Treatment	Description
RT1	Red light exposure only during the lag phase (1 st -4 th day)
RT2	Red light exposure only during the log phase (4 th -7 th day)
RT3	Red light exposure only during the stationary phase (7 th -10 th day)
RS	Red light until the end of the log phase $(1^{st}-7^{th} day)$



2.4.3 Cell Growth and Biomass Analysis

Wild-type *P. tricornutum* was cultured in 5 mL of L1 medium in a flat-bottomed sterile 6-well culture plate with a lid (Costar[®], Cat no. 3516). The cultures were maintained with consistent shaking on an orbital shaker at 130 rpm. Cell growth was monitored by measuring the optical density at 680 nm using a Synergy H1 Microplate Reader, BioTek. All the conditions were studied in triplicate.

The biomass was estimated by dry weight by centrifuging of *P. tricornutum* cultures at $7000 \times g$ for 10 min on the 10th day. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was dried at 60 °C for biomass analysis until the constant mass was achieved.

2.4.4 Visualization of Lipid Bodies

Intracellular lipid bodies (LBs) were visualized using a modified Nile Red (9-diethylamino-5H-benzo[a]-phenoxazine-5-one) staining method (17,18). Briefly, 1 mL of the algal culture was centrifuged at $10,625 \times g$ for 10 min. Then, the cell pellet was resuspended in 500 µL of 20% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and vortexed for 1 min at room temperature. Cells were centrifuged at $10,625 \times g$ for 5 min, and the cell pellet was resuspended in 500 µL of water and vortexed before adding Nile red solution (0.5 mg mL⁻¹ dissolved in acetone) and incubated for 5 min in dark at room temperature. Stained LBs imaging was performed under a confocal laser scanning microscope (Leica

SP8) using $40 \times$ magnification. The Nile red fluorescence was detected using a UV light source at excitation/emission wavelengths of 488 and (490–550) nm.

2.4.5 Quantification of Total Lipids

Total lipids were extracted using Bligh and Dyer method (19) with the following modifications. To a 5 mL Eppendorf tube containing a known amount of dry algal biomass, mixtures of methanol and chloroform were added in 2:1 ratio. The mixture was vortexed for 2 min and incubated at room temperature for 24 h, after which 1 mL of chloroform and 0.9 mL of water were added. The mixture was vortexed for 2 min, and the different layers were separated by centrifugation for 10 min at $300 \times g$. The lower layer was evaporated, and the residue was dried at 80 °C for 30 min. The weight was calculated using a precision scale.

2.4.6 Nile Red Screening

In order to detect neutral lipids, Nile red assay (20,21) was done in 96-well plate. Briefly, 250 μ L of culture was added with 15 μ L of Nile red dissolved in acetone from the stock solution of 0.5 mg mL⁻¹. The plate was incubated in the dark at room temperature for 30 min. The fluorescence intensity was measured at an excitation of 530 nm and emission of 590 nm using a Synergy H1 Microplate Reader, BioTek.

2.4.7 Fatty Acid Profiling

Fatty acid methyl esters were prepared directly from the wet algal biomass. NaOH in methanol (1 mL of 0.5 N) was added to test tubes containing the biomass; then, the tubes were placed in a sonicating bath for 3 min, followed by heating at 90 °C for 10 min. The samples were allowed to cool, and 1 mL of 1.5% H₂SO₄ in methanol was added. Then, samples were heated again at 90 °C for 10 min. After cooling, 1 mL of water and 1 mL of hexane were added. Test tubes were vortexed for 2 min and then centrifuged at $1200 \times g$ for 5 min. The hexane layer containing Fatty acid methyl esters analysis (FAME)

was recovered and dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. FAME were quantified using temperature-programmed gas liquid chromatography on a Scion 436 gas chromatograph fitted with a 30 m \times 0.25 mm column coated with 50% cyanopropyl-methylpolysiloxane (DB-23) and linked to a computerized integration system (22). The fatty acid data were expressed as the mass percent of total fatty acid identified. Furthermore, the fatty acid profile was used to analyze the physical properties of biodiesel using biodiesel analyzer (21,23,24).

2.4.8 Statistical Analysis

All experiments were conducted in triplicate. Statistically significant differences were identified by one-way ANOVA performed on data with a 5% level of probability (p < 0.05) using GraphPad Prism software 8.1.2. followed by a pairwise mean comparison Tukey's test conducted where differences were detected.

2.5 Results and Discussion

2.5.1 Effect of Light Colors on Biomass and Lipid Yield in Mixotrophic and Autotrophic Conditions

For the mixotrophic conditions, two different carbon sources were used by supplementing the standard L1 media with 1% glucose (W1, Y1, and R1) or 1% glycine (W2, Y2, and R2). The highest biomass was achieved under the red light condition compared to white or yellow light (Figure 1A). Specifically, the level of biomass productivity obtained in autotrophic growth (R) was significantly higher by 1.16 and 1.05-fold compared to W and Y autotrophic conditions, respectively. Our results are in agreement with multiple studies that have reported an increased higher production rate of *Scenedesmus* sp. under red and blue light (25) and *Nannochloropsis* sp. under red and yellow light (26). No additional biomass was obtained in R1 or R2 conditions compared to R, suggesting that mixotrophic conditions are less interesting for an industrial application.



Figure 1. Analysis of *P. tricornutum* biomass (**A**) and lipid yield (**B**) in mixotrophic and autotrophic conditions under different colors of light. Abbreviations for the conditions are W: white, R: red, and Y: yellow, W1, R1 and Y1 refer to L1 media supplemented with 1% glucose, whereas W2, R2, and Y2 refer to the L1 media supplemented with 1% glycine. Each bar represents the average of three replicates, and error bars represent standard deviation. Means with different letters above the bars correspond to significant differences calculated using the multiple t-test. The columns identified with different letters (a–c) are significantly different using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a pairwise mean comparison Tukey's test where differences were detected (n = 3, p < 0.05).

The lipid production of *P. tricornutum* was significantly different in red light conditions where we observed red light culture supplemented with glycine showed maximum lipid production (Figure 1B). It was expected, as studies have reported an increase in biomass and lipids by multi-fold under mixotrophic conditions in different species (27,28). Furthermore, many studies have shown a positive trend of red light with

an increase in the specific growth rate and lipid production in *Chlorella, Botryococcus*, and *Nannochloropsis* (7,26,29). Another study showed a positive trend of the combined impact of red and blue light on biomass productivity and fucoxanthin production in *P. tricornutum* (30). However, contrasting results have been reported where they observed high productivity under yellow light as compared to red and blue light for *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* (13). However, these experiments were conducted in turbidostat controlled lab-scale panel photobioreactors and reported that in mass culture, productivity and biomass specific light absorption are inversely correlated (13). Furthermore, in the same study, they have reported that the supplementation of blue light to yellow light is better for stable cultivation.

The growth of microalgae in mixotrophic conditions is an interesting choice for enhancing the productivity of particular metabolites, which will vary according to the product of interest wanted (31). However, there are cost-effective and economic advantages to growth in mixotrophy if the carbon source is derived from cheap waste resources such as agricultural and municipal wastewater that are rich in micronutrients and carbon sources (32). There is good amount of research conducted on the impact of varied carbon source such as glucose, fructose, and glycerol on enhancing the biomass of P. tricornutum (31,33). However, our results, combined with findings from several published studies, have shown the importance of the spectral quality or mixing of wavelengths on the biomass and lipid production in different microalgae species as discussed above (7,13,25,26). Therefore, after prescreening the different light settings (W, R and Y) in both autotrophic and mixotrophic conditions along with few literature evidence, we planned to continue to investigating the red light filter for further experimentations in autotrophic conditions. Mixotrophic conditions are interesting choice, but it comes with certain challenges such as cost and bacterial contamination which does not mean that it should not be studied. But further down this chapter, we are investigating different light settings in autotrophic conditions.

2.5.2 Growth Curve Analysis of P. tricornutum during Red to white Shift

Studies have reported that variation in light color and intensity leads to change growth and metabolic pathways (32,33). Photoautotrophic conditions create certain limitations when grown in bioreactors because self-shading by microalgal cells in high-density cultures limits the light available for growth, which can be confirmed in lab-scale experiments by observing the growth curve. Therefore, to reduce the impact of either loss of light as heat or self-shading, the strategy of light shifting from one spectrum to another can trigger different photoreceptors to activate different light-signaling pathways, allowing a better conversion of light energy (34,35,36). Therefore, we investigated the effect of red to white light shifts on *P. tricornutum* growth during different growth phases under batch cultivation for 11 days.

P. tricornutum grown in red light until the end of exponential phase (from day 1 to 7) and then shifted to white light (RS) showed the greatest growth compared to all other conditions tested (Figure 2, Appendix A–Figure A1).



Figure 2. Growth curve of *P. tricornutum* in continuous white light (W), red light (R), and in red to white light shift (RS) (i.e., red light during the exponential phase and then white light during the stationary phase). Cells were grown on continuous shaking mode in 5 mL culture; each point represents the mean optical density at 680 nm of three independent experiments (\pm SD).

P. tricornutum cultured cells were adapting to each condition in a similar manner during the adaptation and exponential phases (Figure 2). It should be noted that there seems to be a crucial lag between day 4 and day 7 (exponential to stationary), where it is not clear whether cell growth continued before slowing down (Figure 2). Additionally, the slight difference between R and RS at day 7 is unexpected, since they were under the same conditions. It is possible that these small differences are due to replicate variation and growth chamber light variations. Indeed, when we checked the light intensity using the flux meter, we observed a variation in light intensity of 1–2 $\mu E~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$ between the different corners of the growth chamber, which could explain the variation between R and RS at day 7 and the width of the error bars. However, differences in growth were observed at the end of the exponential phase and during the stationary phase, where RS clearly promoted growth compared to other treatments (Figure 2; Appendix A-Figure A1). Indeed, at day 11, the RS growth was significantly higher with 22% and 14% more cells than continuous W and R light, respectively (Figure 2). The cell growth observed under R and RS treatment can be explained, in part, by the presence of a wide range of photoreceptors with the ability to sense red/far-red wavelengths and their potential to prevent photoinhibition (30,32). Few studies have reported that combination of red and blue spectra or supplementing with different spectra light can change the growth or mass productivity in P. tricornutum and Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. It could also be said cautiously that different species might respond to different combination of spectra differently considering the differences in pigment profile and chloroplast structure. (13,30). Furthermore, few literature studies have reported that microalgae might modulate the use of light throught different photoreceptors like crytochromes, aureochromes or phytochromes to have a specific response which are not yet completely understood. (2,37,38).

The W or full spectrum ($\lambda = 400-700$ nm) tends to cause slow growth while reducing the overall time of stationary phase as compared to R (Figure 2). Similar results have been reported for *Chlorella* sp. (39) and *Scenedesmus* sp. (25). In all, the RS further increased growth, which can be attributed to the use of different photoreceptors.

Interestingly, the timing of light shift was important. Indeed, red to white light shifts during other growth phases (lag, exponential, and stationary phase (RT1, RT2, and RT3) were not efficient to increase biomass compared to RS (Appendix A–Figure A1). Future work should investigate other experimental strategies to study circadian rhythms and photosynthesis during light shift conditions.

2.5.3 Analysis of Total Biomass and Lipid Content under Red to white Light Shift Treatment

The biomass of *P. tricornutum* was significantly greater with RS treatment by 2-fold and 1.4-fold compared to W and R conditions, respectively (Figure 3A). This correlates with increased cell density (Figure 2). In addition, our results confirm observations from another study on the impact of red light where biomass increased by 40% under enriched red light (40). Similarly, another study reported better growth and higher fucoxanthin content in *P. tricornutum* under red and blue light (30). That study is similar to our treatment RS, where we have supplied a red wavelength for the first 7 days and then exposed the culture to the white light during the stationary phase. Furthermore, it has been reported that cultured *P. tricornutum* under R contains a greater number of thylakoids, where light-dependent reactions occur, compared to *P. tricornutum* cultured in W (41). Altogether, the data suggest that the use of red light and variations thereof improves the overall biomass of *P. tricornutum* at the laboratory scale, offering a promising first stage, which should be pursued at a larger scale to be considered a useful strategy for industrial applications.



Figure 3. Analysis of *P. tricornutum* biomass (**A**) and total lipid accumulation (**B**) in autotrophic conditions under continuous white (W) light, red (R) light, and red with light shift (RS), which is red light during the exponential phase and then a shift to white light. The total lipids iExperiments were done in triplicate in 50 mL liquid culture, and cells were collected at day 10. Results are expressed as mean value \pm standard deviation. An asterisk (*) indicates significant differences compared to the white light (W) used as control. Statistical analysis was done using one-way ANOVA.

Total lipids were also analyzed in the same conditions, using dry weight estimation. Nile red assay was used for rapid screening of lipid and confocal microscopy for visual analysis, as described previously (20). *P. tricornutum* produces lipids that are potentially significant for several industrial applications. It has been reported that the crude lipids extracted from *P. tricornutum* are around 321.89 mg/g dry weight (42) or 34% of dry weight (43) and are comparable to the lipid extracted in W in our study, which is 0.4 g/g dry weight in control white light. Furthermore, the lipid dry weight in RS was significantly increased to 2.3-fold and 1.8-fold as compared to W and R, respectively (Figure 3B). It is interesting to note the 1.8 fold increase in lipid from R to RS, which suggests that

shifting from red light to full spectrum during the stationary phase has an impact on lipid accumulation. It is known that the usual change in the lipid composition is influenced by the cellular C/N ratio, light intensity, nutrient depletion, and other possible inducible biotic/abiotic stress conditions (28–30). An increase in C/N ratio, lipid, and carbohydrate in red light acclimated *P. tricornutum* culture has been reported (11). The same study reported an increase in the lipid content from red light to blue light shift, whereas the reverse shift, from blue to red light, promoted an increase in carbohydrates. In addition, lipid accumulation under red light has been observed in *Botryococcus* sp. (7) and Chlorella sp. (29), which can be linked with effective nitrogen consumption rate and a doubling of cell numbers in red light, which aids in increasing the total lipid content. In addition, high light intensity has been shown to affect lipid biosynthesis in Nannocloropsis gaditana, which has been correlated with the regulation of cytosolic fatty acid synthase of type 1 (FAS1) and polyketide synthase (PKS) and the down-regulation of the chloroplast fatty acid synthase of type 2 (FAS2) (45). One of the studies has reported a significant increase in lipids in P. tricornutum at low light, which is in the range of (30 µmol photons $m^{-2} s^{-1}$) and medium light (300 µmol photons $m^{-2} s^{-1}$) (46). Therefore, lower intensities or light shift treatment may also affect the expression levels of the cytosolic and chloroplastic fatty acid synthases, which in turn would regulate lipid content. Various studies have shown the relation between wavelength, specific wavelength, and wavelength shift on the accumulation of lipids, which can be attributed to enzymes involved in carbon cycle and lipid synthesis (11,40,47). Therefore, it appears that the combined effect of red-light acclimation and lower light intensity, observed by the red sheet, which reduces light intensity by 10 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹, may be acting together to increase the total lipids in RS (Figure 3B).

2.5.4 Visual Analysis of P. tricornutum Cell Morphology and Lipid Droplets

We next examined *P. tricornutum* lipid droplets using confocal microscopy (Figure 4). Our initial expectation based on a gravimetric analysis of lipids was to observe a change in the lipid droplet size. The results showed that the selected light conditions were not responsible for any changes in the morphology, size, or number of lipid droplets

of *P. tricornutum* cultures grown in the studied light conditions (Figure 4a,b). The morphological changes in cells are important for microbes to respond to various environmental conditions such as the state of media, the temperature, or the salinity. Previous studies have reported the presence of three morphotypes in P. tricornutum culture: oval, fusiform, and triradiate (48). It is also known that light absorption is the function of the cell shape, size, and pigments (49). Microscopic analyses (Figure 4c,d) revealed a high occurrence of fusiform cells, a limited number of triradiate shapes, and no appearance of the oval form in all of our growth conditions. It has been reported that the fusiform type is dominant in suspension culture over the other forms (43,50), which is in agreement with our tested conditions. It has also been reported that the triradiate P. tricornutum cells are rarely found in laboratory growth conditions (1,43). However, our study detected the presence of a limited number of triradiate cells (Appendix-Figure A2). P. tricornutum can be grown in both silicon or silicon-free medium; we studied silicon-free media, as it showed better growth for our strain, and it has been reported that fusiform cells have a greater lipid percentage as compared to other forms (43,51).



Figure 4. Microscopic fluorescent images (top) and transmitted with fluorescent overlay (bottom). Visualization of lipid droplets in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* using Nile red staining. Each panel represents Nile red staining of lipid droplets in white light conditions (**a**,**c**) and in red light (**b**,**d**). Scale represents 100 nm.

2.5.5 Fatty Acid Methyl Esters Analysis (FAMEs)

Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) were present in greatest abundance, followed by monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) and lower amounts of saturated fatty acids (SFA), which constituted 41.86%, 31.80%, and 26.34%, respectively (Table 3). MUFA levels were lower in RS (28.91%) compared to W (31.80%) or R (31.85%) (Table 3). In addition, the *P. tricornutum* PUFA ratio of omega-3/omega-6 was lower in R and RS compared to control W (Table 3). The evidence suggests that a high ratio of dietary omega-3/omega-6 PUFAs reduces the risk of several diseases (52). Therefore, *P. tricornutum* cultured in W is a potentially more valuable source of functional food and animal feed components than *P. tricornutum* cultivated under R or RS conditions. These results suggest that the RS condition regulated the fatty acid content in *P. tricornutum*, specifically lowering MUFAs and increasing PUFAs. It has been reported that stress conditions such as nitrogen depletion, high and low temperature, and continuous high light intensity slightly changes the fatty acid composition, specifically PUFA in *P. tricornutum* (53–55).

Table 3. Fatty acid (FA) composition (mass% of total FA identified) analyzed by GC with Flame-Ionization Detection (GC-FID) of *P. tricornutum* culture under different conditions (white light (W), red light (R), or red to white light shift (RS)). Data are expressed as the mean of three independent experiments.

Fatty acids	W	R	RS
Saturated fatty acids (SFA)	26.34	24.86	26.25
Monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA)	31.80	31.85	28.91
Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA)	41.86	43.29	44.83
Omega-3/Omega-6	6.46	5.68	5.77
Total	100	100	100

The distribution of fatty acids was characterized (Appendix A; Table A1), and various lipid classes of *P. tricornutum* are summarized in Table 4. The main lipid components were mid-chain FAs, 14:0, 16:0, 16:1n-7, and 20:5n-3, which together represented 76.46% of total fatty acids (Table 4). Our results are similar to those reported by (42). Palmitoleic acid (16:1n-7), which constituted 28.20% of the total FAs, was predominant in *P. tricornutum* control (W) but was reduced to 24.29% in RS condition (Appendix A; Table A1). Interestingly, hexadecatrienoic acid (16:3n-4) was increased in R and RS compared to W (Appendix A; Table A1). There was a comparable amount of the omega-3 fatty acid, eicosapentaenoic acid (20:5 n-3), in all light conditions and it constituted almost 22% of total acids, which was the second most predominant FA (Table 4). In other studies, it was the PUFA that was present in highest mass proportions (53–55). Humans do not produce sufficient long-chain omega-3 fatty acids to meet their physiological needs; therefore, it is essential to obtain them from external sources. Omega-3 fatty acids have been associated with proper fetal development, including neuronal, retinal, and immune function (56). They have also shown positive effects on

coronary disease and inflammation, and they have been approved for the treatment of patients with severe hypertriglyceridemia (33). These fatty acids are predominantly found in cold water fish, such as salmon. However, our work suggests that microalgae and diatoms can be considered as a sustainable and vegetarian source of omega-3 fatty acids.

Table 4. Fatty acid composition of total lipid in *P. tricornutum* cultured in different conditions such as full spectrum of white light (W), red light (R), or red to white shift (RS). Major fatty acids are identified as the mass percent of total fatty acids. Monounsaturated fatty acids are expressed as the sum of all fatty acids with that chain length. Data are the mean \pm standard deviation (SD) of three independent experiments.

C-D	Relative Fatty Acids (%)			
C:D	W	R	RS	
Saturated fatty acids (SFAs)				
14:0	8.64 ± 0.17	7.54 ± 0.02	8.39 ± 0.55	
16:0	15.18 ± 2.64	14.80 ± 1.80	15.24 ± 3.67	
18:0	0.40 ± 0.10	0.39 ± 0.06	0.42 ± 0.13	
20:0	0.07 ± 0.01	0.08 ± 0.01	0.08 ± 0.02	
22:0	0.16 ± 0.01	0.19 ± 0.01	0.20 ± 0.02	
24:0	1.32 ± 0.11	1.30 ± 0.02	1.41 ± 0.03	
Monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs)				
14:1	0.08 ± 0.02	0.09 ± 0.01	0.08 ± 0.01	
16:1	30.11 ± 1.38	30.25 ± 1.74	27.27 ± 1.65	
18:1	1.08 ± 0.46	1.07 ± 0.17	1.05 ± 0.39	
20:1	0.04 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.02	0.08 ± 0.03	
22:1	0.17 ± 0.04	0.12 ± 0.03	0.14 ± 0.04	
24:1	0.17 ± 0.02	0.11 ± 0.03	0.16 ± 0.04	
Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs)				
Omega-3				
18:3n-3	0.44 ± 0.06	0.36 ± 0.04	0.41 ± 0.04	
18:4n-3	0.21 ± 0.06	0.21 ± 0.03	0.23 ± 0.05	
20:3n-3	0.06 ± 0.03	0.05 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.02	
20:4n-3	0.18 ± 0.01	0.21 ± 0.02	0.24 ± 0.04	

C.D.	Relative Fatty Acids (%)			
C:D	W	R	RS	
20:5n-3	22.53 ± 1.23	21.59 ± 1.98	22.15 ± 3.24	
22:5n-3	0.19 ± 0.18	0.16 ± 0.04	0.18 ± 0.06	
22:6n-3	2.23 ± 1.96	1.72 ± 0.08	1.96 ± 0.27	
Omega-6				
16:2n-6	0.94 ± 0.20	1.13 ± 0.11	1.16 ± 0.19	
16:3n-6	0.96 ± 0.22	0.60 ± 0.15	0.76 ± 0.25	
18:2n-6	1.41 ± 0.25	1.51 ± 0.13	1.62 ± 0.021	
18:3n-6	0.18 ± 0.11	0.23 ± 0.03	0.21 ± 0.08	
20:2n-6	0.09 ± 0.03	0.10 ± 0.01	0.08 ± 0.03	
20:3n-6	0.05 ± 0.02	0.08 ± 0.02	0.07 ± 0.01	
20:4n-6	0.33 ± 0.8	0.62 ± 0.05	0.46 ± 0.08	
22:4n-6	0.03 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01	
22:5n-6	0.02 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01	

The structural features (chain length, unsaturation, and branching) of fatty acids determine the properties of algae-derived biodiesel, including ignition quality, heat of combustion, cold flow, oxidative stability, exhaust emissions, viscosity, and lubricity (57). Thus, the major fractions of fatty acid composition, which was accepted as input in the Biodiesel Analyzer, were studied for properties of biodiesel (23) (Table 5). For biofuel of an industrial quality, it needs to have similar physical properties as diesel, which can be used efficiently in combustion engines. According to a study, fatty acids with chain lengths ranging from C16 to C18 should be high in potential feedstock for suitable biodiesel production (58). It is suggested that FAME with a high percentage of monounsaturation (C16-C18) is the most desirable compromise between cold flow and oxidative stability (59). The W and R induced the production of monounsaturated fatty acids as compared to RS. The total percent of saturation and unsaturation—especially the amount of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids such as eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA)—will have an impact on the biodiesel fuel properties (60). The results showed that the cetane number (CN), which determines the ignition quality of the fuel, is higher in *P. tricornutum* cultured in R and RS as compared to W

(Table 5). It is known that the higher the CN, the better the ignition of the fuel and vice versa (57). Literature studies have also mentioned that increases in the degree of unsaturation lead to decreases in CN viscosity, which is a useful measure for monitoring oxidation progression. As reported, fuels with high viscosity meeting the international standards have better lubricating quality, which increases the life of the engine (61). In the same study, there is a relationship between hydrocarbon (HC) emission and viscosity. The HC emissions increase with decreasing viscosity (61). In our study, the viscosity is lower in all the conditions comparing the standard requirement of EN 14214:2008, but it meets the requirement of ASTM D6751.

Table 5. Values of physical properties of biodiesel related to the fatty acid compositions in each culture conditions (W, R, and RS) compared to the International Standard ASTM and EN14214.

Physical Properties	W	R	RS	EN 14214:2008	ASTM D6751
density	0.749	0.728	0.719	0.860-0.900	0.875–0.900
iodine value	122.5	118.4	121.6	< 120	-
cetane number	49.6	51.4	51.2	≥ 51	≥47
viscosity	2.7	2.6	2.6	3.5-5.0	1.9–6.0

Since this study presents the importance of light as a crucial factor for affecting biomass and lipid content in *P. tricornutum*, it supports its importance in metabolic processes of microalgae in the biotechnology field. However, the specific behavior of each species may be unique with respect to the varied light conditions, as supported by the following evidence studied in an interdisciplinary approach. For example, Orefice et al. (2016) showed that the fluctuation of red light on blue light spectral distribution affected the metabolic state of cells via increase in non-photochemical quenching and ultimately promoting an increase in carbohydrates, glycolipids, and saturated fatty acids in *Skeletonema marinoi* (62). In another study, it was observed that different doses of blue wavelengths cause significant alternations in the growth cycle of *Skeletonema marinoi* (63). The change in the growth pattern and biochemical composition can be referred to the ability of diatoms and microalgae to finely balance the light-harvesting and photoprotective capacity (64,65,66,67). The ability of diatoms to respond favorably to red

light is given to the presence of various photoreceptors such as phytochromes and exclusive aureochromes that are involved in the RL signaling process in *P. tricornutum* (68,69,70). In a different approach using spectroscopy, the occurrence of red-shifted fucoxanthin-chlorophyll protein (FCP) showing the fluorescence peak at 714 nm was observed (71). It is considered that *Phaeodactylum* red-shifted FCP is involved in enhancing the light-harvesting ability of cells by the prolonged excited state lifetimes and the absorption spectrum extended to wavelengths longer than 700 nm (71). In general, the clarity in the relationship between diatoms and light is still an open topic for researchers to study both fundamental as well as industrial applications.

Subtle changes in the fatty acid profile was observed under RS light shift condition which should be further investigated to have a potential application. Overall, it is interesting to note that changes in the specific wavelength during the stationary phase can impact the total accumulation of lipid and fatty acid composition.

2.6 Conclusions

In summary, the present study investigated the impact of red light (R) and a red to white shift to full spectrum (RS) on *P. tricornutum* cell growth, biomass, and lipid production. The introduction of the RS during the beginning of the stationary phase in the cultures of *P. tricornutum* had a positive impact on both biomass and lipid production. This is due to the favorable light pattern, as red light-acclimated cells during the lag and exponential phases provide better conditions for cellular and development processes and white light during the stationary phase helps in the accumulation of more lipids as compared to a single spectrum of light. It was also discovered that the specific light wavelength R and RS had a slight effect on the level of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), specifically the omega-3 fatty acid eicosapentaenoic acid (20:5 n-3). Moreover, a light shift can be an effective system to reduce the negative effects of self-shading and the proper distribution of light in large-scale photobioreactors. However, more detailed studies on photosystems and metabolite distribution in time-scale patterns are necessary to bring more clarity about wavelength shifts and lipid accumulation. In addition, the

experiment is easily replicable and scalable in developing countries with fewer resources. This system has the potential to be used to enhance the productivity while reducing the loss of biomass because of potentially excessive heat generation and self-shading due to high-density cultures. The acclimation and light shift studies for different species of microalgae such as diatoms, in both autotrophic and mixotrophic conditions, will open new avenues for algal biotechnology to help produce a wide range of special metabolites.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, N.S.; F.M.-M.; H.G., and I.D.-P.; methodology, N.S.; F.A; F.M.-M.; H.G. and I.D.-P.; validation, N.S; G.F.; F.A.; M.C.; S.B; F.M.-M.; H.G., and I.D.-P.; formal analysis, N.S.; F.A.; F.M.-M. and I.D.-P. investigation, N.S.; G.F.; and F.A.; writing—original draft preparation, N.S.; F.A.; F.M.-M. and I.D.-P.; writing—review and editing, N.S; G.F.; F.A.; M.C.; F.M.-M.; S.B.; H.G. and I.D.-P.; supervision, H.G. and I.D.-P.; project administration, I.D.-P.; funding acquisition, I.D.-P.

Funding: This research was funded by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada—Engage grant reference no CRDPJ/530085-18 to IDP. All students (N.S., G.F., and M.C.) and postdoctoral fellows (F.A) are supported by Mitacs—Acceleration program grant no IT12310 to IDP.

Acknowledgments: The authors wish to thank the industrial collaborator Mather Carscallen, PhD and Algae-C for sample and support. Bogumil Karas from Western University is acknowledged for providing the diatom culture. Additionally, a very special thanks to Mélodie B. Plourde and Guy Samson from UQTR for their precious discussion and information on confocal microscopy and photosynthesis respectively.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Abbreviations

LB	Lipid bodies
W	White light
R	Red light
Y	Yellow light
RS	Red to white shift
RT1-RT	Red light treatment
SFA	Saturated fatty acid
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acids
MUFA	Monounsaturated fatty acids
FAMEs	Fatty acid methyl ester

2.7 References

- 1. Martino, A.D.; Meichenin, A.; Shi, J.; Pan, K.; Bowler, C. Genetic and phenotypic characterization of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* (Bacillariophyceae) accessions1. Journal of Phycology. 2007, *43*, 992–1009.
- 2. Depauw, F.A.; Rogato, A.; Ribera d'Alcalá, M.; Falciatore, A. Exploring the molecular basis of responses to light in marine diatoms. Journal of Experimental Botany 2012, *63*, 1575–1591.
- 3. Vejrazka, C.; Janssen, M.; Benvenuti, G.; Streefland, M.; Wijffels, R.H. Photosynthetic efficiency and oxygen evolution of Chlamydomonas reinhardtii under continuous and flashing light. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology. 2013,97, 1523–1532.
- 4. Dring, M.J. Photocontrol of Development in Algae. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology. 1988, *39*, 157–174.
- 5. Furukawa. T.; Watanabe. M.; Shihira-Ishikawa. I.; Green- and blue-light-mediated chloroplast migration in the centric diatom Pleurosira laevis. Protoplasm 1998, 203, 214–220.
- 6. Holdsworth, E.S. Effect of growth factors and light quality on the growth, pigmentation and photosynthesis of two diatoms, *Thalassiosira gravida* and *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Marine Biology. 1985, *86*, 253–262.
- 7. Acuapan-Hern, J.; Canizares-Villanueva, R.O.; Cristani-Urbina, E. Red Light and Nitrogen Depletion Stimulate the Synthesis of Lipids and N-Alkadienes Susceptible to be Used as

Biofuels in *Botryococcus braunii* UTEX 2441 (Race A). Biotechnology An Indian Journal. 2017, *13*, 155.

- 8. Kreslavsky, V.D.; Kobzar, E.F.; Muzafarov, E.N. Effect of red radiation, kinetin and linuron on growth and ethylene production in *Chlorella*. Biologia. Plantarum. 1997, *39*, 427–430.
- 9. López-Figueroa, F.; Rüdiger, W. Stimulation of Nitrate Net Uptake and Reduction by Red and Blue Light and Reversion by Far-Red Light in the Green Alga *Ulva Rigida*.Journal of Phycology. 1991, *27*, 389–394.
- Armbrust, E.V.; Berges, J.A.; Bowler, C.; Green, B.R.; Martinez, D.; Putnam, N.H.; Zhou, S.; Allen, A.E.; Apt, K.E.; Bechner, M.; et al. The Genome of the Diatom *Thalassiosira Pseudonana*: Ecology, Evolution, and Metabolism. Science 2004, *306*, 79–86.
- 11. Jungandreas, A.; Costa, B.S.; Jakob, T.; von Bergen, M.; Baumann, S.; Wilhelm, C. The Acclimation of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* to Blue and Red Light Does Not Influence the Photosynthetic Light Reaction but Strongly Disturbs the Carbon Allocation Pattern. *PLoS ONE* 2014, *9*, e99727.
- 12. Wang, H.; Wang, H. Phytochrome Signaling: Time to Tighten up the Loose Ends. Molecular Plant. 2015, *8*, 540–551.
- 13. de Mooij, T.; de Vries, G.; Latsos, C.; Wijffels, R.H.; Janssen, M. Impact of light color on photobioreactor productivity. Algal Research. 2016, *15*, 32–42.
- 14. Bonente, G.; Formighieri, C.; Mantelli, M.; Catalanotti, C.; Giuliano, G.; Morosinotto, T.; Bassi, R. Mutagenesis and phenotypic selection as a strategy toward domestication of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* strains for improved performance in photobioreactors. Photosynthesis Research. 2011, *108*, 107.
- 15. Kirst, H.; García-Cerdán, J.G.; Zurbriggen, A.; Melis, A. Assembly of the Light-Harvesting Chlorophyll Antenna in the Green Alga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* Requires Expression of the TLA2-CpFTSY Gene. Plant Physiology. 2012, *158*, 930–945.
- Slattery, S.S.; Diamond, A.; Wang, H.; Therrien, J.A.; Lant, J.T.; Jazey, T.; Lee, K.; Klassen, Z.; Desgagné-Penix, I.; Karas, B.J.; et al. An Expanded Plasmid-Based Genetic Toolbox Enables Cas9 Genome Editing and Stable Maintenance of Synthetic Pathways in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. ACS Synthetic Biology. 2018, 7, 328–338.
- 17. Chen, W.; Zhang, C.; Song, L.; Sommerfeld, M.; Hu, Q. A high throughput Nile red method for quantitative measurement of neutral lipids in microalgae. Journal of Microbiological Methods. 2009, 77, 41–47.
- Kimura, K.; Yamaoka, M.; Kamisaka, Y. Rapid estimation of lipids in oleaginous fungi and yeasts using Nile red fluorescence. Journal of Microbiological Method.2004, 56, 331–338.
- 19. Bligh, E.G.; Dyer, W.J. A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. Canadian Journal of Biochemisty and Physiology. 1959, *37*, 911–917.

- Talebi, A.F.; Mohtashami, S.K.; Tabatabaei, M.; Tohidfar, M.; Bagheri, A.; Zeinalabedini, M.; Hadavand Mirzaei, H.; Mirzajanzadeh, M.; Malekzadeh Shafaroudi, S.; Bakhtiari, S. Fatty acids profiling: A selective criterion for screening microalgae strains for biodiesel production. Algal Research. 2013, 2, 258–267.
- 22. Budge, S.M.; Iverson, S.J.; Koopman, H.N. Studying Trophic Ecology in Marine Ecosystems Using Fatty Acids: A Primer on Analysis and Interpretation. Marine Mammal Science. 2006, *22*, 759–801.
- 23. Talebi, A.F.; Tabatabaei, M.; Chisti, Y. Biodiesel Analyzer: A user-friendly software for predicting the properties of prospective biodiesel. Biofuel Research Journal. 2014, 2, 55–57.
- 24. Ramírez-Verduzco, L.F.; Rodríguez-Rodríguez, J.E.; Jaramillo-Jacob, A. del R. Predicting cetane number, kinematic viscosity, density and higher heating value of biodiesel from its fatty acid methyl ester composition. Fuel 2012, *91*, 102–111.
- 25. Kim, T.-H.; Lee, Y.; Han, S.-H.; Hwang, S.-J. The effects of wavelength and wavelength mixing ratios on microalgae growth and nitrogen, phosphorus removal using *Scenedesmus sp.* for wastewater treatment. Bioresource Technology. 2013, *130*, 75–80.
- Shin, W.-S.; Jung, S.M.; Cho, C.-H.; Woo, D.-W.; Kim, W.; Kwon, J.-H.; Shin, W.-S.; Jung, S.M.; Cho, C.-H.; Woo, D.-W.; et al. Use of tar color additives as a light filter to enhance growth and lipid production by the microalga *Nannochloropsis gaditana*. Environmental. Engineering Research. 2018, 23, 205–209.
- 27. Smith, R.T.; Bangert, K.; Wilkinson, S.J.; Gilmour, D.J. Synergistic carbon metabolism in a fast growing mixotrophic freshwater microalgal species *Micractinium inermum*. Biomass Bioenergy 2015, *82*, 73–86.
- 28. Li, T.; Zheng, Y.; Yu, L.; Chen, S. Mixotrophic cultivation of a *Chlorella sorokiniana* strain for enhanced biomass and lipid production. Biomass Bioenergy 2014, *66*, 204–213.
- 29. Severes, A.; Hegde, S.; D'Souza, L.; Hegde, S. Use of light emitting diodes (LEDs) for enhanced lipid production in micro-algae based biofuels. Journal of Photochemistry and . Photobiology. B Biology. 2017, *170*, 235–240.
- 30. Yi, Z.; Su, Y.; Cherek, P.; Nelson, D.R.; Lin, J.; Rolfsson, O.; Wu, H.; Salehi-Ashtiani, K.; Brynjolfsson, S.; Fu, W. Combined artificial high-silicate medium and LED illumination promote carotenoid accumulation in the marine diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Microbial Cell Factories 2019, *18*, 209.
- 31. Cerón-García, M.C.; Fernández-Sevilla, J.M.; Sánchez-Mirón, A.; García-Camacho, F.; Contreras-Gómez, A.; Molina-Grima, E. Mixotrophic growth of *Phaeodactylum*

tricornutum on fructose and glycerol in fed-batch and semi-continuous modes. Bioresource. Technology. 2013, *147*, 569–576.

- 32. Pittman, J.K.; Dean, A.P.; Osundeko, O. The potential of sustainable algal biofuel production using wastewater resources. Bioresource. Technology. 2011, *102*, 17–25.
- Cerón García, M.C.; Sánchez Mirón, A.; Fernández Sevilla, J.M.; Molina Grima, E.; García Camacho, F. Mixotrophic growth of the microalga *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*: Influence of different nitrogen and organic carbon sources on productivity and biomass composition. Process Biochemistry. 2005, 40, 297–305.
- 34. Ooms, M.D.; Dinh, C.T.; Sargent, E.H.; Sinton, D. Photon management for augmented photosynthesis. Nature Communications. 2016, 7, 1–13.
- 35. Singh, A.K.; Bhattacharyya-Pakrasi, M.; Elvitigala, T.; Ghosh, B.; Aurora, R.; Pakrasi, H.B. A Systems-Level Analysis of the Effects of Light Quality on the Metabolism of a Cyanobacterium. Plant Physiology. 2009, *151*, 1596–1608.
- Fortunato, A.E.; Jaubert, M.; Enomoto, G.; Bouly, J.-P.; Raniello, R.; Thaler, M.; Malviya, S.; Bernardes, J.S.; Rappaport, F.; Gentili, B.; et al. Diatom Phytochromes Reveal the Existence of Far-Red-Light-Based Sensing in the Ocean. Plant Cell 2016, 28, 616–628.
- 37. Möglich, A.; Yang, X.; Ayers, R.A.; Moffat, K. Structure and Function of Plant Photoreceptors. Annual Review of Plant Biology. 2010, *61*, 21–47.
- 38. Mann, M.; Serif, M.; Jakob, T.; Kroth, P.G.; Wilhelm, C. PtAUREO1a and PtAUREO1b knockout mutants of the diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* are blocked in photoacclimation to blue light. Journal of plant Physiology. 2017, *217*, 44–48.
- Xu, B.; Cheng, P.; Yan, C.; Pei, H.; Hu, W. The effect of varying LED light sources and influent carbon/nitrogen ratios on treatment of synthetic sanitary sewage using *Chlorella vulgaris*. World Journal of Microbioogy and Biotechnology. 2013, 29, 1289–1300.
- 40. Sung, M.-G.; Han, J.-I.; Lee, B.; Chang, Y.K. Wavelength shift strategy to enhance lipid productivity of *Nannochloropsis gaditana*. Biotechnology for. Biofuels and bioproducts. 2018, *11*, 70.
- 41. Bína, D.; Herbstová, M.; Gardian, Z.; Vácha, F.; Litvín, R. Novel structural aspect of the diatom thylakoid membrane: Lateral segregation of photosystem I under red-enhanced illumination. Scientific Reports. 2016, *6*, 1–10.
- 42. Yang, Y.-H.; Du, L.; Hosokawa, M.; Miyashita, K.; Kokubun, Y.; Arai, H.; Taroda, H. Fatty Acid and Lipid Class Composition of the Microalga *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Journal of Oleo Science. 2017, *66*, 363–368.
- 43. Lewin, J.C.; Lewin, R.A.; Philpott, D.E. Observations on *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Journal of General Microbioogy. 1958, *18*, 418–426.
- 44. Liefer, J.D.; Garg, A.; Fyfe, M.H.; Irwin, A.J.; Benner, I.; Brown, C.M.; Follows, M.J.; Omta, A.W.; Finkel, Z.V. The Macromolecular Basis of Phytoplankton C:N:P Under Nitrogen Starvation. Frontiers in Microbiology. 2019, *10*, 763.

- 45. Alboresi, A.; Perin, G.; Vitulo, N.; Diretto, G.; Block, M.; Jouhet, J.; Meneghesso, A.; Valle, G.; Giuliano, G.; Maréchal, E.; et al. Light Remodels Lipid Biosynthesis in Nannochloropsis gaditana by Modulating Carbon Partitioning between Organelles. Plant Physiology. 2016, *171*, 2468–2482.
- 46. Heydarizadeh, P.; Veidl, B.; Huang, B.; Lukomska, E.; Wielgosz-Collin, G.; Couzinet-Mossion, A.; Bougaran, G.; Marchand, J.; Schoefs, B. Carbon Orientation in the Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*: The Effects of Carbon Limitation and Photon Flux Density. Frontiers in Plant Science. 2019, *10*, 471.
- 47. Teo, C.L.; Atta, M.; Bukhari, A.; Taisir, M.; Yusuf, A.M.; Idris, A. Enhancing growth and lipid production of marine microalgae for biodiesel production via the use of different LED wavelengths. Bioresource Technology. 2014, *162*, 38–44.
- 48. He, L.; Han, X.; Yu, Z. A Rare *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* Cruciform Morphotype: Culture Conditions, Transformation and Unique Fatty Acid Characteristics. PLoS ONE 2014, *9*, e93922.
- 49. Mock, T.; Kroon, B.M.A. Photosynthetic energy conversion under extreme conditions—II: The significance of lipids under light limited growth in Antarctic sea ice diatoms. Phytochemistry 2002, *61*, 53–60.
- Zhao, P.; Gu, W.; Wu, S.; Huang, A.; He, L.; Xie, X.; Gao, S.; Zhang, B.; Niu, J.; Peng Lin, A.; et al. Silicon enhances the growth of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* Bohlin under green light and low temperature. Scientific Reports. 2014, 4, 1–10.
- 51. Desbois, A.P.; Walton, M.; Smith, V.J. Differential antibacterial activities of fusiform and oval morphotypes of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* (Bacillariophyceae). Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. 2010, *90*, 769–774.
- 52. Simopoulos, A.P. The importance of the ratio of omega-6/omega-3 essential fatty acids. Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy. 2002, *56*, 365–379.
- 53. Ramesh Kumar, B.; Deviram, G.; Mathimani, T.; Duc, P.A.; Pugazhendhi, A. Microalgae as rich source of polyunsaturated fatty acids. Biocatalysis and Agriultural Biotechnology 2019, *17*, 583–588.
- Jiang, H.; Gao, K. Effects of Lowering Temperature During Culture on the Production of Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids in the Marine Diatom *Phaeodactylum Tricornutum* (Bacillariophyceae). Journal of Applied Phycology. 2004, 40, 651–654.
- 55. Liang, Y.; Beardall, J.; Heraud, P. Effects of nitrogen source and UV radiation on the growth, chlorophyll fluorescence and fatty acid composition of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* and *Chaetoceros muelleri* (Bacillariophyceae). Journal of Photochemistry and. Photobiology B:Biology. 2006, *82*, 161–172.
- 56. Swanson, D.; Block, R.; Mousa, S.A. Omega-3 Fatty Acids EPA and DHA: Health Benefits Throughout Life. Advances in Nutrition. 2012, *3*, 1–7.
- Hoekman, S.K.; Broch, A.; Robbins, C.; Ceniceros, E.; Natarajan, M. Review of biodiesel composition, properties, and specifications. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 2012, 16, 143–169.

- 58. Knothe, G. Improving biodiesel fuel properties by modifying fatty ester composition. Energy and Environmental Science. 2009, *2*, 759–766.
- 59. Hu, Q.; Xiang, W.; Dai, S.; Li, T.; Yang, F.; Jia, Q.; Wang, G.; Wu, H. The influence of cultivation period on growth and biodiesel properties of microalga *Nannochloropsis* gaditana 1049. Bioresource Technology. 2015, *192*, 157–164.
- 60. Ramos, M.J.; Fernández, C.M.; Casas, A.; Rodríguez, L.; Pérez, A. Influence of fatty acid composition of raw materials on biodiesel properties. Bioresource Technology. 2009, *100*, 261–268.
- 61. Nwafor, O.M.I. The effect of elevated fuel inlet temperature on performance of diesel engine running on neat vegetable oil at constant speed conditions. Renewable Energy 2003, 28, 171–181.
- 62. Orefice, I.; Chandrasekaran, R.; Smerilli, A.; Corato, F.; Caruso, T.; Casillo, A.; Corsaro, M.M.; Piaz, F.D.; Ruban, A.V.; Brunet, C. Light-induced changes in the photosynthetic physiology and biochemistry in the diatom *Skeletonema marinoi*. Algal Research. 2016, *17*, 1–13.
- Chandrasekaran, R.; Barra, L.; Carillo, S.; Caruso, T.; Corsaro, M.M.; Dal Piaz, F.; Graziani, G.; Corato, F.; Pepe, D.; Manfredonio, A.; et al. Light modulation of biomass and macromolecular composition of the diatom *Skeletonema marinoi*. Journal of Biotechnology. 2014, *192 Pt A*, 114–122.
- 64. Brunet, C.; Chandrasekaran, R.; Barra, L.; Giovagnetti, V.; Corato, F.; Ruban, A.V. Spectral Radiation Dependent Photoprotective Mechanism in the Diatom *Pseudo-nitzschia multistriata*. *PLoS ONE* 2014, *9*, e87015.
- 65. Rivkin, R. Influence of irradiance and spectral quality on the carbon metabolism of phytoplankton I. Photosynthesis, chemical composition and growth. Marine Ecology progress series. 1989, 55, 291–304.
- 66. Simionato, D.; Sforza, E.; Corteggiani Carpinelli, E.; Bertucco, A.; Giacometti, G.M.; Morosinotto, T. Acclimation of *Nannochloropsis gaditana* to different illumination regimes: Effects on lipids accumulation. Bioresource Technology. 2011, *102*, 6026–6032.
- 67. Aidar, E.; Gianesella-Galvão, S.M.F.; Sigaud, T.C.S.; Asano, C.S.; Liang, T.H.; Rezende, K.R.V.; Oishi, M.K.; Aranha, F.J.; Milani, G.M.; Sandes, M.A.L. Effects of light quality on growth, biochemical composition and photo synthetic production in *Cyclotella caspia Grunow* and *Tetraselmis gracilis* (Kylin) Butcher. Journal of experimental marine biology and ecology. 1994, *180*, 175–187.
- Costa, B.S.; Sachse, M.; Jungandreas, A.; Bartulos, C.R.; Gruber, A.; Jakob, T.; Kroth, P.G.; Wilhelm, C. Aureochrome 1a Is Involved in the Photoacclimation of the Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. PLoS ONE 2013, *8*, e74451.
- 69. Costa, B.S.; Jungandreas, A.; Jakob, T.; Weisheit, W.; Mittag, M.; Wilhelm, C. Blue light is essential for high light acclimation and photoprotection in the diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Journal of experimental botany. 2013, *64*, 483–493.

- Huysman, M.J.J.; Fortunato, A.E.; Matthijs, M.; Costa, B.S.; Vanderhaeghen, R.; den Daele, H.V.; Sachse, M.; Inzé, D.; Bowler, C.; Kroth, P.G.; et al. AUREOCHROME 1a-Mediated Induction of the Diatom-Specific Cyclin dsCYC2 Controls the Onset of Cell Division in Diatoms (*Phaeodactylum tricornutum*). Plant Cell 2013, 25, 215–228.
- 71. Oka, K.; Ueno, Y.; Yokono, M.; Shen, J.-R.; Nagao, R.; Akimoto, S. Adaptation of lightharvesting and energy-transfer processes of a diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* to different light qualities. Photosynthesis Research 2020, doi: 10.1007/s11120-020-00714-1.

Chapter III

Impact of Different Light Characteristics on the Growth and Lipid Content of Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* Transconjugant Strains

Nikunj Sharma¹, Elisa Ines Fantino¹, Fatima Awwad¹, Natacha Mérindol¹, Arun Augustine¹, Fatma Meddeb¹, Isabel Desgagné-Penix^{1,2}

¹ Department of Chemistry, Biochemistry and Physics, Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières, Trois-Rivières, Québec, Canada

² Plant Biology Research Group, Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières, Trois-Rivières, QC, Canada

[†]Corresponding author <u>Isabel.Desgagne-Penix@uqtr.ca</u>

Published- January, 2023, American Journal of Plant Sciences

3.1 Author Contribution

The major and initial creation of conceptualization and methodology was done by N.S and I.D.-P. All the Co-Authors have contributed in the following sections.

Conceptualization, N.S.; F.M.-M.; and I.D.-P.
Methodology, N.S.; F.A.; E.F.; N.M.; F.M.-M.; and I.D.-P.
Validation, N.S.; F.A.; E.F.; A.A.; N.M.; F.M.-M.; and I.D.-P.
Formal analysis, N.S.; F.A.; E.F.; A.A.; N.M.; F.M.-M.; and I.D.-P.
Investigation: N.S.; F.A.; E.F.; A.A.; N.M.
Writing-original draft preparation, N.S.; F.A.; E.F.; A.A.; N.M.; F.M.-M. and I.D.-P.
Writing-review and editing- N.S.; F.A.; E.F.; A.A.; N.M.; F.M.-M.; and I.D.-P.
Supervision: I.D.-P.
Project administration, I.D.-P.; funding acquisition, I.D.-P.
All authors have read and agreed to the published.
Full article: Analysis of different light characteristics on the growth and lipid content of

Full article: Analysis of different light characteristics on the growth and lipid content of diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* transconjugant strains

3.2 Abstract

Light regulates important metabolic processes in microalgal cells, which can further impact the metabolism and the accumulation of biomolecules such as lipids, carbohydrates, proteins and other metabolites. Different light settings have been studied on various strains of the model diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*, but not on transconjugant cells and information on wild-type strains is still limited. Therefore, we studied the impact of different light characteristics such as spectral quality, light intensity and light shift on growth, lipid and fatty acid composition on *P. tricornutum* cells to provide a alternative for industrial application. Initially, we tested the impact of spectral quality and light intensity on *P. tricornutum* transformed with an episomal vector (*Ptev*), harboring the resistance gene *Sh ble*. Results indicated that *Ptev* cells accumulated more biomass and overall lipids in spectral quality Red 1 (R1: 34% > 600 nm > 66%) more effectively as compared to Red 2 (R2: 8% > 600 nm > 92%). It was also detected that cell granulosity was higher in R1 as compared to R2. Furthermore, by testing two light intensities 65 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ and 145 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ light, it was observed that 145 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹
lead to an increase in growth trend, total biomass and lipid. Combining spectral qualities and light intensities, we show that as the photon flux density increased, the lipid accumulation raised by 2.8-fold. Studying the light intensity and spectral quality allowed us to optimize the light conditions to R1 spectral quality and light intensity 145 µmol m⁻² s^{-1} . These initial results showed that red light R1 at 145 umol $m^{-2} s^{-1}$ was the best condition from the tested conditions for biomass and total lipids accumulation in Ptev cells. Next, we further used the studied light conditions with a third light setting, *i.e.* light shift, where the cultures were shifted during the early stationary phase from R1 light setting to white light. We studied Red to white shift (Rs) to investigate how light condition variations impact on *P. tricornutum* transconjugants *Pt*ev and with an episomal vector containing reporter gene YFP (*Pt*YFP). We observed that Rs induced a subtle change in growth and fatty acid Eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) in Ptev as compared to PtYFP. Altogether, the study shows that red to white shift of R1 at 145 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ promoted biomass and total lipids accumulation in *Ptev* and *PtYFP* cells. The study provides a approach to using different light settings with the aim to optimize growth and lipids, as well as to fatty acid production.

Keywords- *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*, light condition, episomal vector, diatoms, fatty acids, biomass

Abbreviations:

R1 - spectral quality Red 1 which is 34% > 600 nm > 66%
R2 - spectral quality Red 2 which is 8% > 600 nm > 92%
EPA – Eicosapentaenoic acid
FAME- Fatty acid methyl esters
SFA – Saturated Fatty Acids
MUFA – MonoUnsaturated Fatty Acids
PUFA – PolyUnsaturated Fatty Acids
GC-MS – Gas Chromatography-mass spectrometry
YFP- Yellow fluorescent protein

3.3 Introduction

Currently, there is a growing concern about the need of renewable feedstock for human fulfilment and the consequences of overconsumption by the ever-growing human population. Our society would highly benefit from including the principles of bioeconomy, such as using more renewable biomass and utilizing/recycling by-products, instead of non-renewable feedstock for non-essential uses (1). Microalgae and diatoms hold a big potential to contribute to solving problems related to the lack of renewable feedstock because of their possible usage in fossil fuel-based technologies (2-5). Moreover, the potential of using *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* species to produce a variety of industrially important bioproducts such as fatty acids-derived molecules, is gaining interest (6). Fatty acid derivatives, such as hydroxy fatty acids, fatty alcohols, fatty acid methyl/ethyl esters, and fatty alka(e)nes, have a wide range of industrial applications including bioplastics, cosmetics, pharmaceuticals, lubricants, and fuels (7).

Adaptability, maintenance, and regulation of biochemical and physiochemical processes under high stress conditions are key features of diatoms, which could be exploited for sustainable economy and human well-being. These characteristics give diatoms the plasticity to respond and survive in the changing ecosystem and to utilize the resource in the most efficient manner (8-10). Diatoms have the potential to adapt to different conditions such as variations in light intensity, spectral quality and light shift (11-13). It is well established that precise light condition has a significant and strong impact on the overall functioning of microalgae photosystem and nutrient cycle. For example, blue light controls the onset of cell division, while shifting the culture from red to blue light increases the production of proteins (10). Spectral quality also influence the light signalling pathways (10, 12, 14-18). Several studies have reported on the impact of different spectral light qualities on P. tricornutum growth, biomass, lipids and pigment accumulation (19-21). It was observed that, red and blue lights have an impact on accumulation of sterols (20), lipids (22) and pigments (23). The total amount of sterols was lowest in blue light and sterol glycosylation was affected with a 100-fold decrease in steryl glycosides under blue light and a 100-fold decrease in acylated steryl glycosides under red light (20). In addition to the spectral quality, and variations in light intensity affects the growth and metabolites production by manipulating biological processes such as membranes

remodelling, polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) biosynthesis, rerouting, light-harvesting or photo-protection activity in *P. tricornutum* (23, 24).

More recently, metabolic engineering has also been used to investigate the potential of diatoms for industrial uses such as increasing the total biomass, lipid production etc. For example the biolistic transformation in P. tricornutum has been used to produce omega fatty acids, betulin and its precursors (25, 26). Also studies have the shown that overexpression of reporter genes such as GFP and YFP modulating the growth and biomass in Phaeodactylum tricornutum and Rhodobacter sphaeroaides respectively (27, 28). Furthermore, overexpression of a putative plastidial pyruvate transporter has been used to increase biomass, lipid content, and growth (29). For the production of proteins or metabolites of interest, metabolic engineering researchers exploit the potential of bacteria and yeasts, however these platforms do not always support the assembly of complex plant-derived metabolic pathways. Microalgae cells possess several advantages over other microorganisms; (i) unlike prokaryotic bacteria, microalgae are able to perform the post-translational modifications of recombinant proteins necessary to the native eukaryotic organism, (ii) as is the case in plants, recombinant protein expression in microalgae can be done through the nuclear, mitochondrial or chloroplastic genomes. The latter is well established and allows one to successfully bypass nuclear regulation mechanisms, (iii) microalgae biomass doubles in size every 48 hours allowing rapid largescale production, (iv) autotrophic or heterotrophic growth conditions can be used, (v) cultivation in photobioreactors insure control of growth conditions and prevents the possible escape of transgenes into the wild. Thus, microalgae such as diatoms represent an ideal platform to support the production of complex plant metabolites (30). Nuclear transformation offers the advantages of post-translational modifications of recombinant proteins, the possibility of protein targeting and flexibility in regulatory expression (native or heterologous promoters and untranslated regions). However, the main disadvantage of nuclear transformation is the low expression levels of the genes of interest due to silencing and positions effects (random integration). The chloroplastic gene transformation offers higher levels of transgenic protein accumulation but is localized in the chloroplast, lacks post-translational modifications, and is limited in regulatory tools. Both, nuclear and chloroplastic transformation are also limited in the size of the transgenes to be inserted.

Recently, Slattery et al have used the robust episomal conjugative system to edit urease gene with 60% efficiency and stably transform eight genes involved in vanillin synthesis for 4 months with no rearrangement (31). To this date, no study has reported on the impact of the episomal vector and the presence of reporter gene on *P. tricornutum* growth and metabolism. Therefore, we have used the episomal based transformation to clone YFP as reporter gene to analyse its impact on growth, lipid, and fatty acid profile.

In the actual context, *P. tricornutum* holds great promise for the light-driven bioproduction of biofuels and high-value, industrially relevant biochemicals (6). They are the primary food and energy sources in many aquatic food systems and play an important ecological role in global carbon and silicon cycling. In this study, we aim to provide a strategy to study light-based experiments on bioengineered *P. tricornutum* to get a view of light intensity, light shift and spectral quality impact on biomass, lipid accumulation and fatty acid composition. Furthermore, we provide a possible alternative route to acknowledge the importance of culture conditions on diatoms-based compounds production both in *P. tricornutum* Containing the resistant gene *Sh ble* in the episomal vector (*Ptev*) and *P. tricornutum* YFP transconjugants harboring genes of interest fused with YFP fluorescent proteins (*Pt*YFP). We also analyzed the effect of light on YFP accumulation by studying YFP fluorescence levels, and on the lipid accumulation or fatty acid composition of *P. tricornutum*.

3.4 Methodology

3.4.1 Growth and culture conditions

Axenic *P. tricornutum* Bohlin, (Culture Collection of Algae and Protozoa CCAP 1055/1), was kindly provided by Prof. Bogumil Karas from Western University, Canada. Cultures were maintained in L1 media. Experiments for growth curve were done in 250 mL flask with 50 mL L1 media with an equal inoculum size of 0.2 OD at absorbance 680 nm (OD_{680nm}). *P. tricornutum* cells were grown and maintained in L1 media without silica at pH 8 (Artificial Sea Water) in a growth chamber at 18 ± 1.5 °C with cool white light, as standard condition, for 16:8 h light/dark photoperiod of cycles and shaking at 120 rpm.

3.4.2 Transconjugant strains generation, and selection

Recombinant plasmid named here YFP consist in the pPtGE30 plasmid (31) carrying genes of interest fused to yellow fluorescent protein (YFP) in N-terminal. The reporter genes are under the regulatory region that contains a strong constitutive promoter (40SRPS8) and a fucoxanthin-chloroplast protein complex A (FcpA) as terminator.

Saccharomyces cerevisiae VL6-48 (ATCC MYA-3666: MATa his3-A200 trp1-A1 ura3-52 lys2 ade2-1 met14 cir0) was used for the yeast assembly as described previously (30). Positive yeast strains containing His selection grew on minimal yeast media without histidine. A pool of the grown yeasts was harvested 5 days after assembly and total DNA was extracted as described previously (35). Assembled plasmids was then amplified in chemicompetent Escherichia coli (Epi300, Epicenter) grown on Luria Broth (LB) media supplemented with appropriate antibiotic (chloramphenicol (25 mg.L⁻¹)) overnight at 37°C. Plasmids were then extracted from chloramphenicol-E. coli colonies that were tested by colony PCR using a miniprep kit allowing the extraction of large vectors (Biobasic EZ10 miniprep kit, NY, USA). Plasmids were verified by sequencing and then amplified in E. coli Epi 300 strain containing pTA-MOB plasmid to allow conjugation with wild type diatoms as described in the literature (30). Transfer of plasmid DNA to P. tricornutum via conjugation from E. coli was performed as described (36). For this, 250 μ L of wild type *P. tricornutum* culture were adjusted to a density of 10⁸ cells.mL⁻¹, this density was obtained by plating 1 mL of wild type P. tricornutum on $1/2 \times L1$ 1% agar plates and grown at 18 °C under cool fluorescent lights (75 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ on a light/dark cycle of 16/8h for 4 days. Prior to transformation, 1 mL of L1 media was added to each agar plate, cells were scraped then harvested by pipetting in a sterile tube. Cells were then diluted and mounted in an improved Neubauer hemacytometer (BLAUBRAND®counting chamber, Sigma, USA) to be counted and then cell concentration was adjusted to $5.0 \times$ 10⁸ cells.mL⁻¹. A volume of 50 mL *E. coli* culture containing the assembled plasmid and pTA-MOB was grown at 37°C under agitation to OD_{600nm} of 0.9. Cells were then centrifuged at 3,000 g for 10 min and resuspended in 500 µL of SOC media. Conjugation was initiated by adding 200 μ L of *P. tricornutum* to 200 μ L of *E. coli* cells. The cell mixture was then plated on ½ L1, 5% LB, 1% agar plates, incubated at 30 °C for 90 min

in the dark and then transferred to 18 °C in the light and grown for 2 days. Two days later, 1 mL of L1 media was added to the plates to collect cells by scrapping and a volume of 200 µL of cells were plated on $\frac{1}{2}$ L1, 1% agar plates supplemented with zeocin 50 µg.mL⁻¹ for selection and incubated at 18 °C under light (75 µE m⁻²s⁻¹). Two weeks later, colonies were collected and streaked again on $\frac{1}{2}$ L1, 1% agar plates supplemented with zeocin 50 µg mL⁻¹. Positive colonies were screened by fluorescence under a fluorescent Stereo Microscope Leica M165 FC with GFP filter. YFP fluorescence from *P. tricornutum* transconjugants was assessed using the Synergy H1 Bio Tek microplate reader. A volume of 200 µL cell culture transconjugants was measured for fluorescence in black 96 well plate at Ex/Em wavelengths of 500/539 nm (n=3). Strains containing plasmid YFP (17,389 bp) and pPtGE30 (16,149 bp) are named here *Pt*YFP and *Pt*ev respectively

3.4.3 Flow cytometry and fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS)

The BD FACS Melody (BD Biosciences, La Jolla, CA, USA) equipped with blue (488 nm), red (640 nm) and violet (405 nm) lasers were used to sort *Pt*YFP cells according to YFP production. Prior to the first sort, selected cells were grown in L1 liquid medium supplemented with Zeocin (50 μ g.mL⁻¹) and grown for 14 days. *P. tricornutum* cultures were washed in L1 medium, filtered on a 100 μ m Nylon Net filter (Merck Millipore, Ireland) and diluted to an OD680 nm= 0.1 in L1 media prior to sorting.

Events were acquired at a fixed flow rate and at least 10,000 events were analysed. Cells were gated according to FSC-A (forward scatter area) and SSC-A (side scatter area) parameters and doublons were excluded according to further gating on homogeneous FSC-H (height) *vs.* FSC-W (width) and SSC-H *vs.* SSC-W populations. Chloroplast autofluorescence was measured on the PerCP channel (700/54 nm). Cells with high homogeneous levels of PerCP fluorescence were further gated, whereas cells with high non-specific autofluorescence were excluded based on their emission in 448/45 nm channel. YFP was further analysed on the 527/32 nm band-pass filter channel. Sorted cells $(1.0 \times 10^5 \text{ cells.mL}^{-1})$ were collected in 1.5 mL tube containing 500 µL of L1 media without antibiotics, centrifuged 10 min at 3,500 x g and 90-95% of the supernatant was removed and replaced by 500 µL of L1 media supplemented with Zeocin 50 µg.mL⁻¹, chloramphenicol 35 µg.mL⁻¹ and ampicillin 100 µg.mL⁻¹ to avoid contamination. This

was used as inoculum to L1 media 20 mL culture, supplemented with Zeocin 50 μ g.mL⁻¹. *Pt*ev cells were used as negative control.

For the second round of sorting, 1^{st} round-sorted cultures were incubated for 11 days and diluted in 1 mL to an OD_{680nm} of 0.1. The cultures were then grown for another 11 days, and sorted, following the same procedure. In this round, non-fluorescent (YFP⁻) *Pt*YFP cells were sorted too. After the second sorting round, *Pt*YFP YFP⁺ fluorescent and YFP⁻ non-fluorescent cells were monitored for 11 and 23 days, respectively to monitor YFP production. Figures and statistics were analyzed using BD FlowJo version 10 software (BD Biosciences, La Jolla, CA, USA, 2020).

3.4.4 Light settings

Spectral Quality – We studied the different spectral quality impacts such as (Red 1 (R1), Red 2 (R2) Blue (B), Yellow (Y) and White (C)) on *P. tricornutum* which were provided using the different light or filters. The wavelength absorbed by the filters were obtained by measuring the spectra scanning between 400-700 nm using Synergy H1 Microplate Reader, BioTek (Supplementary Figure 1). Transmittance curve is calculated from the absorption curve. A = $2 - \log_{10} \%$ T (T= Transmittance) therefore, we can calculate the transmittance by undoing the log function(%T = antilog (2 – absorbance) . The methodology was adopted from the following article (37). We used here different filters (red, blue, yellow), compared to white light as control, to study the impact of different light spectra on growth and lipid. The following conditions were used to study the *P. tricornutum* cell growth trend and lipid accumulation.



Figure 1. Analysis of *P. tricornutum (Ptev)* biomass (a) and spectral transmittance used (b) under different colors of light. Abbreviations for the conditions are C: white, B: blue, Bs: blue shift, Y: yellow, Ys: yellow shift, R: red R2, Rs: red R2 shift, r: red R1, and rs: red R1 shift. Each bar represents the average of three replicates, and error bars represent standard deviation. * correspond to significant differences calculated using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a pairwise mean comparison Tukey's test where differences were detected (n = 3, p < 0.05).

Light intensity- The flux density of 65 μ mol m⁻²s⁻¹ Low light (LL) and 145 μ mol m⁻²s⁻¹ Medium light (ML) was used in the present study for the effect on growth trend and lipid profile.

Light shift- The light shift is a strategy where we shift the cultures from one light condition to another condition after a certain period of time. As such, the cultures were grown under red light until they reached an OD_{680mn} of 0.6 absorbance units (*i.e.* 5-6 days) and then cultures were shifted from red light to white light to growth until collection. The data of red to white shift was compared to data from cultures grown in continuous red

light. We performed a pre-screen for all the spectral quality (R1, R2, B, Y and C) and the respective light shift (R1s, R2s, Bs, Ys) to decide on the best light conditions to be used for further optimization (Supplementary Figure 1)

3.5 Lipid analysis

Total lipid were extracted using Bligh and Dyer method with slight modifications (38). Briefly, to a 5 mL Eppendorf tube containing a known amount of dry algal biomass, mixtures of methanol and chloroform were added in 2:1 ratio. The mixture was vortexed for 2 min and incubated at room temperature for 24 h, after which 1 mL of chloroform and 0.9 mL of water were added. The mixture was vortexed for 2 min again, and the different layers were separated by centrifugation for 10 min at $300 \times g$. The lower layer was evaporated, and the residue was dried at 80 °C for 30 min. The weight was calculated using a precision scale.

3.6 Neutral Lipid detection by flow cytometry

Equal volumes of cultures sampled on day 6 and 8 were centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was discarded and 10% of DMSO was added. Tubes were vortexed for 30 seconds and centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was mixed with 1 mL of autoclaved milli-Q water. Cultures were further aliquoted to 250 µL in 96 well black plate and 10 µL of Nile red (9-(diethylamino)-5h-benzo[a]phenoxazinone) (0.1 mg mL⁻¹ dissolved in acetone) was added. Plates were incubated for 10 min in the dark. The accumulation of intracellular lipid was measured on an FC500 MPL cytometer (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA, USA) equipped with Air-cooled Argon ion laser, 488 nm and a red solid-state laser, 631 nm. The fluorescence signals of both the control and stained cells were acquired to gate for Nile-Red⁺ cells in the 620 nm/20 FL3 channel. Data was analysed using FlowJo software (FlowJo LLC, Ashland, OR, USA). Other variables like cell size, granulosity and chlorophyll were also measured from different channels.

3.7 GC-MS analysis of fatty acids

Fatty acid methyl esters were prepared directly from the wet algal biomass. NaOH in methanol (1 mL of 0.5 N) was added to test tubes containing the biomass; then, the tubes were placed in a sonicating bath for 3 min, followed by heating at 90 °C for 10 min. The samples were allowed to cool, and 1 mL of 1.5% H₂SO₄ in methanol was added. Then,

samples were heated again at 90 °C for 10 min. After cooling, 1 mL of water and 1 mL of hexane were added. Test tubes were vortexed for 2 min and then centrifuged at $1200 \times g$ for 5 min. The hexane layer containing Fatty acid methyl esters analysis (FAME) was recovered and dried over anhydrous sodium sulphate. FAME was quantified using temperature-programmed gas liquid chromatography on a Scion 436 gas chromatograph fitted with a 30 m × 0.25 mm column coated with 50% cyanopropyl-methylpolysiloxane (DB-23) and linked to a computerized integration system (39). The fatty acid data were expressed as the mass percent of total fatty acid identified as described previously (22).

3.8 Statistics

All experiments were conducted in triplicate. Statistically significant differences (SD) were identified paired t-test and two-way ANOVA performed on data with a 5% level of probability using Graph Pad Prism software 9.2.0. We have used * to annotate the statistical significance which are as following: * $p \le 0.05$, ** $p \le 0.01$, *** $p \le 0.001$, **** $p \le 0.00001$.

4 Results

4.1 Effect of light characteristics on cell growth and lipid accumulation of *P*. *tricornutum* transconjugant cells

Diatoms *P. tricornutum* are popular microalgae for the production of biofuels and lipids. In a previous work, we studied the effect of light on *P. tricornutum* in autotrophic and mixotrophic conditions to promote biomass and lipids accumulation. It was observed that red light and red to white shift (*i.e.* substituting red light by white light), impacted biomass yield and lipid content of wild type *P. tricornutum* (22). With the development of efficient conjugation-based transformation system allowing the introduction of stable episomes (31), *P. tricornutum* has become an ideal platform for metabolic engineering applications such as the production of biofuels and lipids. However, the impact of the presence of an episome and high levels of heterologous proteins on *P. tricornutum* growth or lipid accumulation has not been measured. Similarly, the impact of different light characteristics on *P. tricornutum* transconjugant cells containing an episomal vector has not been investigated.

We first evaluated the effect of different light characteristics (*i.e.* spectral quality, light intensity, and light shift) on *P. tricornutum* transconjugant cells containing an episomal vector (*Ptev*). We confirmed our prior analysis by testing the spectral quality of Red (R), Blue (B), Yellow (Y), White light (C) on biomass (Fig. S1b). Similar to results obtain with *P. tricornutum* wild type cells (22), the only characteristic that significantly impacted biomass accumulation of *Pt*ev transconjugant cells was red to white shift which causing > 1.5 fold increase (Fig. 1a).

To strengthen our knowledge on the effects of the different compositions of red light spectra, we used two types of red (R) filter, *i.e.* R1 with 66 % of transmittance of over 600 nm and in R2 with transmittance spectra of 90 % in over 600 nm (Fig. 1b). When comparing the two R1 and R2 spectra qualities on *Pt*ev biomass and growth, we observed R1 light condition resulted in a more effective biomass accumulation and growth as compared to R2 (Fig. 2a, Fig. 3a). Then, we evaluated the impact of R1 and R2 on the lipid content of *Pt*ev using gravimetric analysis (38). The average lipid content in R1 was 1.6-fold higher as compared to R2, but the difference was not statistically significant (Fig.

2b). Since R1 significantly increased *Pt*ev biomass and impacted lipid accumulation, R1 was selected for the subsequent experiments.



Fig. 2. Effect of different light characteristics on *P. tricornutum* cells growth and lipid accumulation. The effect on (a) biomass - dry weight (mg/L) and on (b) lipids accumulation as measured by the Bligh and Dyer method was determined. The different light characteristics includes spectra: shows the effect of the exposure to spectra quality R1 (34% > 600 nm > 66%) and R2 (8% > 600 nm > 92%), intensity: shows the effect of the exposure to light intensities of 65 and 145 μ mol.m⁻².s⁻¹ and shift: with the light conditions of continuous red light (RL) and red to white shift (Rs). All data points are presented as a mean of triplicates with standard deviation (n = 3). * statistically different using two-way Anova, *p* < 0.05.



Figure 3. Analysis of the growth of *P. tricornutum* transconjugant cells containing an empty episomal vector (*Ptev*) following (a) the effect of two different spectra quality where R1 (34% > 600 nm > 66%) and R2 (8% > 600 nm > 92%) and (b) the exposure to two different light intensities of 65 and 145 μ mol.m⁻².s⁻¹. Each bar represents the average of three replicates, and error bars represent standard deviation. Statistically significant differences were identified using a paired t-test and two-way ANOVA performed on data with a 5% level of probability. We have used * to annotate the statistical significance which are as following: * p ≤ 0.05, ** p ≤ 0.01, *** p ≤ 0.001, **** p ≤ 0.00001.

Next, we investigated the impact of two light intensities, (*i.e.* 65 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ and 145 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) of R1 filter on *Pt*ev cells by monitoring the growth curve. The results showed that during the lag phase, cell growth did not differ with respect to the initial light intensity, consistently with the fact that this is an adaptation phase. However, the growth rate, as measured at OD_{680nm}, significantly increased at 145 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ as compared to 65 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ until the end of the exponential phase (Fig. 3b). However, we calculated the dry weight biomass of *Pt*ev and noted that there was no difference between the light intensities (Fig. 2a). Furthere, we observed that R1 spectral quality provides a significant increase in lipid accumulation at 145 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ as compared to 65 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹.



Figure 4 : Analysis of lipid content for *Pt*ev under two red light intensity 65 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ and 145 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ on day 5 and day 8. We have used * to annotate the statistical significance which are as following: * p ≤ 0.05 , ** p ≤ 0.01 , *** p ≤ 0.001 , **** p ≤ 0.00001 .

We further investigated two shortlisted conditions red light spectra (R) and red to white shift (Rs) (from red to white light spectra) on *Pt*ev cells based on previous results obtained with *P. tricornutum* wild type cells (22). Results showed that *Pt*ev biomass accumulates in both, R and Rs conditions, however the accumulation of lipids was significantly higher in Rs (Fig.2b).

4.2 Effect of red and red to white shift on cell growth, lipid analysis in different *P*. *tricornutum* transconjugants

P. tricornutum transconjugant cells represent an interesting biotechnological alternative for the production of various biomolecules such as lipids however the impact of the episome and the expression of its inserted genes on *P. tricornutum* transconjugant is not known. As such, we investigated the effect of the above selected Rs condition on *Pt*ev and on *P. tricornutum* transconjugant cells containing the same episomal vector but to which the yellow fluorescent protein (YFP) reporter gene under the control of a strong constitutive promoter was added. Thus, in addition to have to replicate an episome like *Pt*ev cells, *Pt*YFP cells express and accumulate recombinant proteins. In order to select cells with high levels of heterologous recombinant protein YFP, the *Pt*YFP transconjugant cells used in this study were obtained after repetitive sorting rounds of FACS that ensured the enrichment of the YFP fluorescence as described in materials and method section.





Figure 5: FACS analysis of *P. tricornutum* transconjugant cells containing an empty episomal vector (Ptev) and an episomal vector expressing the reporter gene YFP (PtYFP) and cell sorting.

In the above-mentioned results, we further investigated the effect of the two shortlisted conditions R and Rs on the growth of *Pt*ev and *Pt*YFP transconjugant cells. It was observed that the growth trend in transconjugant with the reporter gene (*Pt*YFP) was slow as compared to without reporter gene (*Pt*ev). The growth for *Pt*YFPR was significantly slower as compared to *Pt*evR and *Pt*evRs for days 3,4,5,6,7,8,9,11 (Fig. 6a). After day 5,

culture were shifted to white light (Rs,) and it was observed that after the light shift, PtevRs growth was significantly higher as compared to PtYFPR on day 6,7,8, and 11. Lipid accumulation at day 6 and 8 was then measured by Nile red staining analysis using a flow cytometer and dry weight estimation using Bligh and Dyer method (Fig. 6b,c). As previously noted, lipid accumulated in higher amounts when Ptev was submitted to Rs (Fig. 2b; Fig. 6b, c). Interestingly, there was more lipids per cell in PtYFP as compared to Ptev for all conditions at both day 6 and 8, although results were only significant when comparing PtevR with PtYFP-R and PtYFP-Rs (Fig. 6b). Even though, the data was bit different when compared with dry weight lipid on day 8, the data showed that Rs was effective and significantly increased the total lipid in both Ptev and PtYFP (Fig. 6c).



Fig. 6. Effect of two different light conditions Red light (R1) and Red to white shift (Rs) on *P. tricornutum* transconjugant cells containing an empty episomal vector (*Ptev*) and an episomal vector harboring the Yellow fluorescent Protein reporter gene (*PtYFP*). (a) Growth curve over 15 days of *P. tricornutum* transconjugant cells *Ptev* and *PtYFP*. (b) Lipid estimation by Nile Red staining and measured by flow cytometer (Mean fluorescence intensity; MFI). (c) Dry weight lipid estimation using gravimetric method on day 8. (d) Ratio of the fluorescence YFP over the number of cells for *PtYFP* growth in R and Rs conditions.

We also observed the impact of R and Rs on total YFP fluorescence of PtYFP-R and PtYFP-Rs. Results showed a max fluorescence intensity at day 3 for the two recombinant

strains (Fig. 6d). The difference in fluoroscence coming out of the transconjugants cultures could be related to difference in protein accumulation or rearranged episomes which has been discussed in discussion. Interestingly, we observed more granulosity in R1 as compared to R2 (Fig. 7).



Figure 7- Mean intensity of cell granulosity calculated using FACS for *Pt*ev in R1 and R2. * $p \le 0.05$.

4.3 Fatty Acid composition of Ptev and PtYFP in Red Light and Red to white shift

The fatty acid (FA) composition of *Pt*ev and *Pt*YFP cells grown under R and Rs condition showed no significant differences (Table 1 and 2). The FA composition (% of total FA) for *Pt*ev and *Pt*YFP in R and Rs condition are similar and showed a highest abundance (44.66-50.30 %) of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) (Table 1), whereas monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) and saturated fatty acids (SFA) are in same abundance level (around 25% each). These results are comparable to those previously described for *P. tricornutum* wild type (22).

Table 1: Fatty acid (FA) composition (mass % of total FA identified) analysed by gas chromatography (GC) with Flame-Ionization Detection (GC-FID) from *Pt*ev and *Pt*YFP biomass under two light conditions (R and Rs) on Day 9. (n=3)

Fatty acids	<i>Pt</i> evR	PtevRs	<i>Pt</i> YFPR	Pt YFPRs
SFA	24.2±3.23	24±1.04	27.55±4.2	27.05±4.25
MUFA	27.69±1.33	25.7±1.13	27.79±2.93	27.84±3.03
PUFA	48.11±7.63	50.30±2.21	44.66±8.63	45.11±9.29

Total	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00

The exact fatty acids identified from *Pt*ev and *Pt*YFP are summarized in Table 2. The main FA components for all samples analyzed in this study were mid- and long-chain FAs, 14:0, 16:0, 16:1n-7, and 20:5n-3. Palmitoleic acid (16:1n-7) was predominant, compared to the other FAs, in all samples under R and Rs light conditions tested. The only FA that was significantly different was eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), with *Pt*evRs displaying the maximum amount of EPA which was approximately 23% and 17% more as compared to *Pt*YFPR and *Pt*YFPRs respectively (Two way ANOVA, P<0.05).

Table 2: Major fatty acid composition of total lipid in *Pt*ev and *Pt*YFP Red light (R) and Red to white shift (Rs). Data are the mean \pm standard deviation (SD) of three replicates (n=3)

	Fatty				
	acid				
Fatty acid name	formula	<i>Pt</i> evR	<i>Pt</i> evRs	<i>Pt</i> YFPR	<i>Pt</i> YFPRs
Myristic acid	14:0	7.16 ± 0.03	7.38 ± 0.17	7.53 ± 0.20	7.45 ± 0.33
Palmitic acid	16:0	15.73 ± 2.74	15.24 ± 0.69	18.03 ± 3.32	17.73 ± 3.24
Palmitoleic acid	16:1n-7	23.63 ± 0.32	21.01 ± 0.35	22.97 ± 0.47	21.57 ± 0.84
Stearic acid	18:0	0.58 ± 0.3	0.55 ± 0.12	1.17 ± 0.50	1.07 ± 0.55
Oleic acid	18:1n-9	0.42 ± 0.14	0.58 ± 0.35	0.89 ± 0.37	1.36 ± 0.86
Eicosapentaenoic acid*	20:5n-3	20.99 ± 4.31	24.23 ± 0.58	18.5 ± 3.6	20.04 ± 4.52
Docosahexaenoic acid	22:6n-3	1.98 ± 0.17	2.36 ± 0.06	1.40 ± 0.20	1.75 ± 0.35

Analysis of fatty acid profile of transconjugants *Pt*ev and *Pt*YFP in Red and Red to white shift conditions. We have used * to annotate the statistical significance which are as following: * $p \le 0.05$, ** $p \le 0.01$, *** $p \le 0.001$, **** $p \le 0.00001$. The data for fatty acid Eicosapentaenoic acid was significant as following- Ptev vs PtevRs (**), PtevRs vs PtYFP (****), PtevRs vs PtYFPRs (***).

5. Discussion

Diatoms are affected by different conditions and light is one of the important factors. Growth and biomass tends to increase with precise light and culture conditions whereas lipids tends to increase under stress conditions. Moreover, the photosynthetic apparatus in diatoms are distinctly different as compared to green algae and plants which provides us an alternative route to produce biomass for industrial use. Recent advances in both physiochemical and synthethic biology, many reseachers are investigating *Phaeodactlyum tricornutum* for there potential to produce lipids and fatty acid production. This study investigated the impact of light settings on transconjugants *Ptev* and *Pt*YFP for growth, lipid and fatty acid composition. An analysis on transconjugants showed that light settings can have subtle impact on growth, lipid and fatty acid profile

We showed that there was significant increase in both growth and harvested biomass for *Ptev* in R1 as compared to R2 (Fig 1, Fig. 2). Previously, Valle et al and Yi et al and coauthors showed that optimal red:blue ratio can improve light harvesting efficiency (19, 23).

We also observed cell granuolosity which is affected by the cell morphology and chemical composition such as starch and lipid (40). And we noticed a significant increase in granulosity in R1 as compared to R2 which charaterizes the optical complexity of the cell which is dependent on particulate matter inside the cell (Fig. 7) (41). There are few plausible explanation such as change in thylakoid structure in different light conditions (42) and change in curvature of endoplasmic reticulum during lipid droplet expansion (43). Although detail mechanism is still unclear and needs more verifications. Importance of the quantity of red light spectra on growth and fucoxanthin accumulation (44) and lipid synthesis (45, 46) has been reported and is in support with our results. R1 was chosen for our next experiments.

Considering the light intensity, it was observed that tested light conditions LL and ML have shown no difference in the total biomass but a significant increase in total lipid in ML (Fig 2-4). Even though high growth rate was observed for ML during the exponential phase, it was expected to have high biomass which was not observed (Fig. 2a). Although, there are few studies reported on faster growth trend of *P. tricornutum* in medium light

intensity, as compared to low and high light intensity (23, 47, 48). It has been shown the non photochemical energy intensity is higher in ML (300 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) as compared to LL (30 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) which might be one of the reason for decrease in total biomass in our experiment (47). Therefore, part of incoming light energy may be getting dissipated as heat energy when cultures are grown in 145 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹. Alternatively it can also be said that light use efficiency is higher under LL (65 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) which has been mentioned by Li et al (48). These studies and ours suggest that light intensity between 120 and 220 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ is an suitable choice for various industrial applications, subject to further optimization based on bioreactor-based observations. Observing that light intensity can have change the total lipid, we tested the impact of R1 spectral quality at 65 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ and 145 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ and observed that, as we increase the photon flux density to 145 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ the total lipid increases by 2.5 folds (Figure 4). There is one study reporting a drop in fucoxanthin, chlorophyll a and beta-cryptoxanthin content under 255 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ red light as compared to 128 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ red light (23). Thus, light intensity of a specific light quality can change the compositions of metabolites such as pigments and lipids.

Here, the light characteristics promoting lipid accumulation [spectral quality - R1 and light intensity-145 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ with red to white shift, was selected to study the effect on *P. tricornutum* transconjugants (*Ptev* and *Pt*YFP), the latter accumulating reporter fluorescent proteins. fluorescent proteins is known to have a noticeable impact on various cellular events (27, 49, 50). Studies has been published to use GFP and YFP to enhance the overall spectral coverage and increase the light harvesting efficiency in *P. tricornutum* and *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* respectively. Considering that only 5% of of the total photons is converted to biomass in diatoms, so it is needed to manipulate the spectal composition to reduce the possible dissipation of excess light by using fluorescent proteins (27, 28). Also, there is one study that we came across that have studied the impact of culture conditions on episomal vector along with reporter gene mVenus for the production of heterologous protein (51). Here, we assessed if the episomal vector along with reporter gene YFP could have an impact on growth, biomass, lipid and fatty acid profiles.

We did cell corting and by the 2rd round of sorting, 76 % of the cells were positive and used for further analysis (Figure 5). This suggests that heterologous protein production

such as YFP by extrachromosomal expression can be stably enriched in *P. tricornutum* transconjugants (52).

The growth of the *Pt*YFP transconjugants was significantly slower as compared to *Pt*ev in both R and Rs. This could be discussed in two different context i.e., replication of episomal vector and fluoroscence of YFP. The size of episomal vector and fluorescence of YFP could negatively affect *P. tricornutum* by extra energy consumption or dissipation and therefore leading to slow cell division rate (Fig. 6). It has been reported that rate of replication in episomal vector is comparable to native nuclear *P. tricornutum* and have reported the stability of episomes for 4 weeks but no enzymatic activity for the heterologous protein. (30). A study have reported the comparable growth between transgenic controls, wild type and episome containing heterologous gene with a reporter gene mVenus which is a fluorescent protein (51). The same study observed impact of continuous light or light/dark on culture and found no change in the mVenus fluorescence. Also, it is known that YFP emit yellow fluorescence which is not the suitable wavelength to be absorbed by accessory pigment fucoxanthin and reduces the overall photosynthesis efficiency. (53). The fluorescent proteins are not just sensitive to light conditions but conditions such as pH, chloride ion concetration, pressure and temperature which can affect the expression of fluorescent proteins (54-56). Therefore, there is a small possibility that the change in light conditions might affect the overall accumulation of protein or total fluorescence inside the cells by modulating the intracellular spectral composition (Fig. 6(d)).

Diatoms induce the synthesis of lipid droplets under various stress and culture conditions like light (57, 58) and nitrogen limitation (59). Here we showed that *Pt*YFP has slower growth in both Red light and Red to white shift as compared to *Ptev* but have shown significant increase in lipid accumulation on Day 6 and Day 8 in both light conditions (Fig. 6). And the similar trend of increase in growth and lipid in red to white shift was observed in wild type *P. tricornutum* (22). Furthermore, we have reported a decrease in total polyunsaturated fatty acids in YFP transconjugants along with significant decrease in EPA, which is one of the major polyunsaturated fatty acids in *P. tricornutum* (Table 1). Generally, the increase in unsaturated fatty acids or specifically EPA is known to have an important function in the structure of the thylakoid membrane and regulating

photosynthesis such as high pool of EPA in glycerolipids like sulfoquinovosyl diacylglycerides associated with crucial activities like photosynthesis, energy transduction and plastid membranes (60-62). Red light spectra was shown to increase specific fatty acids such as hexadecatrienoic acid (16:3) and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) (20:5), which might be due to induction phospholipase activity which might induce the recycling of plastidial membrane free fatty acids (63).

This study have provided an alternative approach of studying light on transconjugants growth, lipids and fatty acid composition which are few in number in published literature. And the data obtained from this study have opened new questions regarding the use of combination of different light conditions, use of episomal vectors and reporter genes to study diatoms for industrial applications. Although we could not come to a distinct conclusion about the precise light charaterisitics that could increase the overall growth, lipid and the specific fatty acid profile in transcojugants. The data obtained from the study shows the small differences between *P. tricornutum*, transconjugants, carrying, or not, a reporter fluorescent protein.

6. Conclusion

Light conditions (light intensity, spectral quality and light shift) can affect the growth, lipid, specific fatty acid and possibly the accumulation of heterologous protein accumulation. We performed physiochemical studies to analyse the impact of spectral quality (R1 and R2), light intensity (LL & ML) on *Pt*ev to to select R1 and ML as the suitable light characteristics for our further studies. However, analysing more spectral compositions along with different light intensity is definitely needed to further expand the database. Using R1 and ML, we tested red to white shift impact on transconjugants (*Ptev* and *PtYFP*). Red to white shift have shown increasing trend for both growth and lipid in transconjugants. And in general the growth of *Pt*ev was more as compared to *Pt*YFP. It was also observed that there could be an impact of episomal vector or reporter gene on growth, biomass and fatty acid EPA. So there can be some unknown challenges of using episomal vector and fluorescent proteins as the data could be misleading or inconsistent. Therefore, it needs further investigations on the mode of transformation considering the spatial dynamics of episomal vector, localisation of the proteins and how different light or culture conditions could impact the protein production.

Acnowledgments

We acknowledge that financial support for this research was funded by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada through the Alliance program Award No ALLRP 554429-20 and ALLRP 570476-2021 to I.D-P. Additional support in the form of scholarships to N.S., E.F., F.A. and A.A. from Mitacs—Acceleration program grants no IT12310, IT16463 and IT19432 to I.D-P. is also acknowledged.

Authors contributions

N.S., F.M. and I.D-P. contributed to the study conception and design. Methodology, material preparation, data collection and analysis were performed by N.S., E.F., F.A., N.M., A.A. and F.M. The first draft of the manuscript was written by N.S. E.F., F.A., N.M., A.A. and F.M. edited previous versions of the manuscript. I.D-P. supervised the project and secure funding. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Statement of competing interest

The authors have no competing or financial interests to declare that are relevant to the content of this article.

References

 Muscat A, de Olde EM, Ripoll-Bosch R, Van Zanten HHE, Metze TAP, Termeer CJAM, et al. Principles, drivers and opportunities of a circular bioeconomy. Nature Food. 2021;2(8):561-6.
 Li H-Y, Lu Y, Zheng J-W, Yang W-D, Liu J-S. Biochemical and Genetic Engineering of Diatoms for Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid Biosynthesis. Mar Drugs. 2014;12(1):153-66.

3. Monika Prakash R, Trishnamoni G, Nikunj S. Effect of Salinity, pH, Light Intensity on Growth and Lipid Production of Microalgae for Bioenergy Application. OnLine Journal of Biological Sciences. 2015;15(4).

4. Benedetti M, Vecchi V, Barera S, Dall'Osto L. Biomass from microalgae: the potential of domestication towards sustainable biofactories. Microbial Cell Factories. 2018;17(1):173.

5. Sharma N, Simon DP, Diaz-Garza AM, Fantino E, Messaabi A, Meddeb-Mouelhi F, et al. Diatoms Biotechnology: Various Industrial Applications for a Greener Tomorrow. Frontiers in Marine Science. 2021;8(106).

6. Dhaouadi F, Awwad F, Diamond A, Desgagne-Penix I. Diatoms' breakthroughs in biotechnology: *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* as a model for producing high-added value molecules. American Journal of Plant Sciences 2020;11(10):1632-70.

7. Yu A-Q, Pratomo Juwono NK, Leong SSJ, Chang MW. Production of Fatty Acid-Derived Valuable Chemicals in Synthetic Microbes. Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology. 2014;2.

8. Jin P, Agustí S. Fast adaptation of tropical diatoms to increased warming with trade-offs. Scientific Reports. 2018;8(1):17771.

9. Koehne B, Elli G, Jennings RC, Wilhelm C, Trissl HW. Spectroscopic and molecular characterization of a long wavelength absorbing antenna of Ostreobium sp. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Bioenergetics. 1999;1412(2):94-107.

10. Jungandreas A, Schellenberger Costa B, Jakob T, von Bergen M, Baumann S, Wilhelm C. The Acclimation of Phaeodactylum tricornutum to Blue and Red Light Does Not Influence the Photosynthetic Light Reaction but Strongly Disturbs the Carbon Allocation Pattern. PLOS ONE. 2014;9(8):e99727.

11. Lehmuskero A, Skogen Chauton M, Boström T. Light and photosynthetic microalgae: A review of cellular- and molecular-scale optical processes. Progress in Oceanography. 2018;168:43-56.

12. Taddei L, Chukhutsina VU, Lepetit B, Stella GR, Bassi R, van Amerongen H, et al. Dynamic Changes between Two LHCX-Related Energy Quenching Sites Control Diatom Photoacclimation. Plant Physiology. 2018;177(3):953-65.

13. Oka K, Ueno Y, Yokono M, Shen J-R, Nagao R, Akimoto S. Adaptation of light-harvesting and energy-transfer processes of a diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum to different light qualities. Photosynthesis Research. 2020;146(1):227-34.

14. Lockhart J. Blue Light Checkpoint: How Blue Light Controls the Onset of Cell Division in Diatoms. The Plant Cell. 2013;25(1):1-.

15. Schellenberger Costa B, Jungandreas A, Jakob T, Weisheit W, Mittag M, Wilhelm C. Blue light is essential for high light acclimation and photoprotection in the diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Journal of Experimental Botany. 2012;64(2):483-93.

16. Büchel C, Wilhelm C, Wagner V, Mittag M. Functional proteomics of light-harvesting complex proteins under varying light-conditions in diatoms. Journal of Plant Physiology. 2017;217:38-43.

17. De Tommasi E. Light Manipulation by Single Cells: The Case of Diatoms. Journal of Spectroscopy. 2016;2016:2490128.

18. Carvalho AP, Silva SO, Baptista JM, Malcata FX. Light requirements in microalgal photobioreactors: an overview of biophotonic aspects. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology. 2011;89(5):1275-88.

19. Valle KC, Nymark M, Aamot I, Hancke K, Winge P, Andresen K, et al. System Responses to Equal Doses of Photosynthetically Usable Radiation of Blue, Green, and Red Light in the Marine Diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum. PLOS ONE. 2014;9(12):e114211.

20. Véron B, Billard C, Dauguet J-C, Hartmann M-A. Sterol composition of Phaeodactylum tricornutum as influenced by growth temperature and light spectral quality. Lipids. 1996;31(9):989-94.

21. Villanova V, Singh D, Pagliardini J, Fell D, Le Monnier A, Finazzi G, et al. Boosting Biomass Quantity and Quality by Improved Mixotrophic Culture of the Diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Frontiers in Plant Science. 2021;12.

22. Sharma N, Fleurent G, Awwad F, Cheng M, Meddeb-Mouelhi F, Budge SM, et al. Red Light Variation an Effective Alternative to Regulate Biomass and Lipid Profiles in Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Applied Sciences. 2020;10(7):2531.

23. Yi Z, Su Y, Cherek P, Nelson DR, Lin J, Rolfsson O, et al. Combined artificial high-silicate medium and LED illumination promote carotenoid accumulation in the marine diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Microbial Cell Factories. 2019;18(1):209.

24. Conceição D, Lopes RG, Derner RB, Cella H, do Carmo APB, Montes D'Oca MG, et al. The effect of light intensity on the production and accumulation of pigments and fatty acids in Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Journal of Applied Phycology. 2020;32(2):1017-25.

25. D'Adamo S, Schiano di Visconte G, Lowe G, Szaub-Newton J, Beacham T, Landels A, et al. Engineering the unicellular alga Phaeodactylum tricornutum for high-value plant triterpenoid production. Plant Biotechnol J. 2019;17(1):75-87.

26. Hamilton ML, Haslam RP, Napier JA, Sayanova O. Metabolic engineering of Phaeodactylum tricornutum for the enhanced accumulation of omega-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids. Metabolic Engineering. 2014;22:3-9.

27. Fu W, Chaiboonchoe A, Khraiwesh B, Sultana M, Jaiswal A, Jijakli K, et al. Intracellular spectral recompositioning of light enhances algal photosynthetic efficiency. Sci Adv. 2017;3(9):e1603096-e.

28. Grayson KJ, Faries KM, Huang X, Qian P, Dilbeck P, Martin EC, et al. Augmenting light coverage for photosynthesis through YFP-enhanced charge separation at the Rhodobacter sphaeroides reaction centre. Nature communications. 2017;8(1):13972.

29. Seo S, Kim J, Lee J-W, Nam O, Chang KS, Jin E. Enhanced pyruvate metabolism in plastids by overexpression of putative plastidial pyruvate transporter in Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Biotechnology for Biofuels. 2020;13(1):120.

30. Karas BJ, Diner RE, Lefebvre SC, McQuaid J, Phillips APR, Noddings CM, et al. Designer diatom episomes delivered by bacterial conjugation. Nat Commun. 2015;6(1):6925.

31. Slattery SS, Diamond A, Wang H, Therrien JA, Lant JT, Jazey T, et al. An Expanded Plasmid-Based Genetic Toolbox Enables Cas9 Genome Editing and Stable Maintenance of Synthetic Pathways in Phaeodactylum tricornutum. ACS Synthetic Biology. 2018;7(2):328-38.

32. Amoruso G, Liu J, Polak DW, Tiwari K, Jones MR, Oliver TAA. High-Efficiency Excitation Energy Transfer in Biohybrid Quantum Dot–Bacterial Reaction Center Nanoconjugates. The Journal of Physical Chemistry Letters. 2021;12(23):5448-55.

33. Sung M-G, Han J-I, Lee B, Chang YK. Wavelength shift strategy to enhance lipid productivity of Nannochloropsis gaditana. Biotechnology for Biofuels. 2018;11(1):70.

34. Fuente D, Keller J, Conejero JA, Rögner M, Rexroth S, Urchueguía JF. Light distribution and spectral composition within cultures of micro-algae: Quantitative modelling of the light field in photobioreactors. Algal Research. 2017;23:166-77.

35. Kouprina N, Lee NCO, Kononenko AV, Samoshkin A, Larionov V. From Selective Full-Length Genes Isolation by TAR Cloning in Yeast to Their Expression from HAC Vectors in Human Cells. In: Narayanan K, editor. Bacterial Artificial Chromosomes. New York, NY: Springer New York; 2015. p. 3-26.

36. Karas BJ, Jablanovic J, Sun L, Ma L, Goldgof GM, Stam J, et al. Direct transfer of whole genomes from bacteria to yeast. Nature Methods. 2013;10(5):410-2.

37. Gilbert PUPA, Haeberli W. Experiments on subtractive color mixing with a spectrophotometer. American Journal of Physics. 2007;75(4):313-9.

38. Bligh EG, Dyer WJ. A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. Can J Biochem Physiol. 1959;37(8):911-7.

39. Budge SM, Iverson SJ, Koopman HN. STUDYING TROPHIC ECOLOGY IN MARINE ECOSYSTEMS USING FATTY ACIDS: A PRIMER ON ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION. Marine Mammal Science. 2006;22(4):759-801.

40. Hyka P, Lickova S, Přibyl P, Melzoch K, Kovar K. Flow cytometry for the development of biotechnological processes with microalgae. Biotechnology Advances. 2013;31(1):2-16.

41. Fernández-Castané A, Li H, Thomas ORT, Overton TW. Flow cytometry as a rapid analytical tool to determine physiological responses to changing O2 and iron concentration by Magnetospirillum gryphiswaldense strain MSR-1. Scientific Reports. 2017;7(1):13118.

42. Bína D, Herbstová M, Gardian Z, Vácha F, Litvín R. Novel structural aspect of the diatom thylakoid membrane: lateral segregation of photosystem I under red-enhanced illumination. Scientific Reports. 2016;6(1):25583.

43. Leyland B, Boussiba S, Khozin-Goldberg I. A Review of Diatom Lipid Droplets. Biology (Basel). 2020;9(2).

44. Yang R, Wei D. Improving Fucoxanthin Production in Mixotrophic Culture of Marine Diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum by LED Light Shift and Nitrogen Supplementation. Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology. 2020;8(820).

45. Gaytán-Luna DE, Ochoa-Alfaro AE, Rocha-Uribe A, Pérez-Martínez AS, Alpuche-Solís Á G, Soria-Guerra RE. Effect of green and red light in lipid accumulation and transcriptional profile of genes implicated in lipid biosynthesis in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. Biotechnol Prog. 2016;32(6):1404-11.

46. Severes A, Hegde S, D'Souza L, Hegde S. Use of light emitting diodes (LEDs) for enhanced lipid production in micro-algae based biofuels. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology. 2017;170:235-40.

47. Heydarizadeh P, Veidl B, Huang B, Lukomska E, Wielgosz-Collin G, Couzinet-Mossion A, et al. Carbon Orientation in the Diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum: The Effects of Carbon Limitation and Photon Flux Density. Frontiers in Plant Science. 2019;10(471).

48. Li Y, Xu J, Gao K. Light-Modulated Responses of Growth and Photosynthetic Performance to Ocean Acidification in the Model Diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum. PLOS ONE. 2014;9(5):e96173.

49. Molino JVD, de Carvalho JCM, Mayfield S. Evaluation of secretion reporters to microalgae biotechnology: Blue to red fluorescent proteins. Algal Research. 2018;31:252-61.

50. Braun-Galleani S, Baganz F, Purton S. Improving recombinant protein production in the Chlamydomonas reinhardtii chloroplast using vivid Verde Fluorescent Protein as a reporter. Biotechnol J. 2015;10(8):1289-97.

51. Fabris M, George J, Kuzhiumparambil U, Lawson CA, Jaramillo-Madrid AC, Abbriano RM, et al. Extrachromosomal Genetic Engineering of the Marine Diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum Enables the Heterologous Production of Monoterpenoids. ACS Synthetic Biology. 2020;9(3):598-612.

52. George J, Kahlke T, Abbriano RM, Kuzhiumparambil U, Ralph PJ, Fabris M. Metabolic Engineering Strategies in Diatoms Reveal Unique Phenotypes and Genetic Configurations With Implications for Algal Genetics and Synthetic Biology. Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology. 2020;8.

53. Kuczynska P, Jemiola-Rzeminska M, Strzalka K. Photosynthetic Pigments in Diatoms. Mar Drugs. 2015;13(9):5847-81.

54. Morikawa TJ, Fujita H, Kitamura A, Horio T, Yamamoto J, Kinjo M, et al. Dependence of fluorescent protein brightness on protein concentration in solution and enhancement of it. Scientific Reports. 2016;6(1):22342.

55. Myšková J, Rybakova O, Brynda J, Khoroshyy P, Bondar A, Lazar J. Directionality of light absorption and emission in representative fluorescent proteins. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2020;117(51):32395-401.

56. Barstow B, Ando N, Kim CU, Gruner SM. Coupling of pressure-induced structural shifts to spectral changes in a yellow fluorescent protein. Biophys J. 2009;97(6):1719-27.

57. Bai X, Song H, Lavoie M, Zhu K, Su Y, Ye H, et al. Proteomic analyses bring new insights into the effect of a dark stress on lipid biosynthesis in Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Scientific reports. 2016;6:25494-.

58. Jayakumar S, Bhuyar P, Pugazhendhi A, Rahim MHA, Maniam GP, Govindan N. Effects of light intensity and nutrients on the lipid content of marine microalga (diatom) Amphiprora sp. for promising biodiesel production. Sci Total Environ. 2021;768:145471.

59. Yang Z-K, Niu Y-F, Ma Y-H, Xue J, Zhang M-H, Yang W-D, et al. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of neutral lipid accumulation in diatom following nitrogen deprivation. Biotechnology for Biofuels. 2013;6(1):67.

60. Abida H, Dolch L-J, Meï C, Villanova V, Conte M, Block MA, et al. Membrane Glycerolipid Remodeling Triggered by Nitrogen and Phosphorus Starvation in Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Plant Physiology. 2014;167(1):118-36.

61. Kobayashi K, Endo K, Wada H. Roles of Lipids in Photosynthesis. Subcell Biochem. 2016;86:21-49.

62. Valentine RC, Valentine DL. Omega-3 fatty acids in cellular membranes: a unified concept. Prog Lipid Res. 2004;43(5):383-402.

63. Duarte B, Feijão E, Goessling JW, Caçador I, Matos AR. Pigment and Fatty Acid Production under Different Light Qualities in the Diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Applied Sciences. 2021;11(6):2550.

64. Rastogi A, Maheswari U, Dorrell RG, Vieira FRJ, Maumus F, Kustka A, et al. Integrative analysis of large scale transcriptome data draws a comprehensive landscape of Phaeodactylum tricornutum genome and evolutionary origin of diatoms. Scientific Reports. 2018;8(1):4834.

65. Levitan O, Chen M, Kuang X, Cheong KY, Jiang J, Banal M, et al. Structural and functional analyses of photosystem II in the marine diatom <i>Phaeodactylum tricornutum</i>. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2019;116(35):17316-22.

CHAPTER IV

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

4.1 Conclusion and future perspectives

P. tricornutum is a complex and unique organism to study for the production of specialised metabolites but is also considered as a potent host for industrial use as discussed throughout the thesis. It is known for its complex evolutionary path containing genes from red and green algal sources (1). Such diversity in genome structure along with unique chloroplast structure and FCP protein complex have provided diatoms with adaptation mechanism and metabolic profile which can be exploited to produce valuable compounds (2). Moreover, the availability of multiple omics-based resources and physiochemical data makes it a suitable model organism.

The broader objective of the study was to investigate the impact of different light settings; light intensity, spectral quality and light shift or two phase light system on both wild type and transconjugants (*Ptev and Pt*YFP) for better growth, high lipid and to manipulate the composition of fatty acids. *P. tricornutum* is known to adapt to wide range of light conditions ranging from UV to visible spectrum (3-7). And diatoms can naturally synthesize variety of fatty acids of different lengths and saturation (8-10). Chapter I discusses the detailed general introduction of the thesis to build of the knowledge base and make the readers aware about different light spectra and culture conditions on growth, biomass, lipid and fatty acid profil of wild type *P. tricornutum* which was published in Applied Science. Chapter III provides study on different light settings (light intensity, spectral quality and light shift) on transconjugant strains of *P. tricornutum* which was published in American Journal of Plant Science.

Among different light-based published studies, considering the differences in the experimental design, it might be challenging to have a firm conclusion but the trend in the data can be discussed with respect to growth, lipid, fatty acids which we have tried to comprehend in our Chapter II. These trends therefore can be used to assist in further optimizing light settings for the specific production of fatty acid, increasing the total lipid or production of heterologous protein.

The project has investigated and shortlisted few light settings that needs further optimization to be used for large scale project for better growth, total lipid, and specific fatty acid profile such as EPA. For example, in Chapter II, we did the prescreening test and found out that mixotrophic conditions are somewhat better than autotrophic conditions in all three tested light quality that was provided by different light filters (white, red and yellow). We didn't investigated the mixotrophic conditions in detail considering that it adds to cost of production and have challenges with bacterial contamination. Therefore, to narrow down the focus of the thesis, I pursued my investigation towards light conditions. So further, we investigated the impact of light shift during different growth phases on wild type *P. tricornutum*. Few studies have reported the importance of two phase light system or light shift and spectral quality impact on *P. tricornutum* (3, 11). Also, multiple studies have reported the importance of red light acclimation or in general the red light intensity on *P. tricornutum* growth, carbon flux, bioactive molecule accumulation (3, 12-15).

Considering, the available literature showing the possible positive impact of red light spectra, we observed the importance of red light spectra exposure provided by red light filter on different growth phases (log, lag and stationary) and observed that red to white shift during the stationary phase is more effective for growth and lipid as compared to red to white shift during lag and log phase (Figure 1, Chapter II). Thus, identifying the relationship between growth phases and light exposure is one of the key principles to understand the growth pattern, biomass and total lipid and the impact these light conditions will have on overall economic feasibility of the project.

P. tricornutum was selected in this study because of most literature available on the impact of light on various factors relevant to industrial applications such as high production of lipid, pigments, fatty acids along with few omics based resources. And there are few studies providing the evidence of studied three light settings (spectral quality, light intensity and light shift) on growth, lipid and fatty acid profile in P. tricornutum. These three light settings could be considered as a limiting factor in determining the fate of *P. tricornutum* growth, lipid and overall fatty acid profile. For example, we observed that spectral quality R1 which had spectra of over 600 nm \sim 34% was more effective for both growth and lipid as compared to R2 which had spectra of over 600 nm \sim 90% (Chapter III). Literature studies have provided an evidence of importance of red light spectra and intensity impact on P. tricornutum growth, sterol, fucoxanthin content, change in ultrastructure of chloroplast and composition of photosystem 1 (10, 14, 16, 17). Two studies have investigated the impact of spectral quality on gene regulation with respect to photoreceptors such as aureochromes and cryptochromes which is another route to modulate the light (18, 19). So far, we have found out that stationary phase is an important transitionary phase that can be used in light shift for increasing the biomass and lipid as shown in Chapter II which was studied in wild type. R1 spectra is more effective for growth and lipid as compared to R2 (Chapter III) which was investigated in transconjugant strain (Ptev). There is definitely more room for improvement for the experimental design and the use of different materials such as monochromatic LEDs or industrial scale light filters which can improve the quality of the data.

The other important parameter that we studied was light intensity which is known to affect the overall cell growth and total lipid accumulation. In Chapter III, we have tested the impact of low light and medium light intensity and observed that medium light intensity was more effective for higher growth and total lipid. We further tested if the same trend is followed when different light intensity is applied with R1 spectra, and it was observed that R1 at ML had 2.8-fold more lipid as compared to R1 at LL intensity. In addition to spectral quality and light intensity, timing of the precise light exposure according to the growth phases have an impact on overall growth and total lipid accumulation.

External light conditions like light intensity and spectral quality have an impact on overall cell growth, lipid and fatty acid compositions as discussed in chapter 2 and 3 in wild type and transconjugant (*Ptev*) respectively. Further, in Chapter III we have studied transconjugants (*Ptev* and *Pt*YFP) under red light and red to white shift. We noticed that *Pt*YFP strain growth was slower as compared to *Ptev* and observed a significant increased in total lipid on day 6 and day 8. The slow growth in *Pt*YFP has been discussed with two plausible explanations. One is the use episomal vector along with reporter gene in transconjugants might delay the onset of cell division considering the increase in plasmid size. Another minor reason could be the accumulated emitted fluorescence from YFP inside the cell might interfere with some of metabolic process related to cell division or photosynthesis. There are two interesting studies showing the utilization of fluorescent proteins on enhancing the overall spectral coverage (20, 21). Therefore, this remains an open question for future investigations about the cell division and how the episomal vector and fluorescent proteins might impact the growth and heterologous protein accumulation.

Lipid components within the diatom cell can vary in carbon chain length, number of double bonds, and positioning of double bonds on the chain. Variations in these components are necessary factors for different commercial applications. Depending on the composition,lipid can be used for cosmetics, biodiesel production, antibacterial properties, etc. The impact of different light characteristics on *P. tricornutum* total lipid content was studied using spectrophotometer analysis, flow cytometer and dry weight estimation (Bligh and dyer) as discussed in Chapter II and III. We found out that red to white shift increased the total lipid by 2.3 fold as compared to white light in wild type as reported in chapter II.

We reported the increase in total lipid but decrease in the specific fatty acid EPA in PtYFP transformant in both red and red to white shift. EPA is considered to have an important role in regulating the cell membrane. The idea that EPA from the cell membrane migrates to the neutral lipid under stress conditions and is an important fatty acid involved in photosynthesis has been proposed by few (22-26). The stress conditions could be

stimulated internally from the episomal vector or the studied external light condition (red light and red to white shift). This might be one of the reasons for the increase in total lipid content in *Pt*YFP which requires further investigations. So far, we have noted that red to white shift have increased the total lipid content in wild type as discussed in chapter II and *Ptev* as discussed in Chapter III. Similar trend was observed for *Pt*YFP transconjuants which had more lipid in red to white shift as compared to red light. Therefore, it could be assumed that stress conditions are crucial to stimulate lipid productions which might affect the strains differently as observed in the thesis. And these stress conditions could be provided in form of change in spectral quality or light shift during stationary phase as it is an important phase of lipid accumulation or change in light intensity. Through this research, we could identify few key points about light settings which can be applied to the industries to produce valuable specific fatty acid such as EPA in addition to increasing the biomass and total lipid.

The purpose of the project was to identify the light settings for enhanced growth, total lipid and manipulating fatty acid profile in both wild type and transconjugants. Through this research, we have identified two possible business applications; bioenergy and nutraceuticals (omega fatty acids). Overall, growth conditions in terms of nutrition and light characteristics are the critical components influencing growth, fatty acid profile, total lipid accumulation in a diatom cell. These factors are also critical for the industrial applications.

While this study sheds some light on the impact of different light settings on wild type and transconjugant strains of *Phaeodactylum tricornutm*, there is still a lot to learn and investigate in this area and possibly in multiple diatom species. And there are few directions for the future research with potential industrial applications. One of the important area to investigate more in detail would be the use of episomal vectors with different fluorescent proteins to enhance th light conversion efficiency, modualte lipid metabolism, increase the growth rate and total biomass. This could also involve studying the expression of genes related to photosynthesis, lipid metabolism, pigment profile, circadian rhythm. Furthermore, there is also requirement of using the omics based tools to generate data as more data will allow us to understand the mechanism better.

Another important area of research would be to investigate the diaomts under two variables such as light and carbon dioxide or investigating the symbiotic relationships between diatoms and other microrganism for the production important bioacitve molecules. Research on developing the tools like cultivation strategies, strain development ,modulating the fatty acid profile will improve the productivity and minimize the environmental impacts.

4.2 References

1. Rastogi A, Maheswari U, Dorrell RG, Vieira FRJ, Maumus F, Kustka A, et al. Integrative analysis of large scale transcriptome data draws a comprehensive landscape of Phaeodactylum tricornutum genome and evolutionary origin of diatoms. Scientific Reports. 2018;8(1):4834.

2. Levitan O, Chen M, Kuang X, Cheong KY, Jiang J, Banal M, et al. Structural and functional analyses of photosystem II in the marine diatom, Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2019;116(35):17316-22.

3. Jungandreas A, Schellenberger Costa B, Jakob T, von Bergen M, Baumann S, Wilhelm C. The Acclimation of Phaeodactylum tricornutum to Blue and Red Light Does Not Influence the Photosynthetic Light Reaction but Strongly Disturbs the Carbon Allocation Pattern. PLOS ONE. 2014;9(8):e99727.

4. Oka K, Ueno Y, Yokono M, Shen J-R, Nagao R, Akimoto S. Adaptation of light-harvesting and energy-transfer processes of a diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum to different light qualities. Photosynthesis Research. 2020;146(1):227-34.

5. Lockhart J. Blue Light Checkpoint: How Blue Light Controls the Onset of Cell Division in Diatoms. The Plant Cell. 2013;25(1):1-.

6. Heydarizadeh P, Veidl B, Huang B, Lukomska E, Wielgosz-Collin G, Couzinet-Mossion A, et al. Carbon Orientation in the Diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum: The Effects of Carbon Limitation and Photon Flux Density. Frontiers in Plant Science. 2019;10(471).

7. De Tommasi E, Congestri R, Dardano P, De Luca AC, Managò S, Rea I, et al. UV-shielding and wavelength conversion by centric diatom nanopatterned frustules. Scientific Reports. 2018;8(1):16285.

8. Zulu NN, Zienkiewicz K, Vollheyde K, Feussner I. Current trends to comprehend lipid metabolism in diatoms. Progress in Lipid Research. 2018;70:1-16.

9. Li H-Y, Lu Y, Zheng J-W, Yang W-D, Liu J-S. Biochemical and Genetic Engineering of Diatoms for Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid Biosynthesis. Mar Drugs. 2014;12(1):153-66.

10. Véron B, Billard C, Dauguet J-C, Hartmann M-A. Sterol composition of Phaeodactylum tricornutum as influenced by growth temperature and light spectral quality. Lipids. 1996;31(9):989-94.

11. Yang R, Wei D. Improving Fucoxanthin Production in Mixotrophic Culture of Marine Diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum by LED Light Shift and Nitrogen Supplementation. Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology. 2020;8(820).

12. Yi Z, Su Y, Cherek P, Nelson DR, Lin J, Rolfsson O, et al. Combined artificial high-silicate medium and LED illumination promote carotenoid accumulation in the marine diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Microbial Cell Factories. 2019;18(1):209.

13. Valle KC, Nymark M, Aamot I, Hancke K, Winge P, Andresen K, et al. System Responses to Equal Doses of Photosynthetically Usable Radiation of Blue, Green, and Red Light in the Marine Diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum. PLOS ONE. 2014;9(12):e114211.

14. Herbstová M, Bína D, Kaňa R, Vácha F, Litvín R. Red-light phenotype in a marine diatom involves a specialized oligomeric red-shifted antenna and altered cell morphology. Scientific Reports. 2017;7(1):11976.

15. Duarte B, Feijão E, Goessling JW, Caçador I, Matos AR. Pigment and Fatty Acid Production under Different Light Qualities in the Diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Applied Sciences. 2021;11(6):2550.

16. Villanova V, Singh D, Pagliardini J, Fell D, Le Monnier A, Finazzi G, et al. Boosting Biomass Quantity and Quality by Improved Mixotrophic Culture of the Diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Frontiers in Plant Science. 2021;12.

17. Bína D, Herbstová M, Gardian Z, Vácha F, Litvín R. Novel structural aspect of the diatom thylakoid membrane: lateral segregation of photosystem I under red-enhanced illumination. Scientific Reports. 2016;6(1):25583.

18. Mann M, Serif M, Wrobel T, Eisenhut M, Madhuri S, Flachbart S, et al. The Aureochrome Photoreceptor PtAUREO1a Is a Highly Effective Blue Light Switch in Diatoms. iScience. 2020;23(11):101730-.

19. König S, Eisenhut M, Bräutigam A, Kurz S, Weber APM, Büchel C. The Influence of a Cryptochrome on the Gene Expression Profile in the Diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum under Blue Light and in Darkness. Plant and Cell Physiology. 2017;58(11):1914-23.

20. Grayson KJ, Faries KM, Huang X, Qian P, Dilbeck P, Martin EC, et al. Augmenting light coverage for photosynthesis through YFP-enhanced charge separation at the Rhodobacter sphaeroides reaction centre. Nat Commun. 2017;8(1):13972.

21. Fu W, Chaiboonchoe A, Khraiwesh B, Sultana M, Jaiswal A, Jijakli K, et al. Intracellular spectral recompositioning of light enhances algal photosynthetic efficiency. Sci Adv. 2017;3(9):e1603096-e.

22. Sayanova O, Mimouni V, Ulmann L, Morant-Manceau A, Pasquet V, Schoefs B, et al. Modulation of lipid biosynthesis by stress in diatoms. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. 2017;372(1728):20160407.

23. Remmers IM, Martens DE, Wijffels RH, Lamers PP. Dynamics of triacylglycerol and EPA production in Phaeodactylum tricornutum under nitrogen starvation at different light intensities. PLOS ONE. 2017;12(4):e0175630.

24. Abida H, Dolch L-J, Meï C, Villanova V, Conte M, Block MA, et al. Membrane Glycerolipid Remodeling Triggered by Nitrogen and Phosphorus Starvation in Phaeodactylum tricornutum. Plant Physiology. 2014;167(1):118-36.

25. Kobayashi K, Endo K, Wada H. Roles of Lipids in Photosynthesis. Subcell Biochem. 2016;86:21-49.

26. Valentine RC, Valentine DL. Omega-3 fatty acids in cellular membranes: a unified concept. Prog Lipid Res. 2004;43(5):383-402.
APPENDIX A

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA FOR CHAPTER II

Our study showed that red light in autotrophic condition proved to be an affordable and effective option to increase *P. tricornutum* biomass and lipid accumulation. Thus, in the second series of experiments, we further explored the effect of red light on *P. tricornutum* biomass and lipid accumulation in autotrophic conditions. Several studies had reported that change in light settings can change the growth patterns, lipid accumulation and metabolic pathways [31,56].

Light shift from one spectrum to another will change the light ambience and culture environment, which can trigger different photoreceptors to activate signaling pathways allowing a better conversion of light energy. However, the exact growth phase on which to exert a light shift is unknown. Thus, we investigated the effect of red to white shift on *P. tricornutum* growth during different growth phases under batch cultivation for 10 days (Appendix A–Figure A1). Specifically, the effect on growth was studied using optical density for six conditions. The impact of red to white shift to a full spectrum during different growth phases i.e., lag, exponential, and stationary are labeled as RT1, RT2, RT3; RS (Table 2), along with continuous red light (R), was investigated. RT2 and RT3 were found to be less effective at promoting growth, whereas RS was significantly better to promote *P. tricornutum* growth (Appendix A–Figure A1).



Figure A1. Analysis of *P. tricornutum* growth determined using optical density at 680 nm in different light conditions: red light during the exponential phase and then shifting in the stationary phase (RS), red light exposure during the lag phase (RT1), red light during the exponential phase (RT2), and red light during the stationary phase (RT3).

The red to white shift treatment during the specific growth phases—lag, exponential, and stationary phase (RT1, RT2, and RT3)—was not an efficient method to increase growth (Figure A1). Thus, these treatments are not interesting for our investigation, since we aimed to enhance the overall biomass and total lipid count. Similarly as observed in Figure 2, a lag is observed between day 4 and day 7 (exponential to stationary) where it is not clear whether cell growth continued before slowing down (Figure A1). However, RT1, RT2, and RT3 could be interesting parameters to consider for studying *bonafide* metabolic pathways in diatoms once there is more information on the characterization of these photoreceptors such as phytochromes.

Cell morphology is sometimes indicative of changes in response to stress. Three morphotypes in *P. tricornutum* culture have been reported: oval, fusiform and triradiate [48]. Microscopic analyses (Figure 4c,d) revealed a high occurrence of fusiform cells, a limited number of triradiate-shaped cells, and no appearance of the oval form in all of our growth conditions (Appendix A–Figure A2).



Figure A2. Light microscope images of Phaeodactylum tricornutum in different light conditions (A) in white light and (B) in red light.

Common Name	C:D <i>n-x</i>	W	R	RS	Common Name	C:D <i>n-x</i>	W	R	RS
Myristic acid	14:0	8.64 ± 0.17	7.54 ± 0.02	8.39 ± 0.55	Linoleic acid	18:2n-6	1.41 ± 0.25	1.51 ± 0.13	1.62 ± 0.21
	14:1n-9	0.01 ± 0.01	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	-	18:2n-4	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00
	14:1n-7	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	γ-Linolenic acid	18:3n-6	0.18 ± 0.11	0.23 ± 0.0	0.21 ± 0.08
Myristoleic acid	14:1n-5	0.08 ± 0.02	0.09 ± 0.01	0.08 ± 0.01		18:3n-4	0.01 ± 0.01	0.05 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.03
	i-15:0	0.01 ± 0.01	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	α-Linoleic acid	18:3n-3	0.44 ± 0.06	0.36 ± 0.04	0.41 ± 0.04
	ai-15:0	0.01 ± 0.01	$0.00{\pm}~0.00$	0.00 ± 0.00		18:3n-1	0.21 ± 0.06	0.60 ± 0.07	0.64 ± 0.14
	15:0	0.28 ± 0.07	0.26 ± 0.01	0.25 ± 0.03	Stearidonic acid	18:4n-3	0.21 ± 0.06	0.21 ± 0.03	0.23 ± 0.05
	i-16:0	0.12 ± 0.05	0.13 ± 0.02	0.12 ± 0.02		18:4n-1	0.01 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01
Palmitic acid	16:0	15.18 ± 2.64	14.80 ± 1.80	15.24 ± 3.67	Arachidic acid	20:0	0.00 ± 0.00	0.08 ± 0.01	0.08 ± 0.02
	16:1n-11	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00		20:1n-11	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00
Hypogeic acid	16:1n-9	1.79 ± 0.42	2.99 ± 0.07	2.78 ± 0.51	Gondoic acid	20:1n-9	0.03 ± 0.01	0.04 ± 0.01	0.00 ± 0.00
Palmitoleic acid	16:1n-7	28.20 ± 0.95	27.17 ± 1.59	24.39 ± 1.07	Paullinic acid	20:1n-7	0.01 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01	0.04 ± 0.02
	16:1n-5	0.12 ± 0.01	0.09 ± 0.08	0.10 ± 0.07		20:2n-9	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00
	17:1(a)	0.00 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.01	Eicosadienoic acid	20:2n-6	0.09 ± 0.03	0.10 ± 0.01	0.08 ± 0.03
	i-17:0	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	Dihomo-γ-linolenic acid	20:3n-6	0.05 ± 0.02	0.08 ± 0.02	0.07 ± 0.01
	16:2n-6	0.94 ± 0.20	1.13 ± 0.11	1.16 ± 0.19	Arachidonic acid	20:4n-6	0.33 ± 0.05	0.62 ± 0.05	0.46 ± 0.08
	ai-17:0	0.06 ± 0.00	0.09 ± 0.01	0.07 ± 0.04	Eicosatrienoic acid	20:3n-3	0.06 ± 0.03	0.05 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.02

Table A1. GC analysis of fatty acid compositions in each culture condition (W, R, and RS). Results (mass% of identified fatty acids) are expressed as mean \pm SD of three replicates for each culture conditions. Highlighted means \pm SD are most abundant FAs.

Common Name	C:D <i>n-x</i>	W	R	RS	Common Name	C:D <i>n-x</i>	W	R	RS
	17:1(b)	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	Eicosatetraenoic acid	20:4n-3	0.18 ± 0.01	0.21 ± 0.02	0.24 ± 0.04
Hexadecadienoic acid	16:2n-4	3.53 ± 0.62	3.63 ± 0.27	3.85 ± 0.30	Eicosapentaenoic acid	20:5n-3	22.53 ± 1.23	21.59 ± 1.98	22.15 ± 3.24
Hexadecatrienoic acid	16:3n-6	0.96 ± 0.22	0.60 ± 0.15	0.76 ± 0.25	Behenic acid	22:0	0.16 ± 0.01	0.19 ± 0.01	0.20 ± 0.02
	17:0	0.03 ± 0.01	0.04 ± 0.01	0.04 ± 0.01		22:1n-11	0.08 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.01	0.07 ± 0.02
Hexadecatrienoic acid	16:3n-4	6.64 ± 1.30	9.47 ± 0.83	9.67 ± 1.64	Erucic acid	22:1n-9	0.09 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.01	0.07 ± 0.01
	17:1	0.08 ± 0.03	0.11 ± 0.01	0.09 ± 0.03		22:1n-7	0.02 ± 0.02	0.01 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.01
	16:4n-3	0.03 ± 0.01	0.03 ± 0.01	0.03 ± 0.01	Docosadienoic acid	22:2n-6	0.11 ± 0.04	0.08 ± 0.01	0.09 ± 0.03
	16:4n-1	1.35 ± 0.29	0.71 ± 0.04	0.73 ± 0.07		21:5n-3	0.01 ± 0.01	0.00 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.01
Stearic acid	18:0	0.40 ± 0.10	0.39 ± 0.06	0.42 ± 0.13		23:0	0.05 ± 0.02	0.02 ± 0.01	0.05 ± 0.01
	18:1n-13	0.02 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01	Adrenic acid	22:4n-6	0.03 ± 0.02	0.02 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01
	18:1n-11	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	Osbond acid	22:5n-6	0.02 ± 0.01	0.01 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01
Oleic acid	18:1n-9	0.75 ± 0.42	0.71 ± 0.13	0.66 ± 0.34		22:4n-3	0.00 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.01	0.03 ± 0.02
Vaccenic acid	18:1n-7	0.21 ± 0.01	0.23 ± 0.03	0.23 ± 0.03	Docosapentaenoic acid	22:5n-3	0.19 ± 0.04	0.00 ± 0.00	0.18 ± 0.06
	18:1n-5	0.12 ± 0.03	0.13 ± 0.01	0.16 ± 0.02	Lignoceric acid	24:0	1.32 ± 0.11	1.30 ± 0.02	1.41 ± 0.03
	18:2d5.11	0.04 ± 0.02	0.06 ± 0.01	0.09 ± 0.02	Docosahexanoic acid	22:6n-3	2.23 ± 0.27	1.72 ± 0.08	1.96 ± 0.27
Rumenic acid	18:2n-7	0.01 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01	0.02 ± 0.01	Nervonic acid	24:1n-9	0.17 ± 0.01	0.11 ± 0.03	0.16 ± 0.04

APPENDIX B

PUBLISHED REVIEW – DIATOMS BIOTECHNOLOGY: VARIOUS INDUSTRIAL APPLICATIONS FOR A GREENER TOMORROW

Nikunj Sharma¹, Daris Pazhukkunnel Simon¹, Aracely Maribel Diaz-Garza¹, Elisa Fantino¹, Anis Messaabi¹, Fatma Meddeb-Mouelhi^{1,2}, Hugo Germain^{1,2}, Isabel Desgagné-Penix^{1,2*}

- ¹ Department of Chemistry, Biochemistry and Physics, Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières, Trois-Rivières, Québec, Canada
- ² Groupe de Recherche en Biologie Végétale, Université du Québec à Trois-Rivières, Trois-Rivières, Québec, Canada
- * Correspondence: Isabel Desgagné-Penix Isabel.Desgagne-Penix@uqtr.ca

Keywords: diatoms, microalgae biotechnology, metabolic engineering, metabarcoding, sustainable economy, biofuel, lipids

Abstract

The benefits of the complex microscopic and industrially important group of microalgae such as diatoms is not hidden and have lately surprised the scientific community with their industrial potential. The ability to survive in harsh conditions and the presence of different pore structures and defined cell walls have made diatoms ideal cell machinery to produce a variety of industrial products. The prospect of using a diatom cell for industrial application has increased significantly in synch with the advances in microscopy, metabarcoding, analytical and genetic tools. Furthermore, it is well noted that the approach of industry and academia to the use of genetic tools has changed significantly, resulting in a well-defined characterization of various molecular components of diatoms. It is possible to conduct the primary culturing, harvesting, and further downstream processing of diatom culture in a cost-effective manner. Diatoms hold all the qualities to become the alternative raw material for pharmaceutical, nanotechnology, and energy sources leading to a sustainable economy. In this review, an attempt has been made to gather important progress in the different industrial applications of diatoms such as biotechnology, biomedical, nanotechnology, and environmental technologies.

1 Introduction

The global trend of economy and society is shifting towards building a greener and more sustainable society to combat climate and health issues. This is a critical issue, which is being approached with various interdisciplinary strategies to produce a wide range of sustainable products. For instance, biotechnology research has invested a significant number of resources, time, and money in studying microorganisms to exploit them for human consumption in multiple ways. Furthermore, the decades of research and improvisation in cultivation strategies, extraction, and harvesting protocols strongly support a good return on investment in industrial applications of microbes. A pinch of soil and a drop of water contain a diversity of microbes that controls major biogeochemical cycles and subsequently have the potential of producing an abundance of sustainable products. Since the beginning of this century, a high amount of research work has been published on industrial applications of microbes such as bacteria, yeast, and microalgae (Figure 1). But limited attention has been paid to diatoms which have the potential of becoming a robust sustainable industry because diatoms can continuously grow with an average annual yield of 132 MT dry diatoms ha⁻¹ over almost 5 years (1).

Diatoms are dynamic microorganisms with rich diversity and detailed membrane design. They are the most dominating phytoplankton with an overall number of around 200,000 species having complex variability in dimensions and shapes (2-4). Diatoms' distinctive characteristic compared to the phytoplankton community is their silica cell wall, known as a frustule. This innate ability to uptake silicon from the environment has

made them an interesting community of microbes since 19^{th} century. Few studies have stated the role of frustule biosilicate as pH buffering material which facilitates shifting of bicarbonate to CO₂ dissolved in cell fluids (the latter is readily metabolized by diatoms) (5).

The access to advanced microscopes and modern genetic tools enabled us to study the detailed frustule structure and validate metabolic pathways involved in absorption, transportation, and polymerization of silicon and other biomolecules like lipids (6, 7). Furthermore, this advanced knowledge of metabolic pathways and validation of diatom structure can be applied to produce a wide range of renewable products such as optoelectronics, biofuels, nutritional supplements, ecology tools, *etc.* (8).

Other common factors that have shaped the evolution of diatoms are their ability to adapt and grow in various natural resources; fresh and marine water, wastewater, rivers, and oceans. Their abundance and adaptability in a wide range of climate and geographical areas make them suitable for different applications (9). It was reported that diatoms are responsible to produce yearly, 40% of the organic carbon and 20% of oxygen (10-12). Besides, these photoautotrophic organisms are involved in biogeochemical cycles, which play a significant role in global carbon fixation, carbon sequestration, and silicon cycle. They are also suitable candidates to capture nitrogen and carbon from various sources, which can be exploited by waste management and the biofuel industry to create carbon-neutral fuels (13). Furthermore, these algae are used to produce nutraceutical compounds, such as vegetarian proteins, omega, and other essential fatty acids for pharmaceutical industries (14, 15).

Multiple epidemiological, clinical, and pre-clinical studies have shown that omega fatty acids such as eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) are useful in slowing down age-related diseases such as cardiovascular diseases and cancer (16-19). The development of diatoms strains rich in omega fatty acids can replace the dependence on fish as a source of omega oils and reduce the problems associated with seasonal variations and ocean pollution which might affect the biochemical composition of fish oil (20). Also, various marine diatoms are considered for the commercial production of antioxidant pigments such as fucoxanthin and other carotenoids. It has been reported that these pigments exhibit various protective effects such as strong antioxidant activities (21).

Thus, the flexible and complex nature of diatoms offers immense possibilities to develop a wide range of sustainable products and contributes to carbon neutrality. Because of its dimensions, pore distributions, and geometries, it is studied to develop tools for nanotechnology and biomedical industry such as nanofabrication techniques, chemo and biosensing, particle sorting, and control of particles in micro- and nano-fluidics (22). Silica and biosilica can be used to develop advanced nanomaterial for electronic and optical technologies which can be employed for ultra-sensitive detection of biological compounds (23).

Recent accomplishment in diatoms metabarcoding, a reference database of the global population of diatoms has advanced its use extensively in studying ecological problems such as climate change, acidification, and eutrophication (24). Because of its robust nature and potential to inhabit different photic regions, from the equator to the poles, diatoms offer the potential to develop tools and products for all geographical regions (25). The technological and infrastructure advancements of diatoms-based applications are at a new level. Besides, it requires different kinds of optimization either in laboratory or large-scale research such as energy utilization for different steps, financial modeling, and collaborating with different industries to make diatom-based products commercially successful. However, the standardization at various levels such as optimization of culture conditions, genetic tools, genome and transcriptome sequencing make diatoms based products commercially viable.

Therefore, this review aims to provide a better understanding of the potential of diatoms research at a laboratory scale. We have tried to provide comprehensive information on a variety of diatoms applications such as energy, biomedical products, environment monitoring which are being investigated at different levels. All these

applications have the potential to contribute towards a greener tomorrow. The purpose of the research is to increase the sustainable economy while reducing the dependence on nonrenewable resources. Therefore, recovering and producing various sustainable products like biofuels, feed, bioactive molecules and services like environment monitoring embedded in diatoms is a promising opportunity to be seized as shown in Figure 2.

2 Biofuel Industry

Fast globalization and industrialization have impacted the ecosystem widely but shutting or slowing down the globalization is not the solution. At the moment, almost 95% of all the transportation industry is based on a non-renewable source of energy (26). Therefore, developing sustainable and carbon-neutral fuels could reduce the existing dependence on fossil fuels and contribute to bringing back harmony in nature without disrupting the existing economic development. Few economic aspects of biofuel production from microalgae such as biodiesel productivity, land use, and oil yield support the use of microalgae for commercial production as compared to corn and other food crops. The oil yield for microalgae with high oil content is almost 15-fold more as compared to corn. Whereas, the land use for corn and maize is 66-fold more as compared to microalgae (27).

The microalgae such as diatoms are the promising feedstock to replace non-renewable sources of energy. It has been proven by geochemists that algal lipids are the major feedstocks of petroleum and these lipids act as the biomarker remaining stable for millions of years (27). The main biomarker for the diatoms is the ratio of C28 and C29 steranes and highly branched isoprenoid alkenes which are found in high-quality oil fields around the globe (28).

Moreover, targeting the diatom lipids by manipulating and optimizing the growth and culture conditions such as light, stress, and nutrients can provide an interesting alternative to help meet the existing demands of commercial production of biofuel. Knowing the potential of diatoms to accumulate high lipids and varied compositions of fatty acids, diatoms are an underexploited area of the biofuel industry. The most predominant saturated and unsaturated fatty acids in diatom species are 14:0; 16:0, 16:1, 16:2, 16:3, 18:1, 18:2, 18:3, 20:4 and 20:5 (29, 30). Various reports have been published on different species of diatoms regarding the lipid yield and triacylglycerol accumulation (TAG) under different treatments as shown in Table 1.

It is possible to improve the quality of biodiesel by optimizing the content of different fatty acids that impacts biodiesel properties; cetane number, level of emissions, cold flow, oxidative stability, viscosity, and lubricity (31). Fatty acids with chain lengths from C16 to C18 should contribute the maximum amount in the final product (32). Some researchers have reported that a high percentage of mono-unsaturation is also desirable for biodiesel (33). Thus, optimizing the fatty acid profile along with increased biomass will significantly enhance their economic value.

Statistical analyses predicted that 100 mt/ha/year biomass of diatoms is required for commercial biofuel production (34). Over ten years, productivity range was observed to be between 29-142 mt/ha/year (35, 36) these values motivate the researchers and industry experts to study diatom cell in-depth for the biofuel industry in both lab-scale and large scale.

Furthermore, the availability of advanced genetic tools can help to achieve the missing targets in developing diatoms cells as biofuel machinery (37, 38). Based on theoretical calculations about the land area, lipid production, and photosynthetic energy conversion, the biofuel demand of the complete USA population could be met using only 5% of USA land (39). Although various other factors that define the efficacy of biodiesel such as engine performance, that is based on (cylinder pressure, brake mean effective pressure, frictional mean effective pressure, power, torque, brake specific fuel combustion, brake thermal efficiency). The statistical data supports the use of microalgae-based biofuel but there are various limitations at a technological level for large-scale implementation of this project. Therefore, one of the alternatives is to use the blended form of biodiesel. It would be more efficient to make a blended version of petro-diesel

and microalgae/diatoms based fuel for large-scale operation. The comparative studies of blended (20% microalgae fuel plus 80% petrodiesel) and 100% petrodiesel have no major performance variations. Furthermore, it was reported that there was a reduction in the CO, unburnt HC, and smoke emissions in blended form as compared to pure diesel (40).

3 Biomedical Industry

3.1 Drug Delivery Systems

The cost required to bring a new drug to the market has been estimated by the Tufts Centre for the Study of Drug Development at approximately 2.6 billion dollars (41). In addition, the current drug delivery systems have limited solubility, poor bio-distribution, lack of selectivity, premature degradation, and unfavorable pharmacokinetics (42). Therefore, these limitations have motivated the research and development of alternative drug delivery systems to improve the performance of existing drugs (i.e. increasing bioavailability), while reducing undesirable effects. There is no doubt that existing biomedical technologies have increased the life span but the human society wants to improvise the quality of life further by adopting environment friendly methods. Therefore, we should speed up the process and conduct in-depth research on using diatom frustules, even other bio-inspired alternatives for biomedical applications.

Among the available drug delivery tools (liposomes, nanogels, carbon nanotubes), the intricate frustule characteristics of diatoms such as specific surface area, thermal stability, biocompatibility, and alterable surface chemistry, have attracted attention for its use in drug and gene delivery. It took million years of evolution for diatoms to manufacture this level of complex and delicate structure to protect from the unwanted conditions like high temperature and variable light fluctuations. 3-D section analyses of diatom frustules have shown the availability of multiple pore patterns that range from nanometer to micrometer (43-45). These characteristics are sufficient to explore alternative and low-priced silica-based materials for the biomedical industry (22, 46). Diatoms' frustule structure changes its homogenous nature, space, and intricate nature

according to various environmental factors and silicon uptake efficiency (6). This ability can be used to change the frustule shape and pore size, which has multiple applications in the biomedical and nanotechnology industry. The process of biosilification in diatoms is quite complex, it includes the role of silicic acid transporters, transportation of silica, and polymerization of silica monomers among other processes that have been extensively explained (6, 47). Moreover, a detailed investigation is being conducted to make the natural 3D porous structure an efficient substitute for delivery systems attributed to its chemical and mechanical features. For instance, some diatom species such as *Coscinodiscus concinnus sp* (48), *Thalassiosira weissflogii sp*. (42) are potential drug carriers candidates due to their amorphous nature and morphology. Additionally, various studies have shown that diatoms microcapsules are effective carriers for poorly soluble and water-soluble drugs, which can be applied in both oral and implant applications (43, 49).

The defined structural architecture of diatoms, such as pore volume and controllable particle size, allows the synthesis of biomolecules at the micro- to nano-scale (50-52). The growth of fibroblast and osteoblast has been observed on functionalized frustules supporting the idea of using biosilica from diatoms as smart support for cell growth (43). Regarding modified diatoms, Losic et al. (2010) have designed the magnetically guided drug carrier via a functional surface of diatoms with dopamine-modified iron oxide. This modification has shown the capability of sustained release of poorly soluble drugs for 2 weeks, presenting an enhanced performance for drug delivery (51). Moreover, genetically modified biosilica has been used to selectively deliver anticancer drugs to tumor sites (53). Overall, these findings have opened the doors to novel drug delivery systems using renewable material. Therefore, all properties of diatoms such as uniform pore structure, chemically inert and biocompatible, non-toxic, easy to transport, filtration efficiency, and specific drug delivery make it a potential model for drug delivery tools (54-57).

Although the use of silica for food and agriculture has been approved by the FDA and is also labeled/classified as non-carcinogenic by International Agency for Research

on Cancer This could be a big step towards accelerating its use at the biomedical level. It is not yet approved for biomedicine as it requires long-term evidence (46). All the biomedical inventions are scrutinized by multiple stakeholders like research leaders, public authorities such as provincial and federal government, before they reach the stage of commercial distribution. It is understandable considering that it will be used directly in the human body. Therefore, an innovative and different approach is required to bring in the academic researchers and bio-entrepreneurs to speed up the innovation rate in biomedical industry without harming the screening process set by public health authorities. The collaboration between entrepreneurs and researchers will allow thorough evaluation of the market for new inventions, manufacturing, investment, and globalization of the product. It seems plausible considering the rapid advancements in the biomedical infrastructure around the world. This has been demonstrated by the quick inventions in response to COVID-19 and should be adopted to be applied in other biotech based industries (58). The simultaneous advancements in the use of silica-based support system for drug delivery along with the change in infrastructure in pharmaceutical industries and hospitals to deliver these technologies to the users is possible in the near future. The other requirement is to join the gap of vast and complex scientific information and knowledge between entrepreneurs and academic researchers.

3.2 Analytical Tools

The controlled production of nanostructured silica is possible through chemical and mechanical treatment for a wide range of applications. This nanopore structure has a huge potential to attach the desired biomolecule (enzymes, DNA, antibodies) and develop label-free analytical tools or enhance the catalytic properties. It has also been shown that enzymes and DNA (oligonucleotides) can be conjugated to silica (50, 59). The encapsulation of enzymes in diatom biosilica exhibits improved enzymatic properties as compared to other immobilization technologies (60).

Additionally, luminescent nano- and micro-particles have gained the attention of the interdisciplinary scientific community (biology, chemistry and physics). Current available

fluorescent labeling agents are quantum dots, lanthanide-doped compounds, and organic fluorophore-tagged nanobeads, which offer good optical properties and a broad excitation spectrum. However, these agents have limitations in properties such as photobleaching and biocompatibility. For instance, De Stefano et al., studied diatoms' potential to incorporate fluorophores with increased stability used to study the molecular event of antibody-antigen identification. Moreover, molecular recognition between antibody and antigen was observed in relation to the change in the photoluminescence spectrum of diatoms. Concluding that diatom's frustules, due to their high sensitivity, low-cost, and availability are ideal alternative candidates for lab-on-particle applications (61, 62).

There is no concrete evidence of diatoms' presence in land animal bodies. Although, various studies showed the presence of diatoms in the internal organs and circulatory system of alive or dead animals in an aquatic environment (63-68). The siliceous cell wall of this organism is resistant to degradation even under high acidic conditions for a long period (64). The investigation on the occurrence of these organisms inside dead bodies of aquatic environment that died from different causalities opened up a new possibility of forensic analysis through the examination of diatoms called 'diatom axiom' or 'diatom test'(63). The diatom test is based on the hypothesis that the microalgae will not enter the systemic circulation and reach other internal organs and tissues such as bone marrow unless the circulation is functional. A forensic examiner can determine whether the individual was alive when it was entering the water by checking the presence of diatoms in various organs and tissues (68). In addition, since diatoms are highly sensitive to environmental conditions different water bodies have different diatom species abundance, which allows forensics to identify the drowning site (69). Despite being a distinguishable method, the diatom test has limitations also. One of the major issues is the occurrence of diatoms in a drowning medium. The absence or low presence of diatoms in a water body can lead to a false positive or negative result. The presence of diatoms in different layers (water base, deeper, and surface) of the water body also can be varied (68). Rapid death is another situation where the diatom test can be wrong. Instant death when an animal or human enters the water body for various reasons such as cold shock and cardiac diseases will give a negative result in the diatom test (70). The use of alcohol or drugs is another

factor that can mislead in the diatom test (71). Recent advances in DNA Barcoding and pyrosequencing opened the possibility of increasing the accuracy of the diatom test by checking the presence of plankton specific genes (e.g. Rubisco gene) in animal tissue (72).

3.3 Biosensors and Nanomaterials

The advances in biotechnological tools have made it effective to characterize the frustules of diatoms for the fabrication of optoelectronics. The uptake of various elements such as zinc and germanium by diatom like *Stephanodiscus hantzschii*, *Thalassiosira pseudonana etc* to change the pore size, shape, and other characteristics which are being studied for a variety of functions such as paleolimnological indicator and photonic device application (73, 74). It has been reported a relationship between the amount of Zn/Si (zinc/silicon) and free zinc ions which can be used as a proxy of paleolimnological indicators (73). The studies have raised intriguing questions about the uptake and the process of various elements which need detailed validations. Although, they have reported that they could only detect Zn and Fe as chemical elements. The analysis of various trace elements could be used as an environmental indicator which indeed will reduce the total workload needed to monitor large water bodies (75).

The complex nanobiochemical machinery of diatoms can be exploited to fabricate a wide range of nanostructures with diverse optical and electronic properties (76). The ability to manufacture different pore size nanostructure molecules has inspired many research groups and industries to use diatoms in biosensing (77). The incorporation of chemical elements such as germanium significantly affects the structure and size of frustule pores. A study tested the possibility of using Si- Germanium composite material in living diatoms in a two-stage photobioreactor cultivation process which reduced the pore size without disturbing the morphology (76). Another study reported that insertion of germanium in *Nitzschia frustulum* induces the nanocomb structure with blue photoluminescence (74). These nanostructure materials exhibit optical properties suitable for use in semiconductors and optoelectronics. Manufacturing of these materials combined with the silica frustule will improve the overall durability and range of applications in nanotechnology industries. These lab-scale scientific discoveries have shown that it is possible to create advanced nanomaterials in living diatoms.

3.4 Nanoparticles

The development of well-defined, advanced, and eco-friendly nanoparticles has attracted the attention of many researchers in the area of nanotechnology and its applications. Nanoparticles can be applied to study antimicrobial activity, catalyst, and filtering waste and chemical compounds. Biosynthesis of metallic nanoparticles in photoautotrophic organisms has gained the attention of nanotechnology researchers. Various approaches such as the sol-gel process, atomic layer deposition, chemical bath deposition, and inkjet printing process, have been used to modify the chemical composition of frustules. In this regard, an inexpensive chemical deposition technique was tested to deposit cadmium sulfide (CdS) on the surface on *Pinnularia sp.* without changing its morphology, since CdS has a wide range of applications in photodetectors and solar cells (78).

Recently it has been reported that diatoms can biosynthesize the nanoparticles such as gold and silver which has shown strong cytotoxicity against harmful microorganisms. Additionally, a highly ductile and malleable metal platinum (Pt) has been introduced in presence of dihydrogen hexachloroplatinate (IV) hexahydrate (DHH) in the living diatom *Melosira nummuloides*, without interfering the native morphology (79). This is due to platinum's excellent resistance to corrosion and stability at high temperatures, hence having application in a broad spectrum of industries, besides biomedicine. Other various examples of the on-going investigation of diatoms silica-based materials and their applications in biomedicine are shown in table 2.

We have discussed the major application of diatoms for established industries such as biofuels, nanomaterials, and biomedicine. However, diatoms also have other fascinating applications in environment monitoring, animal feed, and aquaculture, which indeed have huge potential considering climate change and devastating impacts of globalization on ecology and environment.

4 Environmental Technologies

4.1 River Ecology

Environment monitoring is an important aspect that is considered a necessity to deal with irregular changes or disturbances in our ecosystem. Therefore, researchers are developing tools using biotechnology and informatics to monitor the environment cost-effectively. Water resources are always under the influence of damaging anthropogenic pressures such as plastic waste and industrial sewage, which ultimately change or disturb the biogeochemical cycles and biodiversity. Besides, water is a universal solvent that holds the industries and economies together.

It is a well-established fact that diatoms hold the primary role in maintaining the aquatic ecosystem. Therefore, biodiversity assessment of diatom species in an environmental sample is one of the well-known strategies for biomonitoring. Presently, morphological assessment of the diatoms using microscopy is largely used which is time-consuming and requires special expertise (80). However, environmental metabarcoding has opened a quick way of analyzing the microbial DNA diversity in a natural environment such as flora and fauna (81, 82). The metabarcoding approach is based on DNA sequencing a specific region (barcode) of the whole DNA extracted from an environmental sample (eDNA). For example, the sequencing data obtained from diatom metabarcoding are then used to assign precise taxonomic identification of the diatoms present in the eDNA sample, which are further compared with the conventional morphological database to confirm the efficacy of metabarcoding results. Diatoms metabarcoding tool has been optimized significantly to quantify the diversity of diatoms at the genus and species level (83, 84).

Currently, this approach is still in development, since various questions have been raised especially when deciding which are the most suitable barcodes. The barcodes that had been used are the ribosomal small subunit, cytochrome c, and the internal transcribed spacer region combined with the 5.8S rRNA gene (85, 86).

Another main issue is processing the sequencing output data through computing. This method must be consistent with government policies for environmental regulation. For instance, MOTHUR is a comprehensive and efficient platform to study microbial diversity, but there are other bioinformatics software such as R, QIIME2 (87), LotuS (88), and PIPITS (89) that can be used to process a larger amount of data.

Additionally, various other research studies have supported the use of the diatoms metabarcoding approach as an alternative strategy to monitor river ecology on a timely basis. The results provide an estimated number of abundant and scarce species in samples obtained from different locations. Also, they give great insights into the fundamental status of the aquatic ecosystem (80). For instance, detailed evidence has been published by the Environmental Agency of the United Kingdom using diatoms indexes for river classification (83). A similar study on detailed information on diatom biodiversity using metabarcoding has been conducted using environmental samples from Mayotte Island, France (84). Moreover, a recently published work studied the impact of treated effluents on benthic diatom communities that showed a systematic change in diatom community composition (90). Concluding that detailed information about diatom diversity will give in-depth insights into climate change, micropollutants, and other organic pollutants, to study the disturbing effects of anthropogenic pressure on rivers. The use of metabarcoding for analyzing biodiversity is rapidly increasing and has been adopted by academic institutes and various companies/industries like Spygen (Canada), Naturemetrics (United Kingdom), IGAtech (Italy), Sinsoma (Austria), to name few. This particular strategy has been adopted by public authorities as well and has shown the potential to be used as an additional screening tool to replace the existing methods, which require excessive infrastructure and human resources. It is indeed possible to make it a

primary and permanent tool for river monitoring with advancements in sequencing, big data science, and artificial intelligence tools.

4.2 Phytoremediation

Besides the monitoring of river quality, water treatment is one of the major concerns for many countries around the world. In fact, human consumption has undoubtedly increased in the last few decades, subsequently, incrementing waste products presence in aquatic communities (91). Globally, almost 80% of the wastewater generated worldwide is discharged on rivers creating health and environmental hazards. The rise of nutrient accumulation in the aquatic system needs to be neutralized to maintain the balance in the environment. Increasing of pollution is disturbing the basic biogeochemical cycles, killing fish, depleting the dissolved oxygen, and producing different toxins, i.e. neurotoxins (92). Hence, there is an urgent need to explore new ways and upscale the existing systems to test reports and mitigate pollution from rivers and lakes worldwide.

The use of microalgae for wastewater treatment has been a subject of research for a long period which could be applied in collaboration with small- and large-scale industries. The excess of industrial waste discharged in the aquatic system can be used as nutrient supply by diatoms. Different kinds of wastewater such as brewery (93), aquaculture (94) and textile (95) have been studied for phytoremediation capability and have shown interesting results. The published studies have established that diatoms and microalgae can treat the wastewater to an extent, therefore, it would be less damaging to treat the wastewater with microalgae/diatoms before discharging in water bodies. In addition, use the harvested biomass for different industrial products such as biofuel. It is safe to assume that it is possible to develop small scale business in collaboration with restaurants, breweries, textile industries, to name a few, to treat wastewater and use the biomass for the production of valuable products such as fertilizers (96).

Heavy metal pollution is one of the major challenges which comes from the industries working with chemicals and dyes. Diatoms species are desirable organisms to

study heavy metal pollution because of the simplicity of metal exposure, absorption, and detoxification of metal ions by single cells. This is a unique detoxification process of diatoms and microalgae due to metal-binding peptides known as phytochelatins (PCs) that protect photosynthetic organisms from heavy metals (97). Some intracellular PCs have been characterized in cultures of *P. tricornutum* exposed to different metals such as Cd, Pb, or Zn. Besides, they are used widely in waste degradation considering the unique structure of diatoms and their ability to respond to the changing environment (98).

A study published in 2015 have reported a novel diatom Bacillariophyta sp. (BD1IITG) from petroleum biorefinery wastewater that can degrade phenol in a concentration range of 50-250 mg/L in Fog's media (99). Another example of the degradation of toxic molecules like phenylalanine hydroxylase into less toxic compounds using simple enzymatic oxidation has been identified in diatoms during the metabolism of phenanthrene and pyrene (100). These results are relevant considering that around 7 billion kg of phenol is produced for oil refining, pesticide production and to use in the pharmaceutical industry. Traditional phenol removal techniques involve several steps including the generation of by-products, which increments the cost of the treatment (101). However, there are very few reports available on exploiting the potential of diatoms in biodegrading waste materials. It is interesting to note that the studies have shown interesting results but the field of algae biotechnology requires more entrepreneurs to join the pieces of industrial and academic research to build a successful circular economy. Furthermore, there are some upcoming and growing ventures and companies in microalgae working in diverse applications and producing valuable products such as healthcare, animal feed, water management, chocolates, etc (Table 3).

5 Diatoms As Nutraceuticals And Feeds

Multiple epidemiological and clinical trials have shown the health benefits of omega fatty acids from fish oils and algae extracts (17-19, 102). Besides, there are few publications on cardio-protective and cognitive performance of omega fatty acids which have led to commercial production of infant foods, infant formula, fortified snack bars, and other dairy products supplemented with omega fatty acids (102, 103).

Diatoms have an immense nutritional value that can be used to produce novel compounds such as antioxidants, vitamins, animal feed, and vegetarian protein supplements. Several photosynthetic pigments have been identified in diatoms including carotenoids such as fucoxanthin (104). Additionally, *Nitzschia laevis*, *Nitzschia inconspicia*, *Navicula saprophila* and *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* extracts have a noticeable amount of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) that can be used as a nutritional feed in human diet and animal feed (14, 15, 105-107).

Moreover, diatoms are known to have diverse defense mechanisms in form of chemical substances for them to be protected against pathogens. For instance, *P. tricornutum* has a high amount of omega-7 monounsaturated fatty acids such as palmitoleic acid (C16:1) and other bioactive compounds that are active against grampositive pathogens (108). Furthermore, the EPA-rich marine diatom, *Odontella aurita*, used as a dietary supplement has shown antioxidant effects in rats (109). *O. aurita* has been approved to be commercialized as food in France by following EC regulation 258/97 in 2002 (110, 111).

Increasing the content of these bioactive molecules in diatoms has attracted a large amount of research. Some studies have managed to enhance the production of flavonoid and polyphenol content by culture modifications, for instance, cultivation temperature and nutrient supplementation in *Amphora sp.* (112). The general tendency when changing the culture temperature is an increase in lipid content in most species, while the chemical composition varied between species (113). For example, the total amount of saturated and monounsaturated fatty acids increases with temperature in *Rhodomonas sp.* (NT15) and *Cryptomonas sp.* (CRFI01). Whereas there was a comparative decrease in polyunsaturated fatty acids in both *Rhodomonas sp.* (NT15) and *Cryptomonas sp.* (CRFI01) (113).

6 Genetic Engineering Of Diatoms

The debate on using genetically modified microalgae and diatoms is on-going. However, it is a more controlled alternative for the production of recombinant proteins or any precursor molecules, considering the use of bioreactors for their production. The employment of genetic engineering tools in diatoms, to produce or increase the yield of compounds, allows the companies to optimize their use in the applications mentioned above. Therefore, genetic engineering is a promising method and an important branch to be used in the diatoms industry to further enhance the economic value of diatoms. However, it comes with two big challenges, firstly, to redesign the natural metabolic pathways in order to increase the production of desired endogenous compounds, and secondly, producing new heterologous compounds.

In the last 20 years, several projects have shown that these challenges can be solved at lab scale, by optimization of transformation methods, utilization of different gene promoters, expression of recombinant proteins, gene silencing, and genome editing methods; such as targeted mutagenesis techniques using meganucleases, gene knockouts, TALENS, and CRISPR/Cas9. Marketable bioproducts like lipids, pigments, nanomaterials, food supplements, fuel, syntheses of chemicals, drugs, and metabolites have been produced in *P. tricornutum, T. pseudonana*, and other diatoms species. While most of these analyses are related to lipid production for biofuel or bioenergy purposes, other studies showed that diatoms are biological factories that can generate a wide range of products from food to pharmaceutics biomaterial industry (22, 114-117). In addition, there are few companies such as Algenol biofuels, Synthetic Genomics,which have reported the use of genetically modified microalgae for the production of biofuels.

Moreover, the approach of synthetic biology along with high throughput sequencing technologies open the doors to understanding the whole genome, the proteins that it encodes, and the regulatory elements of the cell during cellular growth and division (118, 119). Several sequencing projects have been performed in *P. tricornutum* and *T. pseudonana* strains (120-123), generating the transcriptomic and proteomic data sets that make possible precise reconstructions of metabolic networks (124, 125).

Recently, the Synthetic Diatoms Project website has been launched as a platform to provide information to grow, transform, edit, and analyze *P. tricornutum* and *T. pseudonana* (https://www.syntheticdiatoms.org/). These projects have been used as a springboard to facilitate genome annotation for other diatoms species: *T. oceanica, T. weissflogii, Fragilariopsis cylindrus, Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries, Pseudo-nitzschia multistriata, Seminavis robusta, Fistulifera solaris, Cyclotella cryptica* (Table 4).

Diatoms are a robust model for genome editing and cell transformation. Optimized methods of DNA delivery have been developed using biolistic or via electroporation. In both techniques, the transgenes are randomly integrated into the genome, with multiple integration events, variable transgene copy numbers, and chromosomal positions. The biolistic gene transfer method affects genome integrity due to the break and repair of the DNA double-strand by non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) (126). However, this method is needed if the aim is to transform the chloroplast genome. An alternative transformation technique is the extrachromosomal-based expression approach that depends on vectors containing a yeast-derived sequence, which can be delivered through bacterial conjugation using E. coli (127).

An important element for genetic engineering is the promoter. The most commonly used are the light-regulated promoters of the fucoxanthin chlorophyll a/c-binding protein genes fcpA/B/C/D (LHCF) (128, 129). Alternatively, the elongation factor 2 (EF2) promoter sequence is a constitutive promoter (130). Recently, the most abundant secreted protein in *P. tricornutum* was identified, named "highly abundant secreted protein 1" (HASP1), and the activities of its promoter and the signal peptide were characterized using green fluorescent protein (GFP) as a reporter (131). A couple of inducible promoters have been reported: like nitrate reductase (NR) and alkaline phosphatase gene promoters in *P. tricornutum*, which are induced under nitrogen or phosphate starvation respectively (115, 132) and glutamine synthetase gene promoter, induced by a blue light pulse (133, 134). In addition, promoter regions containing diatom-infecting viruses (DIVs) mediated a significantly higher level expression of the reporter gene in cells in the stationary phase compared to the exponential phase of growth (135). Other elements

needed for genetic engineering are reporter genes and selection markers. Among reporter genes, beta-glucuronidase *uidA* (GUS), fluorescent proteins like GFP/YFP/CFP, chloramphenicol acetyltransferase conferring resistance to chloramphenicol (CAT) and Luciferase (LUC) are the most employed, other reporter proteins are listed in Table 5. The classic selection markers in diatoms are genes that confer resistance to zeocin, phleomycin, and nourseothricin, as shown in Table 5are the most used. An alternative to using selective markers is the use of auxotrophic strains, such as uracil, histidine, and tryptophan auxotrophs (136, 137). Moreover, it is considered that the urease gene, either in an inactive or edited form, is an interesting tool for the selection of *P. tricornutum* and *T. pseudonana* strains (115, 138, 139). An endogenous selectable marker in diatoms was generated by point mutations at a conserved residue Gly290 to Ser/Arg in the phytoene desaturase (PDS1) gene, which confers resistance to the herbicide norflurazon (140).

Concerning heterologous recombinant protein expression, diatom gene codon optimization is required for optimal expression; to avoid silencing expression and better protein translation. Although it has not been reported in diatoms, different projects which were done in green algae, have shown that including introns in the expression cassette can increase transcript abundance (141-143) . In addition, 5'-UTR and 3'-UTR of nitrate reductase (NR) allow the control of timing and level of transgene expression in *C. fusiformis* (144). Down-regulation of gene expression can be achieved through silencing by expressing antisense repeat sequences of target genes (Table 5).

Industrial processes using diatoms are cost-effective and have performed well in large-scale cultures (145). This is supported by the plasticity to adapt to extreme environmental conditions of diatoms, making them great candidates for sustainable biofactories (146-148). Altogether, these developments in metabolic pathways and synthesis of heterologous compounds represent promising insights for the improvement of yield, quality of products, and sustainability in the use of diatoms as cell factories.

7 Conclusion And Future Perspectives

The documented studies stated the astounding nature and possible all-round use of diatoms. This is one of the approaches to increase human consumption of renewable products and contributes towards reducing carbon emissions. Although the commercial application of diatoms still needs improvements, it is indeed a crucial research area for human wellbeing. For example, developments in diatoms research can lead to innovative products in domains of drug delivery, sensing, and detection parts to build complex biomedical devices and nanoparticles for waste degradation. Moreover, recent advancements in sequencing technology and processing large biological datasets have made it possible to label and store the global biodiversity of diatoms in all geographical locations.

One of the major challenges in diatom-based industries is scaling up the process for large-scale manufacturing which is dependent on many micro and macro factors such as cultivation, harvesting, drying, genetic modification, lack of genomic, proteomic, and metabolic information, etc. However, it is possible to overcome these challenges in near future with advancements in genetic tools, bioreactors, and other infrastructure changes. In general, there are many challenges in bio-based industries at different levels; academic/industrial research, infrastructure, policies, education, and information gaps. The advancements in academic research and discoveries are consistent considering the publications but it requires support from other domains such as the development of infrastructure, reducing the knowledge gaps between scientific researcher and entrepreneurs, changes in the policies at both national and international level. And to conclude, the recent research phenomenon blasted in the last decade, which is diatoms' industrial potential, still leaves many unsolved questions. Major questions will involve studying the extent of genetic or artificial manipulation without compromising its intact structure and delicate silica pattern. The unfolding of various missing links in genetic engineering, cultivation, and harvesting will make it possible to replicate complex plant pathways in diatoms. These tools have opened the door to study diatoms for eco-friendly processes.

8 Author Contributions

N.S. and I.D-P. conceived, designed, and led the study. N.S., D.P.S., A.M.D-G., E.F. and A.M. collected and analyzed the data, prepared the figures and table. N.S., D.P.S., A.M.D-G., E.F., A.M., F.M-M., H.G. and I.D-P. authored and reviewed the drafts of the manuscript, and approved the final manuscript.

9 Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

10 Acknowledgments

We acknowledge that financial support for this review was funded by the Canada Research Chair on plant specialized metabolism Award No 950-232164 to I.D-P. Thanks are extended to the Canadian taxpayers and to the Canadian government for supporting the Canada Research Chairs Program. Additional support in the form of scholarships to N.S., D.P.S., A.M.D-G., E.F. and A.M. from Mitacs—Acceleration program grants no IT12310 and IT16463 to I.D-P. is also acknowledged.

11 References

- 1. Wang J-K, Seibert M. Prospects for commercial production of diatoms. Biotechnology for biofuels. 2017;10:16–.
- 2. Round FE, Crawford RM, Mann DG, Press CU. Diatoms: Biology and Morphology of the Genera: Cambridge University Press; 1990.
- 3. Smetacek V. Diatoms and the Ocean Carbon Cycle. Protist. 1999;150(1):25–32.
- 4. Mann DG, Vanormelingen P. An Inordinate Fondness? The Number, Distributions, and Origins of Diatom Species. Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology. 2013;60(4):414–20.

- 5. Milligan AJ, Morel FMM. A Proton Buffering Role for Silica in Diatoms. Science. 2002;297(5588):1848–50.
- 6. Knight MJ, Senior L, Nancolas B, Ratcliffe S, Curnow P. Direct evidence of the molecular basis for biological silicon transport. Nat Commun. 2016;7:11926–.
- 7. Zulu NN, Zienkiewicz K, Vollheyde K, Feussner I. Current trends to comprehend lipid metabolism in diatoms. Progress in Lipid Research. 2018;70:1–16.
- 8. Marella TK, López-Pacheco IY, Parra-Saldívar R, Dixit S, Tiwari A. Wealth from waste: Diatoms as tools for phycoremediation of wastewater and for obtaining value from the biomass. Science of The Total Environment. 2020;724:137960.
- 9. Jin P, Agustí S. Fast adaptation of tropical diatoms to increased warming with trade-offs. Scientific Reports. 2018;8(1):17771.
- 10. Tréguer P, Nelson DM, Van Bennekom AJ, DeMaster DJ, Leynaert A, Quéguiner B. The Silica Balance in the World Ocean: A Reestimate. Science. 1995;268(5209):375–9.
- 11. Afgan E, Baker D, van den Beek M, Blankenberg D, Bouvier D, Čech M, et al. The Galaxy platform for accessible, reproducible and collaborative biomedical analyses: 2016 update. Nucleic Acids Res. 2016;44(W1):W3–W10.
- 12. Falkowski PG, Barber RT, Smetacek VV. Biogeochemical Controls and Feedbacks on Ocean Primary Production. Science. 1998;281(5374):200–7.
- 13. Singh AK, Sharma N, Farooqi H, Abdin MZ, Mock T, Kumar S. Phycoremediation of municipal wastewater by microalgae to produce biofuel. International Journal of Phytoremediation. 2017;19(9):805–12.
- 14. Wen Z-Y, Chen F. Application of statistically-based experimental designs for the optimization of eicosapentaenoic acid production by the diatom Nitzschia laevis. Biotechnology and Bioengineering. 2001;75(2):159–69.
- 15. Wen ZY, Chen F. A perfusion–cell bleeding culture strategy for enhancing the productivity of eicosapentaenoic acid by Nitzschia laevis. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology. 2001;57(3):316-22.
- 16. Dyall SC. Long-chain omega-3 fatty acids and the brain: a review of the independent and shared effects of EPA, DPA and DHA. Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience. 2015;7(52).
- 17. Cole GM, Ma Q-L, Frautschy SA. Dietary fatty acids and the aging brain. Nutr Rev. 2010;68 Suppl 2(0 2):S102–S11.
- Thomas J, Thomas CJ, Radcliffe J, Itsiopoulos C. Omega-3 Fatty Acids in Early Prevention of Inflammatory Neurodegenerative Disease: A Focus on Alzheimer's Disease. BioMed Research International. 2015;2015:172801.
- 19. Wang H, Daggy BP. The Role of Fish Oil in Inflammatory Eye Diseases. Biomedicine Hub. 2017;2(1):1–12.

- 20. Alves Martins D, Rocha F, Castanheira F, Mendes A, Pousão-Ferreira P, Bandarra N, et al. Effects of dietary arachidonic acid on cortisol production and gene expression in stress response in Senegalese sole (Solea senegalensis) post-larvae. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry. 2013;39(5):1223–38.
- 21. Xia S, Wang K, Wan L, Li A, Hu Q, Zhang C. Production, characterization, and antioxidant activity of fucoxanthin from the marine diatom Odontella aurita. Mar Drugs. 2013;11(7):2667-81.
- 22. Mishra M, Arukha AP, Bashir T, Yadav D, Prasad GBKS. All New Faces of Diatoms: Potential Source of Nanomaterials and Beyond. Frontiers in Microbiology. 2017;8(1239).
- 23. Dolatabadi JEN, Mashinchian O, Ayoubi B, Jamali AA, Mobed A, Losic D, et al. Optical and electrochemical DNA nanobiosensors. TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry. 2011;30(3):459-72.
- 24. Nanjappa D, Audic S, Romac S, Kooistra WHCF, Zingone A. Assessment of Species Diversity and Distribution of an Ancient Diatom Lineage Using a DNA Metabarcoding Approach. PLOS ONE. 2014;9(8):e103810.
- 25. Medlin LK. Evolution of the diatoms: major steps in their evolution and a review of the supporting molecular and morphological evidence. Phycologia. 2016;55(1):79–103.
- 26. Rodrigue J-P, Notteboom T. The geography of cruises: Itineraries, not destinations. Applied Geography. 2013;38:31–42.
- 27. Brocks JJ, Buick R, Logan GA, Summons RE. Composition and syngeneity of molecular fossils from the 2.78 to 2.45 billion-year-old Mount Bruce Supergroup, Pilbara Craton, Western Australia. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta. 2003;67(22):4289–319.
- 28. Katz ME, Finkel ZV, Grzebyk D, Knoll AH, Falkowski PG. Evolutionary Trajectories and Biogeochemical Impacts of Marine Eukaryotic Phytoplankton. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics. 2004;35(1):523–56.
- 29. Dunstan GA, Volkman JK, Barrett SM, Leroi J-M, Jeffrey SW. Essential polyunsaturated fatty acids from 14 species of diatom (Bacillariophyceae). Phytochemistry. 1993;35(1):155–61.
- 30. Sharma N, Fleurent G, Awwad F, Cheng M, Meddeb-Mouelhi F, Budge SM, et al. Red Light Variation an Effective Alternative to Regulate Biomass and Lipid Profiles in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Applied Sciences. 2020;10(7):2531.
- 31. Knothe G. Dependence of biodiesel fuel properties on the structure of fatty acid alkyl esters. Fuel Processing Technology. 2005;86(10):1059–70.
- 32. Knothe G. Improving biodiesel fuel properties by modifying fatty ester composition. Energy & Environmental Science. 2009;2(7):759–66.
- Knothe G. Fuel Properties of Highly Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid Methyl Esters. Prediction of Fuel Properties of Algal Biodiesel. Energy & Fuels. 2012; 26(8):5265–73.

- 34. Gallagher BJ. The economics of producing biodiesel from algae. Renewable Energy. 2011;36(1):158-62.
- 35. Sheehan J, Dunahay T, Benemann J, Roessler P. Look Back at the U.S. Department of Energy's Aquatic Species Program: Biodiesel from Algae; Close-Out Report. United States; 1998 1998-07-01.
- Huesemann MH, Benemann JR. Biofuels from Microalgae: Review of Products, Processes and Potential, with Special Focus on Dunaliella sp. United States: A. Ben-Amotz, J.E.W. Polle, and D.V. Subba Rao; Science Publishers, New Hampshire, United States(US). 2009 2009-12-31.
- 37. Radakovits R, Jinkerson RE, Darzins A, Posewitz MC. Genetic engineering of algae for enhanced biofuel production. Eukaryot Cell. 2010;9(4):486–501.
- 38. Tibocha-Bonilla JD, Zuñiga C, Godoy-Silva RD, Zengler K. Advances in metabolic modeling of oleaginous microalgae. Biotechnology for Biofuels. 2018;11(1):241.
- 39. Levitan O, Dinamarca J, Hochman G, Falkowski PG. Diatoms: a fossil fuel of the future. Trends in Biotechnology. 2014;32(3):117–24.
- 40. Soni AK, Kumar S, Pandey M. Performance Comparison of Microalgae Biodiesel Blends with Petro–Diesel on Variable Compression Ratio Engine. Journal of The Institution of Engineers (India): Series E. 2020.
- 41. DiMasi JA, Grabowski HG, Hansen RW. Innovation in the pharmaceutical industry: New estimates of R&D costs. Journal of Health Economics. 2016;47:20–33.
- 42. Aw MS, Simovic S, Addai-Mensah J, Losic D. Silica microcapsules from diatoms as new carrier for delivery of therapeutics. Nanomedicine (Lond). 2011;6(7):1159–73.
- 43. Ragni R, Cicco S, Vona D, Leone G, Farinola GM. Biosilica from diatoms microalgae: smart materials from bio-medicine to photonics. Journal of Materials Research. 2017;32(2):279–91.
- 44. Cicco SR, Vona D, De Giglio E, Cometa S, Mattioli-Belmonte M, Palumbo F, et al. Chemically Modified Diatoms Biosilica for Bone Cell Growth with Combined Drug-Delivery and Antioxidant Properties. ChemPlusChem. 2015;80(7):1104–12.
- 45. Chandrasekaran S, Sweetman MJ, Kant K, Skinner W, Losic D, Nann T, et al. Silicon diatom frustules as nanostructured photoelectrodes. Chemical Communications. 2014;50(72):10441–4.
- 46. Terracciano M, De Stefano L, Rea I. Diatoms Green Nanotechnology for Biosilica-Based Drug Delivery Systems. Pharmaceutics. 2018;10(4):242.
- 47. Martin-Jézéquel V, Hildebrand M, Brzezinski MA. Silicon Metabolism In Diatoms: Implications For Growth Journal of Phycology. 2000;36(5):821–40.
- 48. Gnanamoorthy P, Anandhan S, Prabu VA. Natural nanoporous silica frustules from marine diatom as a biocarrier for drug delivery. Journal of Porous Materials. 2014;21(5):789–96.

- 49. Aw MS, Simovic S, Addai-Mensah J, Losic D. Polymeric micelles in porous and nanotubular implants as a new system for extended delivery of poorly soluble drugs. Journal of Materials Chemistry. 2011;21(20):7082–9.
- 50. Losic D, Mitchell JG, Voelcker NH. Complex gold nanostructures derived by templating from diatom frustules. Chemical Communications. 2005(39):4905–7.
- 51. Losic D, Yu Y, Aw MS, Simovic S, Thierry B, Addai-Mensah J. Surface functionalisation of diatoms with dopamine modified iron-oxide nanoparticles: toward magnetically guided drug microcarriers with biologically derived morphologies. Chemical Communications. 2010;46(34):6323–5.
- 52. Slowing II, Vivero-Escoto JL, Wu C-W, Lin VSY. Mesoporous silica nanoparticles as controlled release drug delivery and gene transfection carriers. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews. 2008;60(11):1278–88.
- 53. Delalat B, Sheppard VC, Rasi Ghaemi S, Rao S, Prestidge CA, McPhee G, et al. Targeted drug delivery using genetically engineered diatom biosilica. Nat Commun. 2015;6(1):8791.
- 54. Curnow P, Senior L, Knight MJ, Thamatrakoln K, Hildebrand M, Booth PJ. Expression, purification, and reconstitution of a diatom silicon transporter. Biochemistry. 2012;51(18):3776–85.
- 55. Rea I, Martucci NM, De Stefano L, Ruggiero I, Terracciano M, Dardano P, et al. Diatomite biosilica nanocarriers for siRNA transport inside cancer cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2014;1840(12):3393–403.
- 56. Milović M, Simović S, Lošić D, Dashevskiy A, Ibrić S. Solid self-emulsifying phospholipid suspension (SSEPS) with diatom as a drug carrier. Eur J Pharm Sci. 2014;63:226–32.
- Vasani RB, Losic D, Cavallaro A, Voelcker NH. Fabrication of stimulus-responsive diatom biosilica microcapsules for antibiotic drug delivery. Journal of Materials Chemistry B. 2015;3(21):4325–9.
- 58. Harris M, Bhatti Y, Buckley J, Sharma D. Fast and frugal innovations in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Nature Medicine. 2020;26(6):814–7.
- 59. Zamora P, Narváez A, Domínguez E. Enzyme-modified nanoparticles using biomimetically synthesized silica. Bioelectrochemistry. 2009;76(1):100–6.
- Kato K, Lee S, Nagata F. Efficient enzyme encapsulation inside sol-gel silica sheets prepared by poly-L-lysine as a catalyst. Journal of Asian Ceramic Societies. 2020;8(2):396– 406.
- 61. De Stefano L, Lamberti A, Rotiroti L, De Stefano M. Interfacing the nanostructured biosilica microshells of the marine diatom Coscinodiscus wailesii with biological matter. Acta Biomaterialia. 2008;4(1):126–30.
- 62. De Stefano L, Rotiroti L, De Stefano M, Lamberti A, Lettieri S, Setaro A, et al. Marine diatoms as optical biosensors. Biosensors and Bioelectronics. 2009;24(6):1580–4.

- 63. Lunetta P, Penttilä A, Hällfors G. Scanning and transmission electron microscopical evidence of the capacity of diatoms to penetrate the alveolo-capillary barrier in drowning. Int J Legal Med. 1998;111(5):229–37.
- 64. Lunetta P, Modell JH. Macroscopical, Microscopical, and Laboratory Findings in Drowning Victims. In: Tsokos M, editor. Forensic Pathology Reviews. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press; 2005. p. 3–77.
- 65. Ludes B, Coste M, Tracqui A, Mangin P. Continuous River Monitoring of the Diatoms in the Diagnosis of Drowning. Journal of Forensic Sciences. 1996;41(3):425–8.
- 66. Hürlimann J, Feer P, Elber F, Niederberger K, Dirnhofer R, Wyler D. Diatom detection in the diagnosis of death by drowning. Int J Legal Med. 2000;114(1-2):6-14.
- 67. Horton BP, Boreham S, Hillier C. The development and application of a diatom-based quantitative reconstruction technique in forensic science. J Forensic Sci. 2006;51(3):643–50.
- 68. Levkov Z, Williams DM, Nikolovska D, Tofilovska S, Čakar Z, Williams M, et al. The use of diatoms in forensic science: Advantages and limitations of the diatom test in cases of drowning. The Archaeological and Forensic Applications of Microfossils: A Deeper Understanding of Human History. 7: Geological Society of London; 2017. p. 0.
- 69. Zhou Y, Cao Y, Huang J, Deng K, Ma K, Zhang T, et al. Research advances in forensic diatom testing. Forensic Sciences Research. 2020;5(2):98–105.
- 70. Smol JP, Stoermer EF. The Diatoms: Applications for the Environmental and Earth Sciences: Cambridge University Press; 2010.
- 71. Ago K, Hayashi T, Ago M, Ogata M. The number of diatoms recovered from the lungs and other organs in drowning deaths in bathwater. Leg Med (Tokyo). 2011;13(4):186–90.
- 72. Fang T, Liao S, Chen X, Zhao Y, Zhu Q, Cao Y, et al. Forensic drowning site inference employing mixed pyrosequencing profile of DNA barcode gene (rbcL). International Journal of Legal Medicine. 2019;133(5):1351–60.
- Jaccard T, Ariztegui D, Wilkinson KJ. Incorporation of zinc into the frustule of the freshwater diatom Stephanodiscus hantzschii. Chemical Geology. 2009;265(3):381– 6.
- 74. Qin T, Gutu T, Jiao J, Chang C-h, Rorrer GL. Biological Fabrication of Photoluminescent Nanocomb Structures by Metabolic Incorporation of Germanium into the Biosilica of the Diatom Nitzschia frustulum. ACS Nano. 2008;2(6):1296–304.
- 75. Ellwood MJ, Hunter KA. The incorporation of zinc and iron into the frustule of the marine diatom Thalassiosira pseudonana. Limnology and Oceanography. 2000;45(7):1517–24.
- 76. Rorrer G, Jeffryes C, Chang C-h, Lee D-H, Gutu T, Jiao J, et al. Biological fabrication of nanostructured silicon-germanium photonic crystals possessing unique photoluminescent and electroluminescent properties: SPIE; 2007.

- 77. De Tommasi E. Light Manipulation by Single Cells: The Case of Diatoms. Journal of Spectroscopy. 2016;2016:2490128.
- 78. Gutu T, Gale DK, Jeffryes C, Wang W, Chang C-h, Rorrer GL, et al. Electron Microscopy and Optical Characterization of Cadmium Sulphide Nanocrystals Deposited on the Patterned Surface of Diatom Biosilica. Journal of Nanomaterials. 2009;2009:860536.
- 79. Yamazaki T, Sasanuma H, Mayama S, Umemura K. Cultivation of Melosira nummuloides cells in the presence of platinum: Preparation of metal-containing frustules. physica status solidi c. 2010;7(11–12):2759–62.
- 80. Larras F, Keck F, Montuelle B, Rimet F, Bouchez A. Linking Diatom Sensitivity to Herbicides to Phylogeny: A Step Forward for Biomonitoring? Environmental Science & Technology. 2014;48(3):1921–30.
- 81. Bik HM, Porazinska DL, Creer S, Caporaso JG, Knight R, Thomas WK. Sequencing our way towards understanding global eukaryotic biodiversity. Trends Ecol Evol. 2012;27(4):233–43.
- 82. Taberlet P, Coissac E, Hajibabaei M, Rieseberg LH. Environmental DNA. Molecular Ecology. 2012;21(8):1789–93.
- 83. Martyn Kelly NB, Steve Juggins,Peter kille, David Mann, Daniel Pass, Melanie Sapp, Shinya, Sato RG. A DNA based diatom metabarcoding approach for Water Framework Directive classification of rivers. 2018.
- Vasselon V, Rimet F, Tapolczai K, Bouchez A. Assessing ecological status with diatoms DNA metabarcoding: Scaling-up on a WFD monitoring network (Mayotte island, France). Ecological Indicators. 2017;82:1–12.
- 85. Zimmermann J, Jahn R, Gemeinholzer B. Barcoding diatoms: evaluation of the V4 subregion on the 18S rRNA gene, including new primers and protocols. Organisms Diversity & Evolution. 2011;11(3):173.
- Luddington IA, Kaczmarska I, Lovejoy C. Distance and Character-Based Evaluation of the V4 Region of the 18S rRNA Gene for the Identification of Diatoms (Bacillariophyceae). PLOS ONE. 2012;7(9):e45664.
- 87. Caporaso JG, Kuczynski J, Stombaugh J, Bittinger K, Bushman FD, Costello EK, et al. QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. Nature Methods. 2010;7(5):335–6.
- 88. Hildebrand F, Tadeo R, Voigt AY, Bork P, Raes J. LotuS: an efficient and user-friendly OTU processing pipeline. Microbiome. 2014;2(1):30.
- 89. Gweon HS, Oliver A, Taylor J, Booth T, Gibbs M, Read DS, et al. PIPITS: an automated pipeline for analyses of fungal internal transcribed spacer sequences from the Illumina sequencing platform. Methods in Ecology and Evolution. 2015;6(8):973–80.
- 90. Chonova T, Kurmayer R, Rimet F, Labanowski J, Vasselon V, Keck F, et al. Benthic Diatom Communities in an Alpine River Impacted by Waste Water Treatment

Effluents as Revealed Using DNA Metabarcoding. Frontiers in Microbiology. 2019;10(653).

- 91. Walker Jr. WW. Significance of eutrophication in water supply reservoirs. Journal AWWA. 1983;75(1):38-42.
- 92. Boyd CE. Water Quality in Ponds for Aquaculture: Auburn University, Alabama Agricultural Experiment Station; 1990.
- 93. Choi H-J. Parametric study of brewery wastewater effluent treatment using Chlorella vulgaris microalgae. Environmental Engineering Research. 2016;21(4):401–8.
- 94. Tossavainen M, Lahti K, Edelmann M, Eskola R, Lampi A-M, Piironen V, et al. Integrated utilization of microalgae cultured in aquaculture wastewater: wastewater treatment and production of valuable fatty acids and tocopherols. Journal of Applied Phycology. 2019;31(3):1753–63.
- 95. El-Kassas HY, Mohamed LA. Bioremediation of the textile waste effluent by Chlorella vulgaris. The Egyptian Journal of Aquatic Research. 2014;40(3):301–8.
- 96. Suleiman AKA, Lourenço KS, Clark C, Luz RL, da Silva GHR, Vet LEM, et al. From toilet to agriculture: Fertilization with microalgal biomass from wastewater impacts the soil and rhizosphere active microbiomes, greenhouse gas emissions and plant growth. Resources, Conservation and Recycling. 2020;161:104924.
- 97. Grill E, Winnacker EL, Zenk MH. Phytochelatins: the principal heavy-metal complexing peptides of higher plants. Science. 1985;230(4726):674–6.
- 98. Glazer AN, Nikaido H. Microbial Biotechnology: Fundamentals of Applied Microbiology: Cambridge University Press; 2007.
- 99. Das B, Mandal TK, Patra S. Biodegradation of phenol by a novel diatom BD1IITG-kinetics and biochemical studies. International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology. 2016;13(2):529–42.
- 100. Wang XC, Zhao HM. Uptake and Biodegradation of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons by Marine Seaweed. Journal of Coastal Research. 2007:1056–61.
- Senthilvelan T, Kanagaraj J, Panda RC, Mandal AB. Biodegradation of phenol by mixed microbial culture: an eco-friendly approach for the pollution reduction. Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy. 2014;16(1):113–26.
- 102. Cottin SC, Sanders TA, Hall WL. The differential effects of EPA and DHA on cardiovascular risk factors. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society. 2011;70(2):215– 31.
- 103. Arterburn LM, Oken HA, Hoffman JP, Bailey-Hall E, Chung G, Rom D, et al. Bioequivalence of Docosahexaenoic Acid from Different Algal Oils in Capsules and in a DHA-Fortified Food. Lipids. 2007;42(11):1011.
- Kuczynska P, Jemiola-Rzeminska M, Strzalka K. Photosynthetic Pigments in Diatoms. Mar Drugs. 2015;13(9):5847–81.

- Kitano M, Matsukawa R, Karube I. Changes in eicosapentaenoic acid content of Navicula saprophila, Rhodomonas salina and Nitzschia sp. under mixotrophic conditions. Journal of Applied Phycology. 1997;9(6):559–63.
- 106. Wah NB, Ahmad ALB, Chieh DCJ, Hwai ATS. Changes in Lipid Profiles of a Tropical Benthic Diatom in different Cultivation Temperature. 2015. 2015;4(2):11.
- 107. Tocher DR, Betancor MB, Sprague M, Olsen RE, Napier JA. Omega-3 Long-Chain Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids, EPA and DHA: Bridging the Gap between Supply and Demand. Nutrients. 2019;11(1):89.
- 108. Desbois AP, Mearns-Spragg A, Smith VJ. A Fatty Acid from the Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* is Antibacterial Against Diverse Bacteria Including Multi-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA). Marine Biotechnology. 2009;11(1):45–52.
- 109. Haimeur A, Ulmann L, Mimouni V, Guéno F, Pineau-Vincent F, Meskini N, et al. The role of Odontella aurita, a marine diatom rich in EPA, as a dietary supplement in dyslipidemia, platelet function and oxidative stress in high-fat fed rats. Lipids Health Dis. 2012;11:147–.
- 110. Pulz O, Gross W. Valuable products from biotechnology of microalgae. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology. 2004;65(6):635–48.
- Buono S, Langellotti AL, Martello A, Rinna F, Fogliano V. Functional ingredients from microalgae. Food & Function. 2014;5(8):1669–85.
- 112. Chtourou H, Dahmen I, Jebali A, Karray F, Hassairi I, Abdelkafi S, et al. Characterization of Amphora sp., a newly isolated diatom wild strain, potentially usable for biodiesel production. Bioprocess and Biosystems Engineering. 2015;38(7):1381–92.
- 113. Renaud SM, Thinh L-V, Lambrinidis G, Parry DL. Effect of temperature on growth, chemical composition and fatty acid composition of tropical Australian microalgae grown in batch cultures. Aquaculture. 2002;211(1):195–214.
- 114. Lauritano C, Andersen JH, Hansen E, Albrigtsen M, Escalera L, Esposito F, et al. Bioactivity Screening of Microalgae for Antioxidant, Anti-Inflammatory, Anticancer, Anti-Diabetes, and Antibacterial Activities. Frontiers in Marine Science. 2016;3(68).
- 115. Slattery SS, Diamond A, Wang H, Therrien JA, Lant JT, Jazey T, et al. An Expanded Plasmid-Based Genetic Toolbox Enables Cas9 Genome Editing and Stable Maintenance of Synthetic Pathways in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. ACS Synthetic Biology. 2018;7(2):328–38.
- 116. Sharma N, Fleurent G, Awwad F, Cheng M, Meddeb-Mouelhi F, Budge S, et al. Red to white Shift an Effective Alternative to Boost Biomass and Lipids in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Applied Sciences. 2020;10(7).
- 117. Dhaouadi F, Awwad F, Diamond A, Desgagne-Penix I. Diatoms' breakthroughs in biotechnology: *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* as a model for producing high-added value molecules. American Journal of Plant Sciences 2020;11(10):1632–70.

- Hildebrand M, Lerch SJL. Diatom silica biomineralization: Parallel development of approaches and understanding. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology. 2015;46:27– 35.
- 119. Huang W, Daboussi F. Genetic and metabolic engineering in diatoms. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. 2017;372(1728):20160411.
- Bowler C, Allen AE, Badger JH, Grimwood J, Jabbari K, Kuo A, et al. The Phaeodactylum genome reveals the evolutionary history of diatom genomes. Nature. 2008;456(7219):239– 44.
- Armbrust EV, Berges JA, Bowler C, Green BR, Martinez D, Putnam NH, et al. The Genome of the Diatom Thalassiosira Pseudonana: Ecology, Evolution, and Metabolism. Science. 2004;306(5693):79–86.
- 122. Koester JA, Berthiaume CT, Hiranuma N, Parker MS, Iverson V, Morales R, et al. Sexual ancestors generated an obligate asexual and globally dispersed clone within the model diatom species Thalassiosira pseudonana. Scientific Reports. 2018;8(1):10492.
- 123. Rastogi A, Maheswari U, Dorrell RG, Vieira FRJ, Maumus F, Kustka A, et al. Integrative analysis of large scale transcriptome data draws a comprehensive landscape of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* genome and evolutionary origin of diatoms. Scientific Reports. 2018;8(1):4834.
- 124. Fabris M, Matthijs M, Rombauts S, Vyverman W, Goossens A, Baart GJE. The metabolic blueprint of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* reveals a eukaryotic Entner–Doudoroff glycolytic pathway. The Plant Journal. 2012;70(6):1004–14.
- 125. Levering J, Broddrick J, Dupont CL, Peers G, Beeri K, Mayers J, et al. Genome-Scale Model Reveals Metabolic Basis of Biomass Partitioning in a Model Diatom. PLOS ONE. 2016;11(5):e0155038.
- 126. Zaboikin M, Zaboikina T, Freter C, Srinivasakumar N. Non-Homologous End Joining and Homology Directed DNA Repair Frequency of Double-Stranded Breaks Introduced by Genome Editing Reagents. PLOS ONE. 2017;12(1):e0169931.
- 127. Karas BJ, Diner RE, Lefebvre SC, McQuaid J, Phillips APR, Noddings CM, et al. Designer diatom episomes delivered by bacterial conjugation. Nat Commun. 2015;6(1):6925.
- 128. Zaslavskaia LA, Lippmeier JC, Kroth PG, Grossman AR, Apt KE. Transformation of the diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* (Bacillariophyceae) with a variety of selectable marker and reporter genes. Journal of Phycology. 2000;36(2):379–86.
- 129. Nymark M, Valle KC, Hancke K, Winge P, Andresen K, Johnsen G, et al. Molecular and Photosynthetic Responses to Prolonged Darkness and Subsequent Acclimation to Re-Illumination in the Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. PLOS ONE. 2013;8(3):e58722.
- 130. Seo S, Jeon H, Hwang S, Jin E, Chang KS. Development of a new constitutive expression system for the transformation of the diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Algal Research. 2015;11:50–4.
- 131. Erdene-Ochir E, Shin B-K, Kwon B, Jung C, Pan C-H. Identification and characterisation of the novel endogenous promoter HASP1 and its signal peptide from *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Scientific Reports. 2019;9(1):9941.
- 132. Fabris M, George J, Kuzhiumparambil U, Lawson CA, Jaramillo-Madrid AC, Abbriano RM, et al. Extrachromosomal Genetic Engineering of the Marine Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* Enables the Heterologous Production of Monoterpenoids. ACS Synthetic Biology. 2020;9(3):598–612.
- De Riso V, Raniello R, Maumus F, Rogato A, Bowler C, Falciatore A. Gene silencing in the marine diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Nucleic Acids Research. 2009;37(14):e96e.
- Erdene-Ochir E, Shin B-K, Huda MN, Kim DH, Lee EH, Song D-G, et al. Cloning of a novel endogenous promoter for foreign gene expression in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Applied Biological Chemistry. 2016;59(6):861–7.
- 135. Kadono T, Miyagawa-Yamaguchi A, Kira N, Tomaru Y, Okami T, Yoshimatsu T, et al. Characterization of marine diatom-infecting virus promoters in the model diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Scientific Reports. 2015;5(1):18708.
- 136. Sakaguchi T, Nakajima K, Matsuda Y. Identification of the UMP synthase gene by establishment of uracil auxotrophic mutants and the phenotypic complementation system in the marine diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Plant physiology. 2011;156(1):78–89.
- 137. Slattery SS, Wang H, Giguere DJ, Kocsis C, Urquhart BL, Karas BJ, et al. Plasmid-based complementation of large deletions in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* biosynthetic genes generated by Cas9 editing. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):13879.
- 138. Weyman PD, Beeri K, Lefebvre SC, Rivera J, McCarthy JK, Heuberger AL, et al. Inactivation of *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* urease gene using transcription activator-like effector nuclease-based targeted mutagenesis. Plant Biotechnology Journal. 2015;13(4):460–70.
- 139. Hopes A, Nekrasov V, Kamoun S, Mock T. Editing of the urease gene by CRISPR-Cas in the diatom Thalassiosira pseudonana. Plant Methods. 2016;12(1):49.
- 140. Taparia Y, Zarka A, Leu S, Zarivach R, Boussiba S, Khozin-Goldberg I. A novel endogenous selection marker for the diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* based on a unique mutation in phytoene desaturase 1. Scientific Reports. 2019;9(1):8217.
- 141. Kong F, Yamaoka Y, Ohama T, Lee Y, Li-Beisson Y. Molecular Genetic Tools and Emerging Synthetic Biology Strategies to Increase Cellular Oil Content in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. Plant and Cell Physiology. 2019;60(6):1184-96.
- 142. Baier T, Wichmann J, Kruse O, Lauersen KJ. Intron-containing algal transgenes mediate efficient recombinant gene expression in the green microalga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. Nucleic Acids Research. 2018;46(13):6909–19.
- 143. Baier T, Jacobebbinghaus N, Einhaus A, Lauersen KJ, Kruse O. Introns mediate posttranscriptional enhancement of nuclear gene expression in the green microalga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. PLOS Genetics. 2020;16(7):e1008944.

- 144. Poulsen N, Kröger N. A new molecular tool for transgenic diatoms. The FEBS Journal. 2005;272(13):3413–23.
- 145. Benedetti M, Vecchi V, Barera S, Dall'Osto L. Biomass from microalgae: the potential of domestication towards sustainable biofactories. Microbial Cell Factories. 2018;17(1):173.
- 146. Kung Y, Runguphan W, Keasling JD. From Fields to Fuels: Recent Advances in the Microbial Production of Biofuels. ACS Synthetic Biology. 2012;1(11):498–513.
- 147. Cho C, Choi SY, Luo ZW, Lee SY. Recent advances in microbial production of fuels and chemicals using tools and strategies of systems metabolic engineering. Biotechnology Advances. 2015;33(7):1455–66.
- 148. d'Ippolito G, Sardo A, Paris D, Vella FM, Adelfi MG, Botte P, et al. Potential of lipid metabolism in marine diatoms for biofuel production. Biotechnology for Biofuels. 2015;8(1):28.
- 149. Erik L. Jensen KY, Frédéric Carrière, Brigitte Gontero Storage Compound Accumulation in Diatoms as Response to Elevated CO2 Concentration. Biology. 2020;9(5).
- 150. Daboussi F, Leduc S, Maréchal A, Dubois G, Guyot V, Perez-Michaut C, et al. Genome engineering empowers the diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* for biotechnology. Nat Commun. 2014;5(1):3831.
- 151. Bai X, Song H, Lavoie M, Zhu K, Su Y, Ye H, et al. Proteomic analyses bring new insights into the effect of a dark stress on lipid biosynthesis in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Scientific Reports. 2016;6(1):25494.
- 152. Singh R, Khan MJ, Rane J, Gajbhiye A, Vinayak V, Joshi KB. Biofabrication of Diatom Surface by Tyrosine-Metal Complexes:Smart Microcontainers to Inhibit Bacterial Growth. ChemistrySelect. 2020;5(10):3091–7.
- 153. Ford NR, Xiong Y, Hecht KA, Squier TC, Rorrer GL, Roesijadi G. Optimizing the Design of Diatom Biosilica-Targeted Fusion Proteins in Biosensor Construction for Bacillus anthracis Detection. Biology. 2020;9(1):14.
- Selvaraj V, Muthukumar A, Nagamony P, Chinnuswamy V. Detection of typhoid fever by diatom-based optical biosensor. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 2018;25(21):20385–90.
- 155. Gannavarapu KP, Ganesh V, Thakkar M, Mitra S, Dandamudi RB. Nanostructured Diatom-ZrO2 composite as a selective and highly sensitive enzyme free electrochemical sensor for detection of methyl parathion. Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical. 2019;288:611–7.
- 156. Nowak AP, Sprynskyy M, Brzozowska W, Lisowska-Oleksiak A. Electrochemical behavior of a composite material containing 3D-structured diatom biosilica. Algal Research. 2019;41:101538.
- 157. Karaman ES, Wang Z, Di Benedetto G, Zunino JL, Meng X, Mitra S. Fabrication of supercapacitors and flexible electrodes using biosilica from cultured diatoms. Materials Today Energy. 2019;11:166–73.

- 158. Niu YF, Yang ZK, Zhang MH, Zhu CC, Yang WD, Liu JS, et al. Transformation of diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* by electroporation and establishment of inducible selection marker. Biotechniques. 2012;52(6).
- 159. Xie WH, Zhu CC, Zhang NS, Li DW, Yang WD, Liu JS, et al. Construction of novel chloroplast expression vector and development of an efficient transformation system for thediatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Mar Biotechnol (NY). 2014;16(5):538–46.
- 160. Schellenberger Costa B, Jungandreas A, Jakob T, Weisheit W, Mittag M, Wilhelm C. Blue light is essential for high light acclimation and photoprotection in the diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Journal of Experimental Botany. 2012;64(2):483–93.
- Lin G, Wang Y, Guo L, Ding H, Hu Y, Liang S, et al. Verification of mutagen function of Zeocin in Nannochloropsis oceanica through transcriptome analysis. Journal of Ocean University of China. 2017;16(3):501–8.
- 162. Yoshinaga R, Niwa-Kubota M, Matsui H, Matsuda Y. Characterization of iron-responsive promoters in the marine diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Marine Genomics. 2014;16:55–62.
- 163. Tanaka A, Ohno N, Nakajima K, Matsuda Y. Light and CO₂/cAMP Signal Cross Talk on the Promoter Elements of Chloroplastic β-Carbonic Anhydrase Genes in the Marine Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Plant Physiology. 2016;170(2):1105–16.
- 164. Harada H, Nakatsuma D, Ishida M, Matsuda Y. Regulation of the Expression of Intracellular β-Carbonic Anhydrase in Response to CO₂ and Light in the Marine Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Plant Physiology. 2005;139(2):1041–50.
- 165. Nymark M, Sharma AK, Sparstad T, Bones AM, Winge P. A CRISPR/Cas9 system adapted for gene editing in marine algae. Sci Rep. 2016;6:24951.
- 166. Sakaue K, Harada H, Matsuda Y. Development of gene expression system in a marine diatom using viral promoters of a wide variety of origin. Physiol Plant. 2008;133(1):59–67.
- 167. Zhang C, Hu H. High-efficiency nuclear transformation of the diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* by electroporation. Mar Genomics. 2014;16:63–6.
- Falciatore A, d'Alcalà MR, Croot P, Bowler C. Perception of Environmental Signals by a Marine Diatom. Science. 2000;288(5475):2363–6.
- 169. Radakovits R, Eduafo PM, Posewitz MC. Genetic engineering of fatty acid chain length in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Metab Eng. 2011;13(1):89–95.
- 170. Trentacoste EM, Shrestha RP, Smith SR, Glé C, Hartmann AC, Hildebrand M, et al. Metabolic engineering of lipid catabolism increases microalgal lipid accumulation without compromising growth. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2013;110(49):19748–53.
- 171. Wu S, Gu W, Huang A, Li Y, Kumar M, Lim PE, et al. Elevated CO2 improves both lipid accumulation and growth rate in the glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase engineered *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Microbial Cell Factories. 2019;18(1):161.

- 172. Hempel F, Bozarth AS, Lindenkamp N, Klingl A, Zauner S, Linne U, et al. Microalgae as bioreactors for bioplastic production. Microbial Cell Factories. 2011;10(1):81.
- 173. Hempel F, Lau J, Klingl A, Maier UG. Algae as Protein Factories: Expression of a Human Antibody and the Respective Antigen in the Diatom *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. PLOS ONE. 2011;6(12):e28424.
- 174. Hempel F, Maier UG. An engineered diatom acting like a plasma cell secreting human IgG antibodies with high efficiency. Microbial Cell Factories. 2012;11(1):126.
- Eilers U, Bikoulis A, Breitenbach J, Büchel C, Sandmann G. Limitations in the biosynthesis of fucoxanthin as targets for genetic engineering in *Phaeodactylum tricornutum*. Journal of Applied Phycology. 2016;28(1):123–9.
- Poulsen N, Chesley PM, Kröger N. Molecular Genetic Manipulation of the Diatom Thalassiosira pseudonana (Bacillariophyceae)1. Journal of Phycology. 2006;42(5):1059– 65.
- 177. Buggé JA. Electroporation-Mediated Transformation and Post-Transcriptional Gene Regulation of Nitrate Reductase in the Marine Diatom *Thalassiosira Pseudonana*: Clark University; 2015.
- 178. Davis A, Crum LT, Corbeil LB, Hildebrand M. Expression of Histophilus somni IbpA DR2 protective antigen in the diatom Thalassiosira pseudonana. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology. 2017;101(13):5313–24.
- 179. Shrestha RP, Hildebrand M. Development of a silicon limitation inducible expression system for recombinant protein production in the centric diatoms Thalassiosira pseudonana and Cyclotella cryptica. Microbial Cell Factories. 2017;16(1):145.
- 180. Kotzsch A, Pawolski D, Milentyev A, Shevchenko A, Scheffel A, Poulsen N, et al. Biochemical Composition and Assembly of Biosilica-associated Insoluble Organic Matrices from the Diatom Thalassiosira pseudonana. J Biol Chem. 2016;291(10):4982–97.
- Ford NR, Hecht KA, Hu D, Orr G, Xiong Y, Squier TC, et al. Antigen Binding and Site-Directed Labeling of Biosilica-Immobilized Fusion Proteins Expressed in Diatoms. ACS Synth Biol. 2016;5(3):193–9.
- 182. Shrestha RP, Hildebrand M. Evidence for a Regulatory Role of Diatom Silicon Transporters in Cellular Silicon Responses. Eukaryot Cell. 2015;14(1):29–40.

- 183. Sabatino V, Russo MT, Patil S, d'Ippolito G, Fontana A, Ferrante MI. Establishment of Genetic Transformation in the Sexually Reproducing Diatoms Pseudo-nitzschia multistriata and Pseudo-nitzschia arenysensis and Inheritance of the Transgene. Mar Biotechnol (NY). 2015;17(4):452–62.
- 184. Muto M, Tanaka M, Liang Y, Yoshino T, Matsumoto M, Tanaka T. Enhancement of glycerol metabolism in the oleaginous marine diatom Fistulifera solaris JPCC DA0580 to improve triacylglycerol productivity. Biotechnology for biofuels. 2015;8(1):4–.
- 185. Dunahay TG, Jarvis EE, Roessler PG. Genetic transformation of the diatoms Cyclotella cryptica and Navicula saprophila. Journal of Phycology. 1995;31(6):1004–12.
- 186. Ifuku K, Yan D, Miyahara M, Inoue-Kashino N, Yamamoto YY, Kashino Y. A stable and efficient nuclear transformation system for the diatom Chaetoceros gracilis. Photosynth Res. 2015;123(2):203–11.

Tables

Fable 1. Lipid content and	productivities of	f different microalgae	diatom species (- : no data).	
-----------------------------------	-------------------	------------------------	-------------------------------	--

Microalgae	Culture condition	Lipid (% dry weight)	Lipid productivity mg L ⁻¹ day ⁻¹	TAG productivity μmol L ⁻¹ day ⁻¹	% of TAG	References
Thalassiosira weissflogii	-	29.94 ± 1.17	7.27 ± 0.28	-	51.0 ± 3.2	(148)
P09	Nitrogen limitation	-	-	19 (+20%)	-	(148)
Thalassiosira weissflogii	-	38.84 ± 0.78	4.87 ± 0.10	-	53.0 ± 1.9	(148)
Thalassiosira	-	29.33 ± 1.17	1.72 ± 0.07	-	19.0 ± 0.9	(148)
pseudonana CCMP 1335	High CO ₂ 20,000 ppm	-	-	45.5 ± 26 (Exponential) (+285%)	-	(149)
Cyclotella cryptica	-	41.97 ± 1.26	2.98 ± 0.09	-	55.0 ± 2.1	(148)
CCMP 331	Nitrogen limitation	-	-	45 (+20%)		(148) <u>https://d</u> oi.org/10.118 <u>6/s13068-</u>
Phaeodactylum	-	9.32 ± 0.28	2.09 ± 0.06	-	19.0 ± 0.6	(148)
tricornutum CCMP 632	Tn19745_1 strain + nitrogen limitation	-	-	-	45-fold increase	(150)
	Dark	+2.3-fold	-	-	-	(151)
	High CO ₂	-	-	75.7 ± 9 (Stationary) (+50%)	-	(149)
<i>Navicula pelliculosa</i> (marine)	High CO ₂	-	-	158.4 ± 29 (Stationary) (+35%)	-	(149)

Table 2. Biomedical applications of diatom silica-based materials using different diatom species.

Application	Organism	Reference
Specific nanoporous biosilica delivery system of chemotherapeutic drug, consisting in the attachment of antibodies and hydrophobic drug molecules, without using cross-linking, to the diatoms biosilica.	T. pseudonana	(53)
Modified frustule with self-assembled antibacterial aromatic amino acid conjugates Tyr-Zn ^{II} as a zinc carrier for its controlled release to bacteria and inhibiting the bacterial growth.	N. palea	(152)
Genetically modified frustule with chimeric fusion proteins: diatom-derived silica targeting peptide Sil3T8 and a small synthetic antibody derivative to detect <i>Bacillus anthracis</i>	T. pseudonana	(153)
Rapid and selective detection of typhoid using cross-linked amine-functionalized diatom photoluminescent biosensor.	Amphora sp.	(154)
Nano composite of nanoporous diatom-ZrO ₂ selective and highly sensitive sensor for non-enzymatic detection of methyl parathion.	P. tricornutum	(155)
Biomaterial for negative electrode composed by a 3D- structured diatom biosilica for lithium-ion batteries, showing increased charge capacity compared to graphite.	P. trainorii	(156)
Improved capacitor performance of in-situ coating of FeOx on live diatoms as a potential material for super capacitor electrodes.	P. tricornutum	(157)

Company	Products/Services	Country	Wesbite
Algae Biotechnologia	Wastewater treatment, Animal nutrition, Carbon dioxide fixation, biofuels, human health	Brazil	http://www.algae.com.br/site/pt/
Algae Farm	Omega3, Diatom, Water treatment & reuse, Nutraceuticals, Cosmeceuticals, Algae based solar fuels cell, Die sensitized solar panel, Bioplastics	Canada	https://www.algaefarm.us/
Algorigin	Nutritional supplements	Switzerland	https://algorigin.com/en/
Algaetoomega	Omega 3, Astaxanthin, Animal feed	United States	https://algae2omega.com/
Algae control Canada	Pond and lake water management	Canada	https://www.algaecontrol.ca/
The algae factory	Chocolate	Netherland	http://thealgaefactory.com/
Algae Health	Antioxidants	United States	https://www.algaehealthsciences.com/
Swedish Algae Factory	Personal Care products	Sweden	https://swedishalgaefactory.com/
Sabrtech	Recombinant Proteins, fuel, nutraceuticals, aquaculture etc	Canada	https://www.sabrtech.ca/
Pondtech	Astaxanthin, Aquaculture	Canada	https://www.pondtech.com/

Table 3. Different industries producing variety of products from microalgae and diatoms around the world.

Table 4. Sequence Database of different diatoms species.

Species	Genome Database
Phaeodactylum tricornutum CCAP 1055/1	http://protists.ensembl.org/Phaeodactylum_tricornutum/Info/Index
Thalassiosira pseudonana CCMP 1335	https://genome.jgi.doe.gov/Thaps3/Thaps3.home.html
<i>Thalassiosira oceanica</i> CCMP 1005	https://genome.jgi.doe.gov/Thaoce1/Thaoce1.info.html
Thalassiosira weissflogii CCMP1030	https://genome.jgi.doe.gov/portal/
Fragilariopsis cylindrus CCMP 1102	https://genome.jgi.doe.gov/Fracy1/Fracy1.info.html
<i>Pseudo-nitzschia multiseries</i> CLN-47	https://genome.jgi.doe.gov/Psemu1/P semu1.home.html
Pseudo-nitzschia multistriata B856	http://apollo.tgac.ac.uk/Pseudo-nitzschia_multistriata_V1_ 4_browser/sequences
Seminavis robusta D6	https://genome.jgi.doe.gov/portal/Semrobnscriptome/Semrobnscriptom e.info.html
Fistulifera solaris JPCC DA058	https://trace.ddbj.nig.ac.jp/DRASearch/submission?acc5DRA002403
Cyclotella cryptica CCMP332	http://genomes.mcdb.ucla.edu/Cyclotella/download.html

	Genetic & Molecular tools					
Species/strain	Transformation methods &Target compartment	Promoters: (S) strong, (I) inducible & (H) heterologous	Reporters (R) & resistance (Re) genes	Expression of recombinant proteins	Genome Editing Methods & Gene Silencing	
Phaeodactylum tricornutum CCAP 1055/1	Biolistic (147) Electroporation (158) Conjugation (126) Nuclear and chloroplast transformation (159)	 (S): Lhcf (Fcp), light responsive (127), (EF-1a, 40SRPS8, g-Tubulin, RBCMT (131) and EF2 (129), h4 (132), HASP1 (133). (I): rbcL (159), NR, low NO3 induce (160), V-ATPase C, AP1 low P induce (161) Fbp1, Fld, Isi1 iron-responsive (162) ca1, ca2 CO2-responsive (163, 164), U6, RNA polymerase III transcribed (165) (H): CdP1, ClP1, ClP2, TnP1, TnP2 (134), CMV, RSV-LTR, PCMV, CaMV35S (166) 	(R): GUS, GFP (167), YFP, CFP (126) cat (127), LUC (147), Aequorin (168) (Re): Zeocin and Phleomycin/sh ble, Nourseothricin/nat, Blasticidin-S/bsr, Streptothricin/sat, Neomycin/nptII (127)	Expression of Acyl-ACP thioesterases, increased accumulation of shorter chain (169). Malic enzyme (170). G6PD (171), enhanced lipid productivity. Heterologous biosynthesis of the MIAs by CrGES expression under phototrophic conditions (115), Vanillin production (131). PHBs for Bioplastics production (172). Human IgGαHBsAg:(173) and IgG1/kappa Ab CL4mAb: antibody to hepatitis B virus surface protein against the nucleoprotein of Marburg virus(174). Over expression of DXS increased fucoxanthin synthesis(175).	Targeted mutagenesis methods: meganucleases, gene knockouts, TALENS, and CRISPR/Cas9 (144). Development of auxotrophic strains of <i>P. tricornutum</i> by CRISPR/Cas9 (136). A lipid producing strain through the disruption of the UDP-glucose pyrophosphorylase gene (150).	

 Table 5. Diatoms Genetic Engineering.

	Genetic & Molecular tools						
Species/strain	Transformation methods &Target compartment	Promoters: (S) strong, (I) inducible & (H) heterologous	Reporters (R) & resistance (Re) genes	Expression of recombinant proteins	Genome Editing Methods & Gene Silencing		
Thalassiosira pseudonana CCMP 1335	Biolistic (176) Electroporation (177) Conjugation (126)	(S): Lhcf9 (I): nr (161) SIT1, Si-starvation inducible(178),Thaps3_9619, Si-starvation inducible (179), U6, RNA polymerase III transcribed (138)	(R): YFP (126) (Re): sh ble, nat (176)	Overexpression a multiple plasmids can be cotransformed; cloning multiple genes of interest Secretion of recombinant proteins has been shown. Localization of SiMat1-GFP (180). Expression of the protective HsIbpA DR2 antigen for the production of a vaccine against bovine respiratory disease (178), scFvTNT scFv and sdAbEA1 to detected <i>Bacillus anthracis</i>	Targeted mutagenesis methods: meganucleases, TALENS, and CRISPR/Cas9 (138). Gene silencing and gene knockouts are well established (182).		
Thalassiosira weissflogii (CCMP1030)	Biolistics (147)	(S): Lhcf2 (147)	(R): GUS(147)	().			
Pseudo-nitzschia multistriata B856	Biolistics (183)	(S): h4 (183)	(Re): sh ble (183)				
Pseudo-nitzschia arenysensis B858	Biolistics (183)		(R): GUS, GFP (183)				
Fistulifera solaris JPCC DA058	Biolistics (184)	(S): Lhcf2 and h4 (H): RSV and CaMV35S (184)	(R): GFP (Re): nptII,(184)	Overexpression of the endogenous <i>GK</i> improve lipid productivity (184)			

	Genetic & Molecular tools						
Species/strain	Transformation methods &Target compartment	Promoters: (S) strong, (I) inducible & (H) heterologous	Reporters (R) & resistance (Re) genes	Expression of recombinant proteins	Genome Editing Methods & Gene Silencing		
Cylindrotheca fusiformis CCAP	Biolistics (141)	(I): nr (141)	(R): GFP				
1017/2 –CYL			(Re): sh ble (141)				
Navicula saprophila NAVICI	Biolistics (185)	(S): ACCase (185)	(Re): nptII (185)				
Chaetoceros gracilis UTEX LB2658	Biolistics (186)	(S): Lhcr5	(R): GFP, LUC				
		(I): nr (186)	(Re): nat (186)				

Abbreviations: 1-Deoxy-D-xylulose 5-phosphate synthase (DXS), 40S ribosomal protein S8 (40SRPS8), Acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase), Acyl-acyl carrier protein thioesterases (Acyl-ACP thioesterases), Alkaline phosphatase 1 (AP1), Blasticidin-S resistance gene (bsr), Carbonic anhydrase 1 (Ca1), Cauliflower mosaic virus 35S (CaMV35S), Chaetoceros debilis-infecting DNA virus (CdP), Chaetoceros lorenzianusinfecting DNA virus (CIP), Chloramphenicol acetyl transferase conferring resistance to chloramphenicol (cat), Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR), Cyan fluorescent protein gene (CFP), Cytomegalovirus (CMV), Diatom light-regulated promoters of the fucoxanthin chlorophyll a/c-binding protein genes Lhcf (Fcp), Elongation factor 1 alpha (EF-1a) and 2 (EF2), Ferrichrome binding protein1 (Fbp1), Flavodoxin (Fld), Catharanthus roseus geraniol synthase (CrGES), Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD), Glycerol kinase (GK), Green fluorescent protein gene (GFP), Highly abundant secreted protein 1 (HASP1), Histone H4 (h4), Human IgGaHBsAg: antibody against hepatitis B virus surface IgG1/kappa Ab CL4mAb, IbpA DR2 antigen from Histophilus somni (HsIbpA DR2), Iron-starvation-induced gene 1 (Isi1), Monoterpenoid indole alkaloids (MIAs), Neomycin phosphotransferase II (nptII), Nitrate reductase (NR), Nourseothricin acetyl transferase (nat), Phosphate (P), Polyhydroxybutyrate (PHBs), Promoter sequences of the cytomegalovirus (PCMV), PSII reaction center core 2 quinones are associated with D1 (psba), Red algal-like LHCRs (Lhcr5), Ribulose-1, 5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase small subunit N-methyltransferase I (RBCMT), Rous sarcoma virus long terminal repeat (RSV-LTR), Rubisco large subunit (rbcL), Silica Matrix protein (SiMat1), Silicon transporter (SIT1), Single chain antibodies (scFvTNT), Single domain antibodies (sdAbEA1), Small nuclear RNA of the U6 complex (U6), Streptoalloteichus hindustanus bleomycin resistance gene (sh ble), Thalassionema nitzschioides-infecting DNA virus (TnP), Transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs), Treptothricin acetyl transferase (sat), Triacylglycerol (TAG), Tubulin gamma chain (g-Tubulin), uidA b-glucuronidase (GUS)encoding gene, Vacuolar H+-ATPase (V-ATPase C), Yellow fluorescent protein gene (YFP).

Figures captions

Figure 1: Approximate number of research articles indexed in Scopus database (September 14th, 2020) in the area of industrial application of different microbes (bacteria, yeast, algae and diatoms).



Figure 2: Scheme of the different uses of diatoms for green industry.



157

•